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DEFINITIONS

In this Annual Report, the following expressions shall have the following meanings unless the context otherwise

requires:

“Articles of Association”

“Beijing Investment Company”

“Board” or “Board of Directors”

“Board of Supervisors”

"BUCG"

“Company”

"Company Law”

“Corporate Governance Code”

“Director(s)”

“Domestic Share(s)”

"o

“Group”, "us” or “we"

“H Share(s)”

uHK$n

“Hong Kong”

the Articles of Association of Beijing Urban Construction Design &
Development Group Co., Limited

Beijing Infrastructure Investment Co., Ltd. (A EHEBEREBREERA
7))

the board of directors of the Company
the board of supervisors of the Company

Beijing Urban Construction Group Co., Ltd. (tFHEEBERREFELA)
(the controlling shareholder of the Company)

Beijing Urban Construction Design & Development Group Co., Limited

(EFURZRBRREERGAERQA)

the Company Law of the People’s Republic of China (FEARLMNE
AT)E), as may be amended, supplemented and otherwise modified
from time to time

the corporate governance code as set out in Appendix C1 to the
Hong Kong Listing Rules

director(s) of the Company

ordinary share(s) in the share capital of the Company, with a nominal
value of RMB1.00 each, which are subscribed for and paid up in
Renminbi and are unlisted shares which are currently not listed or
traded on any stock exchange

the Company and its subsidiaries

ordinary share(s) in the share capital of the Company, with a nominal
value of RMB1.00 each, which are subscribed for and traded in Hong
Kong dollars and listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange

Hong Kong dollars, the lawful currency of Hong Kong

the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the People’s
Republic of China



“Hong Kong Listing Rules”

“Hong Kong Stock Exchange”

“Model Code”

“MOE"

“NDRC”

“PRC"” or “China”

"Reporting Period”
or “the Year”

“RMB"

“Securities and Futures
Ordinance” or “SFO”

“Share(s)"”

“Supervisor(s)”

“op"

DEFINITIONS (CONTINUED)

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited

the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed
Issuers as set out in Appendix C3 to the Hong Kong Listing Rules

the Ministry of Finance of the PRC
the National Development and Reform Commission of the PRC
the People’s Republic of China

for the year ended 31 December 2024

Renminbi, the lawful currency of the PRC

the Securities and Futures Ordinance, Chapter 571 of the Laws of
Hong Kong

ordinary share(s) of the Company, including H Share(s) and Domestic
Share(s)

supervisor(s) of the Company

percent
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Chinese:
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group achieved revenue of RMB8,658 million, while the net profit for
the Reporting Period amounted to RMB533 million.

The Group has two business segments, including principally the design, survey and consultancy segment as well as
the construction contracting segment.

The following table sets out the revenue generated by each business segment of the Group and their percentage of
the operating revenue for the periods indicated:

For the year ended 31 December

Percentage Percentage

of operating of operating

2024 revenue 2023 revenue

RMB‘000 (%) RMB'000 (%)

Design, survey and consultancy 4,382,894 50.62 4,866,559 46.97
Construction contracting 4,274,938 49.38 5,495,140 53.03
Total 8,657,832 100.00 10,361,699 100.00

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group's revenue amounted to RMB8,658 million, representing a decrease
of RMB1,704 million or 16.44% compared to the same period of last year.

The financial information for the years of 2020, 2021, 2022, 2023 and 2024 prepared by the Group in accordance
with the IFRS Accounting Standards was summarized as follows:

As at 31 December/For the year ended 31 December

2024 2023 2022 2021 2020

RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000

(Restated) (Restated) (Restated)

Total assets 24,541,927 24,849,539 23,861,833 24,655,780 21,345,713
Total liabilities 16,608,520 17,220,924 16,874,873 18,238,063 15,537,668
Non-controlling interests 237,520 227,429 199,911 266,682 297,963

Interests of the owners
(excluding non-controlling

interests) 7,695,887 7,401,186 6,787,049 6,151,035 5,510,082
Revenue 8,657,832 10,361,699 10,433,103 10,385,065 10,411,658
Gross profit 1,559,346 1,886,461 1,832,555 1,879,927 1,984,101
Profit before tax 633,675 1,017,802 1,013,091 987,773 926,390
Profit attributable to owners

of the Company 516,907 872,852 959,159 914,040 797,571
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

Dear Shareholders,
On behalf of the Board of Directors of the Group, | am pleased to present the annual results report for 2024.

The year of 2024 was a crucial year for the implementation of the 14th Five-Year Plan and also a pivotal year
for the Group's transformation, upgrading, and high-quality development. In this year, the momentum of global
macroeconomic recovery slowed down, and the infrastructure construction industry in mainland China entered
a period of structural adjustment. Facing the complex and volatile market environment, the Group responded to
cyclical fluctuations with strategic determination and achieved multiple breakthroughs in areas such as operational
quality, business innovation, and sustainable development.

The Group continued to consolidate its leading position in the industry and continuously enhanced its brand
influence. Focusing on the core business of survey, design, and consulting, we won the bid for the overall design of
six rail transit projects throughout the year, maintaining our top position in the industry. By focusing on coordinated
development, new breakthroughs were made in diversified business segments such as surveying, civil construction,
municipal engineering, engineering general contracting, scientific and technological industrialization, and operation.
New achievements were also obtained in niche areas such as high-end consulting, inspection, and assessment.
During the Reporting Period, the Group achieved an annual revenue of RMB8.658 billion and a net profit of RMB533
million, taking solid steps on the path of high-quality development.

The year 2025 is a crucial year for the final sprint of the 14th Five-Year Plan and also a key year for laying a solid
foundation for a good start of the 15th Five-Year Plan. In the new year, the Group will more proactively integrate
into national strategies and serve the development of the capital in the new era. We will seize policy and industry
opportunities, respond to cyclical challenges with business wisdom, decode the future direction with the gene of
innovation, strengthen the foundation of development through solid risk control, fulfill social responsibilities through
ESG governance, and comprehensively and continuously enhance the potential and value of the “Urban Construction
Design” industry-leading brand.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT (CONTINUED)

Craftsmanship paves the way, and hard work creates the future. The Group will always uphold the spirit of
“craftsmanship, responsibility, innovation, and hard work” in urban construction design. We will not fear challenges,
stay united, take practical actions, pursue innovation, and strive for excellence, taking more firm and powerful steps
towards high-quality development to satisfy our customers, shareholders, and society.

In conclusion, | would like to take this opportunity to express my sincere gratitude to the shareholders, customers,
and partners who have long-term trust in and support for the Group, and to extend my highest respect to the
Directors, Supervisors, management, and employees who have made unremitting efforts and selfless contributions to
the Group!

Pei Hongwei
Chairman

Beijing, 26 March 2025
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GENERAL MANAGER'S STATEMENT

2024 was an extraordinary year. In the face of an external environment with intensifying uncertainties and an
increasingly involving industry ecosystem, we forged ahead in spite of difficulties, endeavored to cope with various
external challenges, continued to improve operational quality, and persistently built up our strengths through the
cycle in the competitive market, which had eventually landed us with outstanding performance.

We accurately grasped development trends and seized market opportunities. With our initiatives to adapt to the
changes in the industry and the market and our continuous moves to optimize market layout, we had set up 10
marketing centers nationwide, which promoted the two-way empowerment and mutual support between traditional
advantageous industries and emerging industries, and continued to reinforce the fundamentals for enterprise
development. As a major force in the field of urban rail transport design in China, the Company won the bids for 6
overall design contracting projects and obtained the first existing line suspension and renovation project (Changchun
Line 3), maintaining its No.1 ranking in the industry. Its survey business realized leapfrog growth, civil construction
and municipal design exhibited a new atmosphere, technological industrialization achieved new breakthroughs,
specialization in professional fields continued to improve, the construction general contracting business made steady
development, the energy storage business accelerated its layout, and the international business extended to new
markets. The suburban railway of Chongging Bishan-Tongliang Line invested and constructed by the Company had
been put into operation, boosting the quality development of the Chengdu-Chongqing Twin-city Economic Circle.

We took value creation as our focus and continued to improve the quality of enterprise development. Since its
listing on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange in July 2014, the Company has attached great importance to information
disclosure, investor relations, ESG and value management, and maintained a good enterprise credit rating, continued
to improve its quality as a listed company, and endeavored to create good return for shareholders, by virtue of which
it was honored with the “Outstanding Contribution Enterprise Award for the 75th Anniversary of the Founding of
the People’s Republic of China” for Chinese securities in 2024. We continued to strengthen corporate governance,
focused on the whole industrial chain to enhance core functions, constantly promoted resource integration,
implemented comprehensive and in-depth risk controls, which had continued to release the pressure on the scale of
the “two funds (F&)", practically enhanced cost reduction and efficiency, and continued to improve development
quality.

We insisted on serving the development of the industry and continued to expand our brand influence. We undertook
brand activities such as the Third Cross-Strait and Hong Kong-Macao Science and Technology Forum and the 32nd
Metro Academic Forum (HigE2iis%1€), took the lead in compiling the “OQutline of China’s Urban Rail Transit
Technology Development B T ER BEMEREME))” and the design guidelines for the quality development
of urban rails in Shenzhen and Xiamen. We took part in compiling 18 national standards and local standards, which
had not only testified our fulfillment of liabilities to the industry but also helped the Company stand on a higher

platform of development.

Looking ahead, as the uncertainties in the external environment will remain and the industry is undergoing profound
changes and transformation, we may still face severe challenges and a very arduous task of reform and innovation.
However, in the long term, since the Chinese economy still have good support for its long-term positive operation
and its basic trend has not changed, a new considerable momentum is to be revealed for the industry. We need to
be more proactive in adapting to situation changes and market variables, comprehensively stimulate institutional
vitality, promote the implementation and effectiveness of fine management, continue to enhance the competitiveness
of the whole industrial chain, and accelerate the refreshing of and conversion from the old kinetic energy to the
new.



GENERAL MANAGER’S STATEMENT (CONTINUED)

The year 2025 is not the culmination year for the “14th Five-Year Plan” but also the kick-off year for the “15th
Five-Year Plan”. We will stick to the focus of “market expansion, reform and innovation, quality and efficiency
improvement” and promote the enterprise to a new level with high morale, great enthusiasm, and solid action in a
bid to create greater value for our customers, shareholders and society.

Xia Xiujiang
General Manager

Beijing, 26 March 2025
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

SUMMARY

In 2024, adhering to the general principle of seeking progress while maintaining stability, the Company continued to
optimize market layout and established ten marketing centers nationwide. Focusing on “market expansion, reform
and innovation, quality and efficiency improvement”, the Company integrated resources across its entire industrial
chain, actively seized market opportunities and explored emerging businesses while consolidating its advantages in
traditional sectors.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group's revenue amounted to RMB8,658 million, representing a decrease
of RMB1,704 million or 16.44% compared to RMB10,362 million for last year. The Group’s net profit amounted
to RMB533 million, representing a decrease of RMB377 million or 41.43% compared to the net profit of RMB910
million for last year.

Summary of Operating Results

Year ended 31 December

2024 2023

(RMB’'000) (RMB'000)

(Audited) (Audited)

Revenue 8,657,832 10,361,699
Cost of sales (7,098,486) (8,475,238)
Gross profit 1,559,346 1,886,461
Other income 405,289 416,869
Other gains and losses, net 11,889 287,554
Selling and distribution expenses (63,199) (82,092)
Administrative expenses (866,192) (979,282)
Impairment losses on financial assets and contract assets, net (175,023) (286,213)
Finance costs (282,016) (290,799)
Share of profits of joint ventures 5,589 13,494
Share of profits of associates 37,992 51,810
Profit before tax 633,675 1,017,802
Income tax expense (100,208) (107,454)
Profit for the year 533,467 910,348




MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

Revenue

The Group generates its revenue from the design, survey and consultancy segment as well as the construction
contracting segment where the Group provides services for engineering construction. For the year ended 31
December 2024, the Group achieved a revenue of RMB8,658 million, representing a decrease of RMB1,704 million
or 16.44% compared to RMB10,362 million for last year.

Revenue by business segment is as follows:

Year ended 31 December

2024 2023

(RMB’000) (RMB’000)

Products by industry (Audited) (Audited)
Design, survey and consultancy 4,382,894 4,866,559
Construction contracting 4,274,938 5,495,140
Total 8,657,832 10,361,699

Design, Survey and Consultancy Business Segment

The design, survey and consultancy segment include design, survey and consultancy services for urban rail transit
construction as well as industrial and civil construction and municipal engineering. In 2024, the Group remained
focused on the rail transit market, deepening its presence in relevant sector. The Group won the bids for six overall
rail transit design projects in Beijing and Shenzhen, maintaining its industry-leading position. It also undertook
China’s first existing line suspension and renovation project (Changchun Line 3), the Fuping-Xianyang Airport Railway
Project in the Guanzhong Urban Cluster. Additionally, the Group secured its first order for the “urban simulation
"big data platform and won the largest design contract of RMB65.97 million in Beijing autonomous driving sector.
Leveraging these achievements, the Group continued to expand into early-stage projects, undertaking research
and network planning for projects in Beijing, Hangzhou, and Jinhua, laying a solid foundation for future market
expansion.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, revenue of the design, survey and consultancy business segment of the
Group amounted to RMB4,383 million, representing a decrease of RMB484 million or 9.94% compared to RMB4,867
million for the corresponding period in 2023, mainly due to the slow implementation of existing contracts. Among
which, the revenue of the urban rail transit construction segment amounted to RMB3,124 million, representing a
decrease of RMB385 million or 10.97% compared to the RMB3,509 million for the corresponding period of last year.
Revenue from the industrial and civil construction and municipal engineering was RMB1,259 million, representing a
decrease of RMB99 million or 7.29% compared to RMB1,358 million in the corresponding period of last year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

Construction Contracting Business Segment

In the construction contracting business segment, the Group won the projects in 2024, including the Beijing Line 1
branch line, M101 Line, and the Hongmiao Station of Line 14, as well as maintenance and repair work for Nanjing
Line 5. The Group also expanded its EPC project portfolio to include developments such as the Zhongguancun
Dongpan Science and Technology Innovation Center, and the Lanzhou Agricultural Trade Market. The Group’s
construction contracting projects span multiple cities, including Beijing, Guangzhou, Chongging, Lanzhou, and
Qingdao.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group's revenue from the construction contracting business segment
was RMB4,275 million, representing a decrease of RMB1,220 million or 22.20% compared to RMB5,495 million for
the corresponding period of last year, mainly due to the reduction in the number of project construction works.

Cost of Sales

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the cost of sales incurred by the Group was RMB7,098 million, representing
a decrease of RMB1,377 million or 16.25% compared to RMB8,475 million for the corresponding period of last year.
The decrease in cost of sales was lower than that in revenue.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, cost of sales of the Group's design, survey and consultancy segment
decreased to RMB3,132 million for the year from RMB3,450 million for the corresponding period of last year,
representing a decrease of 9.22%. Among that, the cost of sales of the urban rail transit construction business of the
Group’s design, survey and consultancy segment decreased to RMB2,150 million for the year from RMB2,356 million
for the corresponding period of last year, representing a decrease of 8.74%. The cost of sales of the industrial and
civil construction and municipal engineering business of the design, survey and consultancy segment decreased
to RMB982 million for the year from RMB1,095 million for the corresponding period of last year, representing a
decrease of 10.32%.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the cost of sales of the Group's construction contracting segment decreased
to RMB3,967 million for the year from RMB5,025 million for the corresponding period of last year, representing a
decrease of 21.05%, which was primarily attributable to the year-on-year cost reduction as a result of the decrease
in new construction projects.

Gross Profit and Gross Margin

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the gross profit of the Group was RMB1,559 million, representing a decrease
of RMB327 million or 17.34% compared to RMB1,886 million for the corresponding period of last year, while the
consolidated gross margin was 18.01%, basically in line with 18.21% of the corresponding period of last year.

Among that, the gross profit of design, survey and consultancy segment decreased to RMB1,251 million for the
year from RMB1,416 million for the corresponding period of last year, representing a decrease of RMB165 million
or 11.65%, and the gross margin was 28.55%, representing a slight decrease as compared to 29.10% for the
corresponding period of last year. The gross profit of construction contracting segment decreased to RMB308 million
for the year from RMB470 million for the corresponding period of last year, representing a decrease of RMB162
million or 34.47%, and the gross margin decreased to 7.21% for the period from 9.35% for the corresponding
period of last year.



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

Other Income

For the year ended 31 December 2024, other income of the Group was RMB405 million, representing a decrease of
RMB12 million or 2.88% compared to RMB417 million for the corresponding period of last year, which was mainly
attributable to the decrease of interest income.

Other Gains and Losses

For the year ended 31 December 2024, other gains of the Group was RMB12 million, representing a decrease of
RMB276 million or 95.83% compared to RMB288 million for the corresponding period of last year, which was mainly
due to the absence of gain on disposal of equity interests in 2024 and the decrease in investment income accounted
under the equity method.

Selling and Distribution Expenses

For the year ended 31 December 2024, selling and distribution expenses of the Group were RMB63 million,
representing a decrease of RMB19 million or 23.17% compared to RMB82 million for the corresponding period of
last year, which was mainly due to that the Group consolidated marketing resources to set up ten major marketing
centres, and achieved cost reduction and efficiency gains in a degree.

Administrative Expenses

For the year ended 31 December 2024, administrative expenses of the Group were RMB866 million, representing
a decrease of RMB113 million or 11.54% compared to RMB979 million for the corresponding period of last year,
which was mainly due to lower costs as a result of depreciation and amortisation, rental and property costs, cost of
services provided by intermediaries and remuneration of employees.

Impairment Losses on Financial Assets and Contract Assets, Net

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the impairment losses on financial assets and contract assets of the Group
amounted to RMB175 million, representing a decrease of RMB111 million or 38.81% as compared to RMB286
million for the corresponding period of last year, which was mainly due to the fact that the capitalisation of the
debt of Zunyi PPP project was completed during the year, the trade receivables were decreased accordingly, and the
repayment of some of the long-aged trade receivables.

Finance Costs
For the year ended 31 December 2024, finance costs of the Group were RMB282 million, representing a decrease

of RMB9 million or 3.09% compared to RMB291 million for the corresponding period of last year, which was mainly
due to the decrease in interest expenses resulting from the Group's repayment of borrowings.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

Income Tax Expense

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the income tax expense of the Group was RMB100 million, representing a
decrease of RMB7 million or 6.54% as compared to RMB107 million for the corresponding period of last year, which
was mainly due to the decrease in total profit.

Profit for the Year

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the profit of the Group for the year was RMB533 million, representing a
decrease of RMB377 million or 41.43% compared to RMB910 million for the corresponding period of last year.

Cash Flows

The table below sets forth the cash flows of the Group for the indicated periods:

Year ended 31 December

2024 2023

(RMB’'000) (RMB'000)

(Audited) (Audited)

Net cash inflows from operating activities 683,877 328,601
Net cash outflows from investing activities (188,985) (616,251)
Net cash outflows from financing activities (763,872) (644,039)
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (268,980) (931,689)

The net cash inflows from operating activities in 2024 were RMB684 million, which was mainly attributable to the
fact that the operating receipts were more than the operating payments during the year. The net cash outflows from
investing activities were RMB189 million, which was mainly attributable to the increased investment of RMB212
million in joint ventures and associates, an expenditure of RMB116 million for purchase of fixed assets and intangible
assets and the collection of RMB139 million for the disposal of associates. The net cash outflows from financing
activities were RMB764 million, which was mainly due to a net decrease in the Company's bank borrowings of
RMB180 million, interest paid on the borrowings of approximately RMB243 million during the year, and the payment
of dividends to shareholders of approximately RMB233 million during the year.



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the contract assets and financial assets, trade receivables and intangible
assets of the Group were pledged to secure the certain bank loans granted to the Group. As at 31 December 2024,
the net pledged contract assets, trade receivables and intangible assets were RMB6,224 million (as at 31 December
2023: RMB6,516 million).

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

For the year ended 31 December 2024, there were no other significant contingent liabilities of the Group.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

The Group had the following capital commitments as at 31 December 2024 and 31 December 2023:

31 December 31 December

2024 2023

(RMB’000) (RMB'000)
(Audited) (Audited)

Contracted, but not provided for:
Property, plant and equipment 150,149 305,119
Equity investments 1,083,871 1,093,213

CAPITAL STRUCTURE AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

The equity capital of the Group mainly comprises Domestic Shares and H Shares. Indebtedness capital mainly consists
of bank and other borrowings. In addition, ordinary business operation also provides the Group with source of
funding. As of 31 December 2024, the net current assets of the Group were RMB2,170 million, among which cash
and cash equivalents amounted to RMB3,044 million. The liquidity of the Group was sound and healthy and the
Group had adequate cash and available banking facilities to satisfy its operating needs.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group's interest-bearing bank and other borrowings were RMB6,619
million while the gearing ratio (gearing ratio represents the total interest-bearing borrowings as of 31 December
2024 divided by the total equity as at 31 December 2024) was 83.44%.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

INDEBTEDNESS

The table below sets forth the total borrowings of the Group as at 31 December 2024 and 31 December 2023. The

Group generally settles the borrowings on time.

As at 31 December
2024

(RMB’000)
(Audited)

Bank borrowings

As at 31 December
2023

(RMB'000)
(Audited)

Pledged 4,757,366 4,930,517
Guaranteed - 15,069
Non-pledged and non-guaranteed 429,529 421,250
Other borrowings
Non-pledged and non-guaranteed 1,164,314 1,243,669
Lease liabilities
Non-pledged and non-guaranteed 267,628 303,444
6,618,837 6,913,949

As at 31 December 2024, the Group's borrowings were denominated in RMB with interest rates ranging from 1.81%

to 4.90%.

The table below sets forth the maturity of the Group's debts as at 31 December 2024 and 31 December 2023:

As at 31 December

As at 31 December

2024 2023

(RMB’000) (RMB’000)

(Audited) (Audited)

Within one year 1,599,023 2,206,129
In the second year 450,593 312,593
In the third to fifth years, inclusive 2,464,499 2,102,499
Over five years 2,104,722 2,292,728
Total 6,618,837 6,913,949




MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

EXCHANGE RATE RISK

The business operations of the Group are mainly in China with most of its transactions settled in RMB. The assets
and liabilities and transactions from operations of the Group that involve exchange rate risk are mainly related to U.S.
dollars and HK dollars. The Directors of the Company believe that the exchange rate risk of the Group is low and will
not have a material and adverse impact on the financial position of the Group.

EVENT AFTER THE BALANCE SHEET DATE

Save as disclosed in this report, the Group did not have any significant events after the balance sheet date.

COMPANY-WIDE MANAGEMENT MEASURES IN 2025

The Company'’s specific management measures in 2025 include the following four areas:

1.

Strengthening the foundation of design and consultancy business

The Company will continue to stabilize the position in the rail transit design industry, closely follow up on
the progress of construction planning and approval in various cities, focus on tracking the overall design
projects of cities such as Chengdu, Nanjing, Shaoxing, Xi‘an, Fuzhou, Xiamen, and Suzhou, deeply plan the
existing line renovation market, and seize the first mover advantage. The Company will expand the fields of
civil construction and municipal business, and exploit market potential in new fields such as urban renewal,
cultural tourism, geological disaster management, new energy, supercomputing centers, pressure pipelines,
primary highways, and major highway bridges.

Fully promoting EPC business

The Company will stick to the dual focus on both Beijing market and markets outside of Beijing, and strive to
expand market share to explore new paths for scalable development. For Beijing market, the Company will
closely monitor the Beijing Line S6, Line R4, Line R6, Line 11, the extension of Line 19, and the northeast loop
of the suburban railway. For markets outside of Beijing, the Company will focus on key cities and closely track
projects in Shenzhen and Guangzhou, and launch in-depth marketing efforts in regional markets such as the
Yangtze River Delta, Sichuan, Chongqging, Hainan and Northwest China. While ensuring the safe and high-
quality advancement of existing line renovation projects, the Company will actively explore EPC management
models to develop an integrated service capability combining design consulting and engineering management.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

3. Accelerating the cultivation of new businesses

The Company, keeping abreast of contemporary trends, will fully seize the market opportunities of urban
renewal and focus on full industrial chain services for emerging businesses such as renovation of old
residential areas, urban lifeline projects, new energy, municipal infrastructure and agricultural infrastructure to
pursue new breakthroughs. The technology innovation business promotes market application of scientific and
technological products, including energy storage products, the “Urban Simulation” platform, interior industrial
products, Al-driven large-scale quality and safety models, and intelligent network operation mapping systems.
Overseas operations will continue to expand into the Belt and Road and Southeast Asian markets in a steady
manner.

4. Comprehensively solidifying management foundation

The Company will continue to strengthen its headquarter construction by accelerating to establish a
headquarter featuring strategic guidance, value creation, resource allocation, risk control, and high-
efficiency. The Company will continuously monitor and prevent operational risks, prioritize cash flow risks,
and exert every effort to reduce receivables and inventory, take measures to control potential overdue risk
of receivables of completed and pending for settlement projects, and settlement with subcontractors shall
be made in a timely manner so as to lock project costs. The Company will also concentrate on reducing
cost while improving efficiency, strictly manage procurement and workforce size and adhere to the principle
of "determining expenditures based on revenue” to achieve effective cost control. Moreover, in a bid to
continuously reinforce its brand influence and leadership in the industry, the Company will organize influential
industry forum and participate in the formulation of industry guidelines and national/local standards.

BID WINNING

In 2024, facing sustained economic downturn, challenging situation in the whole industry and other challenges, the
Company expanded the market across the entire rail transit industry chain by leveraging industry advantages and
its technical strength. As of 31 December 2024, the Company has won bids of RMB7.824 billion. Among them, the
design, survey and consultancy business segment won the bids of RMB2.989 billion, and the EPC business segment
won the bids of RMB4.835 billion. As at the end of the Reporting Period, its contracts on hand amounted to
RMB24.947 billion.



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

EMPLOYEES

As of 31 December 2024, the Group had approximately 4,739 employees, with employees at headquarters
accounting for 53% and those at subsidiaries accounting for 47%, representing a decrease of 4% as compared with
that at the end of the corresponding period of last year. The Company has 3 National Engineering Survey and Design
Masters and 4 current experts enjoying the Special Allowance from the State Council. As of 31 December 2024,
employees with bachelor's degree or above, employees with senior titles, employees with intermediate titles and
employees with primary titles or below accounted for 93%, 42%, 37% and 21% of the total number of employees
of the Group, respectively. Among which, the ratio of employees with senior titles has increased by 3% as compared
with that at the end of the last year.

The size of the Company's staff has been effectively controlled, with the quality of staff increasingly improved.
Specifically, the Company emphasized on introducing professional and sophisticated talents with qualifications and
professional titles in great demand and outstanding fresh graduates in key and difficult majors; and the proportion of
personnel with senior professional titles or above and various registered professional qualifications further increased.

In respect of building talent pool, the Company continued to carry out cross-segment exchanges, organized complex
project management training for EPC and strengthened cultivation of versatile talents related to design, general
contracting, technique and economic management. Additionally, the Company carried out financial trainings for
middle and senior leaders and operational management trainings for young and middle-aged officers to conduct
talent development in a diversified manner, thereby enhancing the professional ability of staff and promoting mutual
learning and exchanges among various segments.

According to the national policies, the reform on gradually raising statutory retirement age will be implemented in
2025.
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MARKET LANDSCAPE AND BUSINESS PROSPECT

The Government Work Report 2024 proposed that “To actively increase effective investment. To focus on supporting
technological innovation, new-type infrastructure, energy conservation, emission reduction and carbon reduction,
strengthen the supplementation of weak links in the economy and society such as people’s wellbeing, promote the
construction of flood control, drainage and disaster prevention infrastructure, drive the renewal and technological
transformation of various production and service equipment, and accelerate the implementation of major projects in
the 14th Five-Year Plan”.

In March 2024, the State Council issued the “Action Plan for Promoting Large-Scale Equipment Renewal and the
Trade-In of Consumer Goods” (HEENARERBEBEINFEE RIAERIFTITEFZE)), which focuses on seven major
areas, namely industry, agriculture, construction, transportation, education, culture and tourism, and healthcare.
The plan aims to advance the renewal and transformation of equipment in key industries towards directions of
energy conservation, carbon reduction, ultra-low emissions, safe production, digital transformation and intelligent
upgrading.

In August 2024, the Central Committee of the Communist Party of China (CCCPC) and the State Council issued
the “Opinions on Accelerating the Comprehensive Green Transformation of Economic and Social Development”
KRR EETEREZASCHEAMNER)) to roll out systematic plans to accelerate the comprehensive green
transformation of economic and social development for the first time. The opinions focus on building a green,
low-carbon and high-quality development pattern, accelerating the green and low-carbon transformation of industrial
structures, steadily advancing the green and low-carbon transformation in energy, promoting green transformation
in transportation, and facilitating green transformation in urban and rural construction and development.
Additionally, it also highlights the implementation of a comprehensive conservation strategy, promotion of the green
transformation of consumption models, and playing the role of technological innovation in supporting the transition.
These measures aim to accelerate the formation of a resource-saving and environmentally protective spatial pattern,
industrial structure, production methods, and lifestyle.



MARKET LANDSCAPE AND BUSINESS PROSPECT (CONTINUED)

In December 2024, to solidify urban safety resilience enhancement actions, promote the construction of new urban
infrastructure featured with digitalization, network and intelligence, build resilient cities with strong resilience and
fast recovery, and strengthen urban risk prevention, control and management capabilities, the General Office of
CCCPC and the General Office of the State Council issued the “Opinions on Promoting the Construction of New
Urban Infrastructure to Build Resilient Cities” («BRNHE# FTAU T BB R FITEZ A E R )). The opinions
propose that by 2027, significant progress will be made in the construction of new urban infrastructure, which
will continuously enhance its role in supporting resilient city development, and accumulate replicable and scalable
experience and practices; by 2030, remarkable results will be achieved in new urban infrastructure construction,
which will lead to the establishment of a batch of high-level resilient cities, with continuous improvements in urban
safety resilience, making city operations safer, more orderly, smarter, and more efficient.

In January 2025, the National Energy Administration made amendments to the “Interim Measures for the
Management of Distributed Photovoltaic Power Generation Projects” (Guoneng Xinneng [2013] No. 433) (% ff
A K ARBBIER BEETINENBEAEFTAE[2013]1433 97)), pursuant to which the “"Measures for the Management of
Distributed Photovoltaic Power Development and Construction” o # =R EFREEZREIEIHE)) has been
formed. By the end of 2024, the cumulative installed capacity of new-type energy storage projects nationwide that
have been completed and under operation reached 73.76 million kW/168 million kWh, approximately 20 times the
level at the end of the 13th Five-Year Plan, with a growth of over 130% compared to the end of 2023. In 2024, the
issuance of Renewable Energy Green Power Certificate (Green Certificate) in China significantly increased, with a
total of 4.734 billion Green Certificates issued throughout the year, a 28.4-fold increase compared to the previous
year. A total of 446 million Green Certificates were traded, a 3.6-fold increase. The “Measures for the Management
of Distributed Photovoltaic Power Development and Construction” will guide and support the combined development
and regulation of distributed photovoltaics, which will promote both development and market regulation, and
facilitate the growth in “quantity” and improvement in “quality” of distributed photovoltaic power generation.

Q3LINMT "0D dNOY¥YD ININGOTIAIA B NDISIA NOILDNYLSNOD NVEdN DONIf3d

720 L4043 TVNNNV




d3LINMN 0D dNOYD ININKOTIAIA B NDISIA NOILDNYLSNOD NvEdN ONIf3d

7207 L40d3Y TVNNNV

MARKET LANDSCAPE AND BUSINESS PROSPECT (CONTINUED)

URBAN RAIL TRANSIT

In 2024, a total of 953.04 kilometers of new urban rail transit lines were added, and there were 25 new lines as well
as 26 new sections or extensions of existing lines in operation. Throughout the year, 25 cities launched new lines,
sections or extensions of urban transit (Data source: statistics of China Association of Metros).

In 2024, the national urban rail transit sector completed the tenders for the overall design contracting of 14 lines
(including overall design contracting, general engineering design contracting, and general contracting of survey and
design). The Company secured the first position in the industry by winning the bid for the overall design contracting
of 6 lines.

Looking ahead to 2025, it is anticipated that construction will commence on urban rail transit lines in 35 cities.
Meanwhile, under the pressures of economic downturn and fiscal debt, the financial burden of urban rail transit
construction and operation is increasing and the traditional rail transit construction market, primarily focused on new
subway lines, is gradually evolving. Currently, there are over 30 urban rail transit lines in operation for more than
15 years and 50 lines operating for 10 to 15 years in China, predominantly located in first-tier cities such as Beijing,
Shanghai, and Guangzhou. As time progresses, the demand for major renovations of urban rail transit systems is
becoming increasingly urgent. In addition to new construction tasks for traditional urban rail transit, the rail transit
segment will effectively explore future market opportunities in line with national strategies by focusing on business
sectors related to rail transits such as existing line renovation projects, low-altitude + rail initiatives, international
urban rail transit projects, railway engineering consulting and subway civil defense engineering, striving for a larger
market share.

RAIL TRANSIT SYNERGIZING WITH INNOVATIVE CONSTRUCTION

In 2024, the Special Project of Risk Prevention and Control Technology for Deep Karst Collapse and Demonstration
Application under the Prevention and Control of Major Natural Disasters and Public Safety (A B A ERIFEN
K2 ERERERI SRS ERRIERM R & EA), a project of the Ministry of Science and Technology in 14th
Five-Year Plan undertaken by the Company, successfully passed the mid-term inspection.



MARKET LANDSCAPE AND BUSINESS PROSPECT (CONTINUED)

The scientific and technological achievements of the “Qingdao Metro Prefabricated and Assembled Construction
Technology and Industrialization (& St 78 I AL B T R EZ(E)" project were highly praised as “generally
reaching the international leading level”; the scientific and technological achievements of the “Intelligent Online
Monitoring and Maintenance Technology for the Status of Urban Rail Transit Underground Infrastructure and Its
Application (T8N 8 3@ T B R AR AR 2 B (R AR BS R BB B 1l R FE )" project and the “Key Technologies for
Efficient Construction and Safety Control of Large Shield Tunnels in Highly Developed Karst Strata (#8588 % 5
HE R EERESBURERT 2 BRI project were highly praised as “generally reaching the international
advanced level, with some achievements being internationally leading”.

The “Underground Structures and Soil Integrated Seismic Design Theory, Standards, and Engineering Applications
(MTEBEIE B NERTER FERTEER)" project won the first prize of Science and Technology
Progress Award from the Beijing Municipal Government; the “Multidimensional Online Monitoring and Preventive
Maintenance Key Technologies for Urban Rail Transit Infrastructure and Their Application (¥ i 138 32 38 45 B8 Z 0 2% i
L AR ES R BATE I AR IS BRI K JE )" project and the “Intelligent Operation Safety Assurance Technologies
for Rail Transit and Their Application (BB BESLiEE L 2REFITEER)" project won the second prize of
Science and Technology Award from China Intelligent Transportation Association in 2024.

The comprehensive technology for prefabricated construction of metro station service buildings has been successfully
promoted and applied in Hong Kong, where a model room has been completed, showcasing excellent results and
laying a solid foundation for future technology export initiatives.

SURVEY AND MEASUREMENT

Under the profound influence of national policies and regulations and with increasing emphasis attached by the state
on geological work, the state has introduced a series of supportive policies, providing a favorable policy environment
for the development of the industry. The state continues to increase its support for the geological survey and
measurement industry, especially in resource development, environmental protection, and urban planning.

Currently, the industry is undergoing a digital transformation. With the integration of high-precision survey
technologies and geographic information systems (GIS), data collection and analysis efficiency have been significantly
enhanced. In 2025, the geological survey and measurement industry is expected to further embrace intelligent
and digital technologies. The application of technologies such as drone aerial photography, 3D laser scanning, and
building information modeling (BIM) will significantly improve data accuracy and design efficiency.
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MARKET LANDSCAPE AND BUSINESS PROSPECT (CONTINUED)

The adoption of cloud platforms and big data analytics provides strong supports for the storage, sharing, and
in-depth analysis of survey and mapping data. Engineering surveying and mapping will increasingly rely on integrated
solutions in the future. The introduction of cloud computing and big data technologies enables remote collaboration
and real-time sharing of project information among design teams, enhancing project coordination and flexibility.
Through the provision of high-quality services and solutions, the customer experience will be enhanced and
high-quality sustainable development will be realized. Looking ahead, the industry’s technological innovation will be
designed to further explore the value of traditional surveying business and expanding into new areas by exploring
the reuse of China Tower Corporation’s base stations in the fields of ground subsidence, geological hazards,
ecological red lines, the red line of farmland area, forest fire prevention, and protected area inspections. Additionally,
leveraging joint venture platforms, the industry aims to promote technologies in tunnel disease inspection and
maintenance, smart surveying platforms and other businesses, while accelerating the research on new technologies
and equipment such as electronic sentinels, Al-powered drone inspections, machine vision, fiber-optic intrusion
detection, and smart rail inspection vehicles. These efforts will lead to the development of comprehensive solutions
for subway protection and integrated subway map.

In 2025, the survey and measurement industry is poised for continued growth and will embrace new development
opportunities driven by technological advancements and policy support. However, it will also face challenges
such as intense market competition and technological upgrades. Enterprises should enhance their technological
capabilities and improve service quality through seizing opportunities generated from technological advance, and
the focus should be put on leading the industry through technological innovation in order to realize a successful
transformation and sustained high-quality development of enterprises.

INVESTMENT AND FINANCING

In order to further resolve local government debts, the General Office of the State Council issued the Notice on
Further Integrating and Effectively Resolving and Preventing Local Debt Risks (Guo Ban Han [2024] No. 14) in
February 2024. The key focus of this notice is the expansion of debt resolution measures. Specifically, in addition to
the existing framework for 12 key provinces, certain areas of the remaining 19 provinces are allowed to apply the
Guiding Opinions on Financial Support to Resolve Debt Risks of Financing Platforms (Guo Ban Fa [2023] No. 35) to
tackle their debt challenges. Furthermore, the notice imposes stricter limitations on infrastructure investment and
construction in prefecture-level cities with high levels of local debt. This move aims to curb excessive government
spending on investment projects, creating opportunities for social capital to plan and promote the implementation of
key government projects by leveraging their financial resources.



MARKET LANDSCAPE AND BUSINESS PROSPECT (CONTINUED)

In March 2024, the NDRC, the MOF, the Ministry of Housing and Urban-Rural Development, the Ministry of
Transport, the Ministry of Water Resources and the People’s Bank of China jointly issued the Administrative Measures
for Infrastructure and Utility Franchised Operations  ZRERZEM A A EEFFLLEEEITE)) (Order No.17 of 2024),
further standardizing the implementation principles of franchised operations based on user payment, and guiding
social capital to invest in high-quality development projects.

In December 2024, the Central Economic Work Conference proposed to “vigorously implement urban renewal”,
which covers the renovation of old residential areas and the making up for the shortcomings of municipal
infrastructure (pipe network renovation), and at the same time proposed to issue additional ultra-long-term special
government bonds to continue to support the implementation of the “Major Strategies and Key Fields” and “Renewal
and Trade-in" policies. The RMB1 trillion ultra-long-term special government bonds for the whole year of 2024 have
been fully arranged, and the implementation of projects is being promoted. RMB700 billion for the construction
under the “Major Strategies and Key Fields” policy has been arranged for projects in three batches, and RMB300
billion will be used to support the “Renewal and Trade-in” work. During the year, the RMB100 billion central
government budgetary investment plan and the RMB100 billion “Major Strategies and Key Fields” construction
project list for next year have been issued ahead of schedule, and it is expected that approximately RMB1 trillion
of ultra-long-term special government bonds will be released in 2025. Key construction projects under the “Major
Strategies and Key Fields” policy include: the construction of railways, trunk roads and airports along the Yangtze
River, the construction of a new land-sea corridor in Western China, the construction of urban underground pipe
networks, the construction of high-standard farmland in the black soil regions of Northeast China, the construction
of the Three-North Shelterbelt Forest Program, the construction of a public service system for the urbanization of the
agricultural transfer population, and the improvement and upgrading of higher education.

In December 2024, the General Office of the State Council issued the Opinions on Optimizing and Improving the
Management Mechanism of Local Government Special Bonds « B 75z i A BERI B L e =1 7 BN BB E 5B B H
®E 7)) ([2024] No. 52), the main contents of which include the implementation of the “negative list” management
of special bonds in the field of investment, and the expansion of the scope of use as capital, etc., indicating the
determination of the country to stimulate the economy.
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MARKET LANDSCAPE AND BUSINESS PROSPECT (CONTINUED)

From the perspective of promoting and boosting the economy, new infrastructure investment and construction is
the main direction encouraged by the state, but traditional infrastructure construction is also one of the important
means. According to the guidance of the state, the Company needs to further look for more opportunities in the
directions of “Three Major Projects”, the key areas of the “Major Strategies and Key Fields” and “Renewal and
Trade-in" policies, and the key supporting areas of special bonds, especially making positive efforts in construction
general contracting. At the same time, it will actively explore the implementation of the new franchise model in
the direction of “cultural tourism + rail”. In 2025, the Company will continue to promote the construction of
intercity railways and urban (suburban) railways in urban agglomerations such as Beijing-Tianjin-Hebei, Yangtze River
Delta, Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao Greater Bay Area, and Cheng-Yu District in accordance with national policy
directions, and develop the investment market of rail transit and related industries through innovative investment
and financing models, so as to further expand the scale of construction general contracting. The Company will
further promote the development of rail transit and energy storage businesses, and actively look for breakthroughs
to enter new fields, in a bid to achieve a breakthrough from zero to one.

|u

PLANNING AND DESIGN

In order to implement the decisions and arrangements of the CPC Central Committee and the State Council on
comprehensively promoting the construction of a Beautiful China and to build beautiful cities, the Ministry of
Ecology and Environment, the Central Propaganda Department, the National Development and Reform Commission,
the Ministry of Industry and Information Technology, the Ministry of Finance, the Ministry of Natural Resources,
the Ministry of Housing and Urban-Rural Development, the Ministry of Transport, the Ministry of Culture and
Tourism, the People’s Bank of China, and the National Data Bureau jointly formulated the “Implementation Plan for
the Construction of Beautiful Cities" (ZEEBMTEREM T Z)) on 14 January 2025. This plan proposed incentive
policy measures for the construction of beautiful cities: firstly, to guide the construction of various projects such as
communities, parks, streets, and courtyards; secondly, to explore financial support models for regional environmental
protection construction projects using cities as carriers; thirdly, to implement public displays, aiming to achieve
landmark results in the construction of approximately 50 beautiful cities by 2027, making them demonstration
benchmarks for the construction of a Beautiful China, and to achieve full coverage of beautiful city construction by
2035.



MARKET LANDSCAPE AND BUSINESS PROSPECT (CONTINUED)

In December 2024, the Ministry of Natural Resources issued the “Opinions on High-Level Protection and Efficient
Utilization of Natural Resources to Promote the Realization of Ecological Product Value.” « B &K FIRE S HR
FMABABEREDEEREREEETIRMNER)). This document explored the formulation of asset allocation plans,
categorized and delineated reserve areas and allocation units, and coordinated the planning of asset reserves,
allocation, value realization, and revenue management of natural resources. It sought to explore methods such as
acquisition, leasing, replacement, and equity participation to form clearly defined and boundary-specific natural
resource asset portfolios and promote the combined supply of natural resource assets with multi-element, to
optimize asset allocation efficiency, and maximize benefits.

The work conference of National Housing and Urban-Rural Development was convened in Beijing. The conference
outlined the primary tasks for the national housing and urban-rural development sector in 2025, which include the
coordinated advancement of the “Four Goods” construction: good houses, good neighborhoods, good communities,
and good urban areas. It emphasized the need to stabilize the real estate market, accelerate the establishment
of a new model for real estate development, vigorously promote urban renewal, facilitate the transformation and
upgrading of the construction industry, and resolutely accomplish the goals and tasks set forth in the 14th Five-Year
Plan, striving to propel the high-quality development of housing and urban-rural construction endeavors.

ARCHITECTURAL DESIGN

In December 2024, the Central Economic Work Conference proposed sustained efforts to halt the decline and
stabilize the real estate market, intensify the renovation of urban villages and dilapidated housing, and fully unleash
the potential of rigid and improved housing demand.
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MARKET LANDSCAPE AND BUSINESS PROSPECT (CONTINUED)

In December 2024, the National Housing and Urban-Rural Development Work Conference proposed sustained efforts
to halt the decline and stabilize the real estate market. It called for increased implementation of urban village and
dilapidated housing renovations, promotion of monetary resettlement, and expansion of urban village renovation
scale except for the additional 1 million units. The conference also highlighted the vigorous implementation of
urban renewal, planning and execution of a series of urban renewal projects, and the comprehensive completion
of the renovation for old urban residential communities by the end of 2000. Additionally, it stressed the ongoing
implementation of various livelihood and development projects, including the construction of complete communities,
renovation and utilization of existing buildings, renewal of old urban blocks, construction and renovation of
underground pipelines and utility tunnels, updating of municipal infrastructure and equipment, urban waste sorting,
construction of pocket parks and urban greenways, open sharing of park green spaces, and the development of
elderly care facilities and child-friendly spaces in urban residential areas.

In December 2024, the National Industry and Information Technology Work Conference underscored the importance
of nurturing and expanding emerging and future industries, promoting the development of intelligent connected
vehicles, and building low-altitude information infrastructure tailored to local conditions. The conference advocated
for the green and low-carbon development of industry, optimizing the green manufacturing and service systems, and
cultivating a new batch of green factories and green supply chains. It also emphasized the need to intensify efforts
in industrial energy conservation and carbon reduction, and to explore the construction of zero-carbon factories and
industrial parks.

CONSTRUCTION CONTRACTING

In recent years, the global economic environment has been volatile. Especially affected by factors such as
international trade frictions and the global supply chain crisis, the domestic economic growth has slowed down. As
a capital-intensive industry, rail transit construction is greatly influenced by economic fluctuations, which may cause
investors to delay or reduce their investment in new projects.

In terms of rail transit construction, an increasing number of local governments are facing financial pressure, leading
to the suspension or reduction of infrastructure investment, which affects the number of new rail transit projects.
In Beijing, Shanghai, Guangzhou, Shenzhen and some super-large cities of good economic conditions, with the
continuous advancement of urbanization, the market demand for new rail transit construction projects will maintain
strong, and there is still much room for improvement in the density and coverage of the rail transit network. Apart
from Beijing, Shanghai, Guangzhou and Shenzhen, only Chengdu obtained the approval of the NDRC for the new
line construction plan in 2025.



MARKET LANDSCAPE AND BUSINESS PROSPECT (CONTINUED)

In the domestic rail transit sector, the demand for the upgrading and renovation of existing lines has increased.
The early-built lines have entered the major overhaul period, and the demands for the upgrading, renovation,
and intelligent transformation of existing lines will increase significantly. In terms of the interconnection and
interoperability of urban agglomeration rail transit, the development of inter-city rail transit will further promote
the integration of urban agglomerations and drive the growth of the rail transit sector. At present, opportunities
in overseas markets are increasing. With the strong demand for rail transit in countries along the Belt and Road,
enterprises are expected to make more breakthroughs in overseas markets by virtue of their cost-effective advantage
and rich experience. Overall, the growth rate of China’s rail transit construction sector has slowed down to
some extent in 2025. Industry competition will intensify further, and enterprises need to increase investment in
technological innovation, intelligence, and green development to enhance their core competitiveness.

MUNICIPAL PUBLIC PROJECTS CONSTRUCTION

In December 2024, the NDRC and the Ministry of Housing and Urban-Rural Development issued the “Notice on
Diligently Submitting the Implementation Plan for the Construction and Renovation of Urban Underground Pipe
Networks, Utility Tunnels and Facilities” (BRIMEBH XM TEMNE BREREERBCEZIET ZRBA)). It is
estimated that in the next five years, the total length of various urban pipe networks for, inter alia, gas, water supply
and drainage, and heating that need to be renovated will be nearly 600,000 kilometers, with a total investment
demand of approximately RMB4 trillion, which is about 2.75 times the expected investment during the “14th
Five-Year Plan” period. In the context of continued strong policy support, it is of paramount importance to capitalize
on the wave of urban underground pipeline network renovation. By integrating environmental protection measures,
we can propel cities towards high-quality, intelligent, green, and safe development. Consequently, the municipal
engineering is poised to enter another peak phase. Emphasis should be placed on reserving key technologies and
capabilities in intelligent transportation, autonomous driving, lifeline projects, and trenchless techniques, so as to
gear up for future innovation and advancement.

In accordance with the relevant requirements of “Opinions of the General Office of the Central Committee of the
Communist Party of China and the General Office of the State Council on Promoting the Construction of New Urban
Infrastructure and Building Resilient Cities” ((HP $trp g 37 /2 B2 B 75 B 9% B 8 70 HE b B B 09 T LR eR b el 4T s Bl
WM HE R )), to seize the opportunity of new infrastructure construction, we will intensify efforts in researching key
technologies such as lifeline monitoring, the Internet of Things (loT), and Al algorithms, and develop core products
such as flood control and drainage monitoring and early warning system platforms, underground loT equipment,
and the “one-map” system for underground pipe networks. Directed by design, we will continuously promote the
implementation of lifeline-related core technologies and products, and continue to expand our market share in the
field of new infrastructure construction.
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DIRECTORS, SUPERVISORS AND OTHER SENIOR MANAGEMENT

DIRECTORS
Executive Directors

Mr. Xia Xiujiang (E35L), aged 45, senior engineer, executive Director of the Company and the secretary of the
Party Committee, general manager and the manager of the investment and construction management department
(JEEEZEILEL) of the Company, and the chairman and the secretary of the Party Committee of Beijing Urban
Construction Exploration & Surveying Design Research Institute Co., Ltd. (Jt MBI BIRAERERETA

Mr. Xia was appointed as an executive Director of the Company with effect from November 2024. Mr. Xia worked
in Beijing Urban Construction Road and Bridge Construction Group Co., Ltd. (JtEEEBEREB AR A A)
from July 2001 to May 2006, served as the chief economist of Beijing Urban Construction Huasheng Transportation
Construction Group Co., Ltd. (At mREER REBE AR ATF]) in Beijing Urban Construction Road and Bridge
Construction Group Co., Ltd. from May 2006 to March 2011, and served as the deputy chief economist of Beijing
Urban Construction Road and Bridge Construction Group Co., Ltd. and the chief economist of Beijing Urban
Construction Huasheng Construction Group Co., Ltd. (Jt RIEZER EZREB AR A F]) from March 2011 to February
2014. Mr. Xia served as the general manager of the Fujian branch of the Company from February 2014 to May
2015, the general manager of Anhui Jingjian Capital Construction Investment Co., Ltd. (ZHREREERERA
A]) from May 2015 to December 2024. And he has served as the chairman of Guizhou Jingjian Capital Construction
Investment Co., Ltd. (BN R i%&éfk XA MR A7), chairman of Yunnan Jingjian Capital Construction Investment Co.,
Ltd. (Em R L&ﬁk % AR /A A]), chairman of Beijing Jingjian Shuncheng Construction Investment Co., Ltd. (1t TR
ZER R EFR AR, chalrman of Yunnan Jingjian Rail Transit Investment and Construction Co., Ltd. (Ef R
BB AR EER AR 2AA]), chairman of Huangshan Jingjian Capital Construction Investment Co., Ltd. (ZILRER
B#RAMR AT, chairman of Hunan Jingjian Capital Construction Investment Co., Ltd. (i REZREZRAER A A),
and vice chairman of Chongging Yuxi Expressway Construction and Operation Co., Ltd. (EE T AIFARGEREE
[R 2 ®]) since May 2015, and he served as the general manager of Anhui Jingjian Capital Construction Investment
Co., Ltd. (ZRAEIREEBZRAERAF]) from May 2015 to December 2024, the general manager of Guizhou Jingjian
Capital Construction Investment Co., Ltd. from June 2016 to July 2021. Mr. Xia has been the manager of the
investment and construction management department of the Company since January 2017, the general manager of
Huangshan Jingjian Capital Construction Investment Co., Ltd. from August 2018 to April 2022, and the secretary
of the general party branch and the manager of the investment and construction management department of the
Company from November 2019 to November 2024. And he also served as the assistant manager of the Company
and the secretary of the general party branch and the manager of the investment and construction management
department of the Company from July 2020 to January 2021. He served as the deputy general manager of the
Company and the secretary of the general party branch and the manager of the investment and construction



DIRECTORS, SUPERVISORS AND OTHER SENIOR MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

management department of the Company from January 2021 to July 2024. And he serves as the secretary of the
Party Committee of the Company and the secretary of the general party branch and the manager of the investment
and construction management department of the Company from July 2024 to October 2024, as the secretary of the
Party Committee and the general manager of the Company and the manager of the investment and construction
management department of the Company from October 2024 to present, and as the secretary of the Party
Committee and the general manager and the manager of the investment and construction management department
of the Company, the chairman and the secretary of the Party Committee of Beijing Urban Construction Exploration
& Surveying Design Research Institute Co., Ltd. (bR ZHDBIERETAAFCR AR E LA R]) from December 2024 to
present. Mr. Xia obtained a bachelor's degree in construction engineering management from Harbin Institute of
Technology in July 2001 and a master’s degree in software engineering from Tianjin University in June 2014.

As at the date of this report, Mr. Xia holds 1,000,000 Domestic Shares in the Key Employee Stock Ownership
Scheme.

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Pei Hongwei (3£7% &), aged 58, senior economist, chairman of the Company and a non-executive Director,
currently serves as the director, general manager, deputy secretary of Party committee of Beijing Urban Construction
Group Co., Ltd. Mr. Pei was appointed as a non-executive Director and chairman of the Company since December
2019. Mr. Pei had successively served as the cadre of Beijing-Shijiazhuang Highway Administration Institute of Beijing
Highway Bureau (St R A B RARKEILF) and assistant to the head of mechanized line from August 1989 to
November 1993. He worked successively as the deputy head of mechanized engineering line, assistant to the chief,
assistant to the chief and head of management division and deputy chief (section level) of Beijing-Shijiazhuang
Division of Beijing Highway Bureau (Jt R AKBRAS/E) from November 1993 to August 2000; successively
served as the deputy director and director of preliminary work department of Beijing Gonglian Highway Connect
Line Co., Ltd. At R R QB4R BR E (T2 7)) from August 2000 to April 2006; the assistant to the general
manager of Beijing Road and Bridge Construction Corporation (1t R AEREFZR A E]) from April 2006 to January
2007. He served as the director and general manager of Beijing Road and Bridge Construction Group Co., Ltd. (it
FARBRZREEBR2AF) from January 2007 to June 2007, and successively served as the director and general
manager of Beijing Municipal Road and Bridge Construction Holding (Group) Co., Ltd. (At RS RIZA (&
ENAEBR A7) from June 2007 to November 2011. He successively served as the general manager, vice chairman
and chairman of Beijing Municipal Road and Bridge Group Co., Ltd. JQt RH BB EE AR AF]) from November
2011 to November 2019. He served as the director, general manager and deputy secretary of Party committee of
Beijing Urban Construction Group Co., Ltd. since November 2019, and acted as the secretary of Party committee of
the Company from November 2023 to July 2024. Mr. Pei graduated from the Department of Civil Engineering of
Southeast University (R AZ) majoring in highway and urban roads engineering in August 1989, and graduated
from the Faculty of Architecture Engineering at Beijing University of Technology (IElR T K2) with a master’s
degree of engineering in transportation planning and management in June 2002. Mr. Pei obtained the qualification
of grade-one constructor from Beijing Municipal Bureau of Personnel (At XM AZER) in April 2006.
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DIRECTORS, SUPERVISORS AND OTHER SENIOR MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

Mr. Li Guoging (ZEBIE), aged 58, is a chief senior engineer, vice chairman and non-executive Director of the
Company. Mr. Li has been working for the Company since July 1990. He held the position of the secretary of
Youth League Committee (BlZZ72) of the Company from April 1993 to August 1998 and was the vice president
of Metro and General Municipal Institute (3T iKBT) of the Company from August 1998 to September 1999.
He worked as the vice president of the Company from September 1999 to March 2001, and was the secretary of
the Party Committee and vice president of the Company from March 2001 to November 2002. He acted as the
party secretary, deputy general manager and Director of the Company from November 2002 to November 2023,
during which he also held the position of general manager in China Metro Engineering Consulting Co., Ltd., which
is primarily engaged in engineering consultancy, between September 2006 and May 2012. He has served as a
Director of the Company and the deputy chief engineer of BUCG since November 2023. Mr. Li obtained a bachelor’s
degree in engineering majoring in heating, ventilation and air conditioning from Tsinghua University in July 1990.
He obtained a master's degree and a doctor’s degree of engineering both majoring in heating, gas, ventilation and
air conditioning engineering from Tianjin University in March 2009 and June 2012, respectively. He obtained his
certificate of PRC registered utility engineer (2 B3 2 A% Ti2EM) from the Ministry of Housing and Urban-Rural
Development in October 2010. Mr. Li was a representative of the 15th, 16th and 17th People’s Congress of Xicheng
District, Beijing.

As at the date of this report, Mr. Li holds 48,000 H Shares and 1,000,000 Domestic Shares in the Key Employee
Stock Ownership Scheme.

Ms. Shi Huaxin ($2#2), aged 45, a chief senior economist, non-executive Director of the Company, currently
serves as the head of the capital operation department of Beijing Urban Construction Group Co., Ltd. Ms. Shi was
appointed as non-executive Director of the Company since May 2021. Ms. Shi was a staff member of the human
resources department of the engineering general contracting department of Beijing Urban Construction Group
Co., Ltd. from July 2004 to July 2006. From July 2006 to May 2017, she successively served as the deputy director,
director, assistant to manager and deputy manager of the general office of the engineering general contracting
department of Beijing Urban Construction Group Co., Ltd. From May 2017 to June 2020, she served as the director
of the manager office of Beijing Urban Construction Group Co., Ltd. Since June 2020, she has been the head of
the capital operation department of Beijing Urban Construction Group Co., Ltd. Ms. Shi studied labor economics at
Henan University of Finance and Economics from September 1997 to June 2001 and obtained a bachelor’s degree
in economics. She studied labor economics at Nankai University from September 2001 to June 2004 and obtained a
master’s degree in economics.



DIRECTORS, SUPERVISORS AND OTHER SENIOR MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

Mr. Peng Dongdong (¥%3), aged 48, a non-executive Director of the Company, currently serves as the
general manager at the contract management department of Beijing Infrastructure Investment Co., Ltd. Mr. Peng
was appointed as a non-executive Director of the Company since March 2022. From August 1999 to December
2002, Mr. Peng successively served as a construction worker, engineer and technical person in charge of the
Beijing-Shijiazhuang Branch of the Beijing Highway Bureau (Jt W REBREADB); from December 2002 to
January 2004, he successively served as the technical project director and project manager of the Fifth Engineering
Office of Beijing Highway and Bridge Construction Company (At R AKERER A TEATIRE); from January
2004 to December 2006, he served as the manager of the Engineering Department of Beijing Highway and Bridge
Construction Company; from December 2006 to March 2011, he served as the business director of the Engineering
Management Department of Beijing Municipal Road and Bridge Construction Holdings (Group) Co., Ltd. (At =7H
s BRI (@) ER A R]); from March 2011 to September 2015, he served as the deputy director of the
Engineering and Technology Management Department of Beijing Municipal Road and Bridge Construction Holdings
(Group) Co., Ltd.; from September 2015 to July 2018, he served as the director of the Production and Operation
Department of Beijing Municipal Road and Bridge Group Co., Ltd. Qt R EIEEBE AR A R]); from July 2018 to
April 2020, he served as the director of the Investment and Operation Department of Beijing Municipal Road and
Bridge Group Co., Ltd. and the executive director of Beijing Municipal Road and Bridge Group Guangzhou Company;
from April 2020 to April 2024, he has been the deputy general manager at the investment and development
headquarters of Beijing Infrastructure Investment Co., Ltd. Mr. Peng concurrently served as a director of Xinjiang
Urumgi-Beijing Railway Construction Rail Transit Co., Ltd. (¥1i@8 S REZHEZBABRAF]) in March 2021. Since
April 2024, he has been the general manager at the contract management department of Beijing Infrastructure
Investment Co., Ltd. Mr. Peng obtained a bachelor’'s degree in highway and urban roads from the Department
of Road and Bridge Engineering of Changsha University of Science and Technology in July 1999; and obtained a
master’s degree in project management from the School of Economics and Management of Beijing University of
Technology in July 2014; Mr. Peng was qualified as a grade-one constructor in November 2006.

Mr. Li Fei (Z®), aged 45, a non-executive Director of the Company, currently serves as the senior investment
manager at the investment and development headquarter of Beijing Infrastructure Investment Co., Ltd. Mr. Li was
appointed as a non-executive Director of the Company since March 2022. From September 2002 to December 2004,
Mr. Li served as the investment and financing manager of Xinjie Investment Guarantee Co., Ltd. (SR EERE
FR /A R]); from December 2004 to June 2009, he was the investment director of Zhongxin Guolian Investment Co.,
Ltd. (PETBIEER EGR A R]); from June 2009 to December 2011, he served as the investment director of Beijing
Yingxinda Venture Capital Co., Ltd. (It R R {FE A XK B B A F]); since December 2011, he has successively served
as the investment manager and senior investment manager at the investment and development headquarter of
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DIRECTORS, SUPERVISORS AND OTHER SENIOR MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

Beijing Infrastructure Investment Co., Ltd. Mr. Li concurrently served as a director of Traffic Control Technology Co.,
Ltd. (listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange, stock code: 688015) in April 2021, a director of Beijing Information
Infrastructure Construction Co., Ltd. from December 2021 to October 2024. Mr. Li has served as a director of
Sheenpower Technology Co., Ltd. (JERILRZFRERHZBR A R]) since March 2022, a director of Beijing Municipal
Road and Bridge Co., Ltd. (At R B EBEB AR A7) since August 2024 and a director of Beijing Jiuzhouyigui
Environmental Technology Co., Ltd. (listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange, stock code: 688485) since September
2024. Mr. Li obtained a bachelor’'s degree in economics from Changsha University of Science and Technology in
July 2002 and a master’s degree in finance from the Institute of Finance and Banking, Chinese Academy of Social
Sciences in July 2011.

Mr. Wang Tao (JE3%), aged 48, a senior accountant, and a non-executive Director of the Company, currently serves
as the head of the Finance Department of Beijing Gonglian Highway Connect Line Co., Ltd. (1t T AR BB 4
ZAMREMLAT]). Mr. Wang was appointed as a non-executive Director of the Company since October 2020. Since
July 1999, Mr. Wang has been working for Beijing Gonglian Highway Connect Line Co., Ltd. (1t /= AB A PR B 4%
ZABRE A F]), which is principally engaged in the construction and management of urban roads and facilities.
He has successively served as the chief financial officer of a wholly-owned subsidiary, Beijing Gonglian Anda Parking
Management Co., Ltd. (JtR R ZEEEEEFRAA]), the chief financial officer of a wholly-owned subsidiary,
Beijing Gonglian Jieda Highway Maintenance Engmeermg Co., Ltd. JtRAEZENKEETIEBRAT), the
director of the fund settlement centre of Beijing Gonglian Highway Connect Line Co., Ltd. (1t &R A8 A BRES 45 4R
ﬁl@fﬁc”ﬁ) and the head of the finance department of Beijing Gonglian Highway Connect Line Co., Ltd. (At R

NESNEE AR R AR E T AR]). Mr. Wang graduated from Nanjing University of Economics, majoring in investment
economics, with a bachelor’s degree in economics in June 1999; and graduated from Xi‘an University of Technology,
majoring in business administration, with a master's degree in business administration in January 2013. Mr. Wang
obtained the qualification of grade-one cost engineer in October 2018.

Ms. Tang Qimeng (EH%), aged 35, a non-executive Director of the Company currently serves as the chairlady
of Beijing Zhongcheng Hengxing Investment Management Co., Ltd. (At A FIEFEIFE EIE AR A F]). Ms. Tang was
appointed as a non-executive Director of the Company since March 2022. Ms. Tang served as the head of funds of
CITIC Heye Investment Co., Ltd. (FIEFIZEILE B A7) from November 2012 to March 2016, and served as the
senior manager of the bond financing department of Kalyuan Securities Co., Ltd. (FIRFEHR D BR A R]) from April
2016 to March 2017. From March 2017 to February 2021, she served as the deputy general manager of the Finance
Department of Taitong Construction Co., Ltd. (KBER AR A F]), and since March 2021, she has served as the
chairlady of Beijing Zhongcheng Hengxing Investment Management Co., Ltd. Ms. Tang obtained a bachelor’'s degree
in management under the major of accounting (fully in English) from the business school of Beijing Technology and
Business University in July 2011, and a master’s degree in accounting under the major of international accounting
and financial management in September 2012 from the University of Glasgow, UK. Ms. Tang is currently a member
of the Youth Federation of Tongzhou District, Beijing.
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Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Wang Guofeng (EEI#), aged 66, a professor-level senior engineer, is an independent non-executive Director
of the Company. Mr. Wang worked in the aeronautical survey team and the aeronautical survey and computer office
of the Second Highway Survey and Design Institute (5 — AR LM » FUBIEEZ) under the Ministry
of Communications from 1982 to 1986; he served as the deputy section chief and section chief of the personnel
division, director of the Organisation Department of the Party Committee, deputy secretary of the Party Committee
and senior engineer of the Second Highway Survey and Design Institute (5~ AR EIE&516T) under the Ministry
of Communications from 1986 to 1997; deputy director of Wuhan Municipal Transportation Committee (E/ET X
BZE ) from 1997 to 1999; secretary of the Party Committee, chairman and general manager of China Highway
Consulting Group Co., Ltd. (FEIRAKEZAEBE AR A 7)), as well as director of the R&D Centre of Spatial Information
Application and Disaster Prevention Technology for the Transportation Industry (XiRiE#H TR E B EMER
SEHATAftEE AR L) from 1999 to 2016; deputy chief engineer of China Communications Construction Company
Limited, and secretary of the Party Committee and chairman of China Communications Railway Design and Research
Institute Co., Ltd. (PRIFBERAITTAFRE AR A A]) from 2016 to January 2018; and consultant of China Highway
Engineering Consulting Corporations (FEI QR TEFAAEEFRR A A]) from January 2018 to December 2018, and
retired after leaving his position. Mr. Wang Guofeng was appointed as an independent non-executive Director of
the Company since October 2020. Mr. Wang Guofeng received a bachelor’'s degree in engineering from Wuhan
Technical University of Surveying and Mapping in 1982; a master’s degree in economics from Huazhong University
of Science and Technology in 1996; and a doctorate degree in management engineering from Beijing University of
Technology in 2006. Mr. Wang Guofeng was recognized as a researcher by the Specialised Technique Qualification
Evaluation Committee of the State Bureau of Surveying and Mapping in September 2004. He received a practising
certificate as a registered consulting (investment) engineer from the Development and Reform Commission in August
2003, a practising certificate as a registered constructor (Class A) from the Ministry of Housing and Urban-Rural
Development of the People’s Republic of China in April 2008, a practising certificate as a registered surveyor from
the National Administration of Surveying, Mapping & Geoinformation in March 2009, and a practising certificate as
a national registered civil engineer from Ministry of Human Resources and Social Security in April 2011.
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Mr. Ma Xufei (B/B), aged 52, an independent non-executive Director of the Company, currently serves as a
professor (tenure) and the associate dean of the College of Business of Chinese University of Hong Kong. Mr. Ma
was appointed as an independent non-executive Director of the Company since December 2019. Mr. Ma obtained
a bachelor’s degree in engineering from the School of Management of Xi‘an Jiaotong University in 1995 and then
worked in Sinochem Corporation from August 1995 to December 2001. Mr. Ma obtained an MBA degree from
the School of Business of University of Saskatchewan in Canada in 2003, and obtained a doctoral degree from the
Department of Business Policy of the College of Business of National University of Singapore in 2007. Mr. Ma served
as the Business Manager of the Corporate Management Department at Sinochem International Corporation from
January 2003 to June 2003. He held the positions of Assistant Professor and Associate Professor at the College of
Business of Chinese University of Hong Kong from August 2007 to June 2018 and served as a tenure-track faculty
member, and acted as the director of the Entrepreneurship Research Center and International Business Research
Center of Chinese University of Hong Kong. From July 2018 to August 2020, he taught at the Department of
Management of the College of Business of City University of Hong Kong as a professor (tenure). From September
2020 to November 2022, he served as a long-term hired professor in the Department of Innovation, Entrepreneurship
and Strategy of the School of Economics and Management of Tsinghua University and the Innovation Management
Institute of the Tsinghua Shenzhen International Graduate School. Since December 2022, he has served as a
professor at the College of Business of Chinese University of Hong Kong. Mr. Ma obtained his qualification approval
from the China Banking Regulatory Commission Shaanxi Office in 2016, and acted as an independent director of
Western Trust Co., Ltd. (FZ3{E5EAMR A7) from July 2016 to August 2022, an independent director of Tubatu
Group Co., Ltd. (+tER&EBMH AR AR]) from December 2020 to July 2022, and an independent non-executive
director of CLSA Premium Limited (06877.HK) from April 2023 to March 2024. Mr. Ma obtained the “Certificate of
Independent Director of Listed Companies” from Shenzhen Stock Exchange in August 2020. Mr. Ma has served as
an independent director of BioRegen Biomedical (Changzhou) Co., Ltd. since June 2023, an independent director of
Shanghai ZhuoyueRuixin Digital Technology Co., Ltd. (LS MEFEIBEERMH BR AR since April 2024 and an
independent director of Sunshine Global Circuits Co., Ltd. (FZYIIFAEG B RIHLAL (5 B R A 7)) since December 2024.



DIRECTORS, SUPERVISORS AND OTHER SENIOR MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

Mr. Qin Guisheng (E#£4), aged 66, an independent non-executive Director of the Company, currently serves as
a partner and lawyer of Zhongkai & Partners Attorneys at Law (3t R SLZRMESFT). Mr. Qin was appointed as
an independent non-executive Director of the Company since August 2018. He worked in the General Office of the
Ministry of Justice for a long period of time after July 1986, serving as a secretary at the deputy director level and at
the director level, engaged in research and secretarial work. He has been working in Zhongkai & Partners Attorneys
at Law since February 1996, where he has successively served as a lawyer, partner lawyer and principal lawyer
(served as the principal lawyer of Zhongkai & Partners Attorneys at Law from 2010 to February 2019). He served as
an independent director of Beijing Wangfujing Department Store (Group) Co., Ltd. Gt REFH B E(EB)RH AR
A @l) from May 2010 to April 2013, and an independent director of Guizhou Tyre Co., Ltd. (EM &N BE A )
from July 2015 to April 2022. Mr. Qin graduated from Northwest University of Political Science and Law in Shaanxi
Province (PRPAA FHILBUEERT) in 1983 with a bachelor’s degree in law. He graduated from Graduate School of
China University of Political Science and Law in Beijing (At AP BEIBUE A 2835 4£ERT) in 1986 with a master’s degree
in law.

Mr. Xia Peng (EH§), aged 59, a chief senior accountant, an independent non-executive Director of the Company,
currently serves as the chairman of Beijing Dahua Rongzhi Management Consulting Co., Ltd. (Jt R AZERE &2
AR AF]). Mr. Xia was appointed as an independent non-executive Director of the Company since March
2022. From July 1984 to September 1987, Mr. Xia taught at Hubei Provincial Institute of Education; from July
1990 to June 2003, he served as the vice-president and secretary-general of the Accounting Society For Foreign
Economic Relations & Trade of China under the Ministry of Commerce, and the Editor-in-chief of the "Foreign
Economics and Trade Accounting” ((4MIE B € )) magazine; from June 2003 to November 2009, he served as
the financial director and director of the financial center of Beijing Radio and Television Group; from November
2009 to December 2012, he served as the financial director and general manager of the investment and financing
department of China Broadcasting Corporation; from December 2012 to August 2016, he served as the chairman
and consultant of Beijing Shenhuaxin Co., Ltd. Qb FURZEF (DB R F)); since September 2016, he has been the
chairman of Beijing Dahua Rongzhi Management Consulting Co., Ltd. Mr. Xia studied in Central China Normal
College from September 1980 to July 1984 and obtained a bachelor’'s degree in science; from September 1987 to
July 1990, he studied in Tianjin Institute of Finance and Economics and obtained a master's degree in economics;
from September 2001 to January 2005, he studied at the Accounting Department of the Business School of Renmin
University of China and obtained a doctorate degree in management. From December 2005 to October 2010, Mr.
Xia studied in the first session of the National Accounting Leading Talent Enterprises (2Bl 51485 A A (2% —ET)
of the Ministry of Finance and obtained the Certificate of National Accounting Leading Talent. Mr. Xia was qualified
as a certified public accountant by the Ministry of Finance in May 1995. Mr. Xia served as an independent director of
Inner Mongolia Dian Tou Energy Corporation Limited (A5 & E& RN BBR2AF]) from May 2018 to May 2024.
Mr. Xia is currently an independent director of Youyan New Materials Co., Ltd. (BfFFT# ¥R {5 AR A R), Beijing
Hisign Technology Co., Ltd. (At /8 &RIe S RHERM BR A F)) and Global Infotech Co., Ltd. (BB EEERNBRER
Al).
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DIRECTORS, SUPERVISORS AND OTHER SENIOR MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

SUPERVISORS

Mr. Hu Shengjie ($iZ #£), aged 51, a senior administration engineer, Supervisor of the Company and the chairman
of the Board of Supervisors, currently serves as the head of the Department of Board Secretary of Beijing Urban
Construction Group Co., Ltd, the head of the Party Committee office. Mr. Hu was appointed as the Supervisor of
the Company and the chairman of the Board of Supervisors since December 2019. Mr. Hu served as an employee in
the publicity department of Beijing Urban Construction Road and Bridge Group Co., Ltd. (At I EB A A]) from
July 1995 to December 1996, a newspaper reporter of Beijing Urban Construction Group Co., Ltd. from December
1996 to October 2003, and an office staff of the National Stadium project department of BUCG from October 2003
to September 2004. Mr. Hu has successively served as an employee in the publicity department, an employee and
deputy director in the manager's office, the head of the Department of Board Secretary, and the head of the Party
Committee office of BUCG since September 2004. Mr. Hu graduated from Renmin University of China (fF B AR KE2)
in July 1995 with a bachelor degree, majoring in Chinese Linguistic Literature. Mr. Hu studied in the Law School of
Renmin University of China for master’s degree in law from September 1999 to July 2002, and obtained the national
legal professional qualification certificate in 2002.

Ms. Nie Kun (FZE), aged 54, a senior accountant, Supervisor of the Company, currently serves as the first chairman
of the supervisory committee of Beijing Urban Construction Group Co., Ltd. Ms. Nie was appointed as the Supervisor
of the Company since October 2013. Ms. Nie was engaged in accounting work in the Fifth Branch of the Second
Beijing Urban Construction Engineering Company Limited (b sk =2 T2 AR A F]) from July 1992 to March
1996. She was the chief officer of the Fifth Branch of the Second Beijing Urban Construction Engineering Company
Limited from March 1996 to March 1997. She was a staff of the audit department of the Second Beijing Urban
Construction Engineering Company Limited from March 1997 to October 1999; a staff of the finance department
of BUCG Xinye Company from October 1999 to April 2000. Since May 2000, she has successively served as a staff
of the first unit of the audit department, a deputy head of the audit and investigation department, the head of the
finance department and the first chairman of the supervisory committee of BUCG. She obtained a bachelor’'s degree
of economics in investment economic management from the Central Institute of Finance ({F REFE & BEFT) in June
1992. She obtained a professional accountant certification from the Beijing Municipal Bureau of Finance (4t RTEf
B/®) in September 1995, and was recognised as a qualified internal auditor by China Association of Internal Audit
(PRI E) in December 2003. She was admitted a non-practicing member of Chinese Institute of Certified
Public Accountants in September 2010.
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Mr. Fang Binjia (FF3f£), aged 34, a Supervisor of the Company, currently serves as an employee of Beijing
Jingguorui Equity Investment Fund Management Co., Ltd. (Jt R RBIRREREEESEEBR A A]). Mr. Fang was
appointed as a Supervisor of the Company since March 2022. Mr. Fang worked in Beijing State-owned Capital
Operation Management Co., Ltd. Jt REIEERELEIRHER A F]) (formerly Beijing State-owned Capital Operation
and Management Center (It RBH &AL EEIE A L) from July 2015 to November 2021, and successively served as
the business assistant of the Fund Investment Department, the business assistant and business supervisor of the third
investment management department, and the business supervisor and business manager of the second investment
management department; since December 2021, he has worked in Beijing Jingguorui Equity Investment Fund
Management Co., Ltd. Mr. Fang obtained a bachelor’s degree in finance from Wuhan University in July 2013; and a
master’s degree in finance from Renmin University of China in July 2015.

Mr. Li Yan (Z=1&), aged 46, a Supervisor of the Company, currently serves as an employee of Beijing Jingguochuang
Fund Management Co., Ltd. JQt R REIEIESEEER A F]). Mr. Li was appointed as a Supervisor of the Company
since March 2022. From October 2003 to May 2005, Mr. Li Yan served as the product manager of the 3G product
department of UT Starcom; from June 2005 to December 2006, he served as the key account manager of the
Siemens Integration Department in Siemens Communications Group; from January 2007 to September 2009, he
served as the department manager of the business development department of Investment Beijing International Co.,
Ltd. (&1L REBE AR A R]); from September 2009 to March 2018, he served as the investment director of the
investment department of Zhongguancun Xingye Investment Management Co., Ltd. (FEIF B EZEE R HR A A);
from March 2018 to March 2019, he was the founder and general manager of Heguang Smart Energy Technology
Co., Ltd. (MIEEEEBRRIFARAQF]); from March 2019 to May 2021, he served as the managing director of
Beijing Gaojie Asset Management Co., Ltd. JtR=EEEEEABRAR]); from May 2021 to June 2023, he has
been the executive director of Beijing Rongyi Investment Management Co., Ltd., the holding subsidiary of Beijing
Jingguochuang Fund Management Co., Ltd. QbR REAIELEE AR F]); since June 2023, he has served as an
employee of Beijing Jingguochuang Fund Management Co., Ltd. Jt R RBEAIESEE AR A A]). Mr. Li graduated
with a master’s degree in electrical engineering from Western University in Canada and a bachelor’'s degree in
electrical engineering and information science from the University of Science and Technology of China.

Mr. Liu Hao (8l#%), aged 44, a senior engineer, employee representative Supervisor of the Company and the chief
engineer of the seventh design institute and the technical supervisor of Xiamen branch of the Company. Mr. Liu
was appointed as an employee representative Supervisor of the Company since August 2017. Mr. Liu has worked
successively as the designer, the director of driving station office, the technical supervisor of Xiamen branch and the
chief engineer of the seventh design institute of the Company since July 2002. In July 2002, Mr. Liu graduated from
Xi'an University of Architecture and Technology with a bachelor’s degree in general plan design and transportation
engineering. In July 2009, he obtained a master’s degree in engineering through further education in the traffic
engineering graduate class of Beijing Jiaotong University (At R 30 K E2).
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DIRECTORS, SUPERVISORS AND OTHER SENIOR MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

Ms. Yang Huiju (#7#F3%§), aged 55, a senior engineer, is an employee representative Supervisor of the Company and
the technical supervisor of Xi‘an branch of the Company. Ms. Yang was appointed as an employee representative
Supervisor of the Company since August 2017. Ms. Yang has worked as the designer of the Company and the
technical supervisor of Xi'an branch of the Company since July 1993. Ms. Yang obtained a bachelor’'s degree of
environmental engineering from Beijing Institute of Light Industry (£ 5 #8 T 2 E46%) in July 1993.

Mr. Ban Jianbo (BEf#3), aged 37, a senior economist, is an employee representative Supervisor of the Company
and the specialist in legal affairs and internal audit of the legal audit department of the Company. Mr. Ban was
appointed as an employee representative Supervisor of the Company since August 2017. Mr. Ban has worked
successively as the legal specialist of the enterprise management division and the specialist in legal affairs and
internal audit of the legal audit department of the Company since July 2012. Mr. Ban obtained a bachelor’s degree
of laws from Southwest University of Political Science and Law (FAEIBUEAZR) in July 2009, and then obtained a
master’s degree of economic law from Southwest University of Political Science and Law in June 2012. Mr. Ban was
granted with legal professional qualification by the Ministry of Justice of the People’s Republic of China (% AR
AN FEHER) in March 2011,

OTHER SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Wang Liang (E£R), aged 59, a senior engineer, is a deputy general manager of the Company and the general
manager and deputy secretary of the Party Committee of the Construction Contracting Department of the Company.
Mr. Wang acted as an assistant engineer, an engineer, the vice president, the president, the deputy director and the
director of the Ministry of Railways Design Institute from July 1986 to March 2000. He also acted as the manager of
the Shield Project Management Department of Shield Basis Branch and the assistant branch manager of BUCG from
March 2000 to March 2004; the deputy chief engineer and the assistant manager of the construction contracting
department of BUCG from March 2004 to June 2006; the deputy manager of construction contracting department
of Civil Engineering of BUCG from July 2006 to October 2012; and the manager and deputy secretary of the Party
Committee of the rail transit construction contracting department of BUCG in October 2012. In December 2012, the
rail transit construction contracting department of BUCG was restructured and consolidated into the Company, and
Mr. Wang remained in the same position. Since 16 December 2013, Mr. Wang has been serving as a deputy general
manager of the Company and he has been the general manager and deputy secretary of the Party Committee of the
Construction Contracting Department of the Company since 15 September 2015. Mr. Wang obtained a bachelor’s
degree of engineering majoring in tunnel and subway from Southwest Jiaotong University in July 1986 and an
MBA degree from Xi'an Jiaotong University in December 2003. Mr. Wang was awarded the grade-one constructor
certificate from the Ministry of Construction of the PRC in September 2007.



DIRECTORS, SUPERVISORS AND OTHER SENIOR MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

Mr. Ma Haizhi (578%), aged 57, a senior engineer, serves as the deputy general manager of the Company. Mr.
Ma served as the project supervisor, squad leader, deputy captain and deputy director of the survey team of Beijing
Urban Construction Surveying and Mapping Institute from July 1989 to March 2001; served as the director of the
surveying engineering department, assistant to the dean, executive associate dean, dean, deputy secretary of the
Party Committee, secretary of the Party Committee and chairman of Beijing Urban Construction Exploration &
Surveying Design Research Institute Co., Ltd. (AL Ik ENAIZRET AT AR EE R E]) from April 2001 to May 2016.
He has served as the chairman and secretary of the Party Committee of Beijing Urban Construction Exploration &
Surveying Design Research Institute Co., Ltd. (Jb R ENAIZR AT AR AT A A]) from May 2016 to November
2024. Mr. Ma graduated from Beijing University of Civil Engineering and Architecture in July 1989 with a bachelor’s
degree in engineering survey and obtained an executive master of business administration (EMBA) from the Tsinghua
University School of Economics and Management in July 2008. On 31 December 2021, Mr. Ma was awarded the title
of National Engineering Survey and Design Master by the Ministry of Housing and Urban-Rural Development of the
People’s Republic of China.

Mr. Liu Li (213Z), aged 57, a senior administrator of business administration, is the chief economist of the Company.
Mr. Liu was a designer of the structure department of the Beijing Urban Construction Design Institute (1bF 2K
&%) from July 1990 to October 1996; the deputy general manager of Beijing Chengrong Waterproof Material Co.,
Ltd. (At T EEBA /K #1 KB R A &) from October 1996 to October 1998; the head of operating department and the
assistant to president of Beijing Urban Construction and Design Institute (1t F3k 2 #ESE%:1F) from October 1998
to December 2002; the head of operating department and the assistant to president of Beijing Urban Construction
Design & Research Institute from December 2002 to September 2007; the vice president of the municipal department
of Beijing Urban Construction Design & Research Institute from September 2007 to September 2009. Mr. Liu has
been the deputy chief economist and the chief economist of the Company since September 2009. Mr. Liu graduated
from Beijing University of Technology (3t /= T2 X&) majoring in industrial and civil architecture in July 1990.

Mr. Xu Chengyong (#RFX7K), aged 51, a senior engineer, serves as the chief planner of the Company. From July
1995 to December 2017, Mr. Xu successively served as the designer of the Company (formerly known as Beijing
Urban Construction Design and Research Institute (1t 53R AT 3E480%)), director of Shenzhen Branch, director of
the Seventh Design Institute, deputy chief engineer, and director of the general affair department of Beijing Metro,
and vice president of the Rail Transit Institute; served as Secretary of the Party Committee and Vice President of the
Rail Transit Institute of the Company since September 2012. Mr. Xu obtained a bachelor’s degree in engineering
from Shanghai Railway University (_E/&$5 38 X 2) majoring in railway engineering in July 1995, and a master’s degree
in engineering from Beijing lJiaotong University (3t R22 A Z) majoring in transportation in August 2007. Mr. Xu
obtained the registered consulting engineer (investment) certificate from the Ministry of Human Resources and Social
Security in January 2009; and obtained the certificate of registered urban and rural planner from the Ministry of
Housing and Urban-Rural Development of the People’s Republic of China in June 2019.
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DIRECTORS, SUPERVISORS AND OTHER SENIOR MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

Mr. Lu Weidong (&), aged 53, a senior engineer, serves as the chief engineer of the Company. Mr. Lu started
his career in July 1993, and served as the designer, director of the office, deputy chief engineer, deputy chief
engineer and director of the Third Institute of Beijing Urban Construction Design and Research Institute (1t Fk &
FHAfFE48PT), deputy chief engineer and technical director of Design & Development Group (&I #EEE). He has
been the chief engineer of Beijing Urban Construction Design & Development Group Co., Limited (1t 2 &3
BEEERMDBRAFR]) since September 2022. Mr. Lu graduated from the School of Architecture and Civil Engineering
of Beijing Jiaotong University (1t 32 A E22), majoring in structure and obtaining a master’s degree in engineering.

Ms. Qian Jiahong (8% %), aged 55, a senior engineer and national registered architect (Class A), serves as the
chief architect of the Company, also acted as the general manager, director and chief architect of Beijing Institute
of Residential Building Design & Research Co., Ltd. (AR MEERERFAFELRBERAE]). Ms. Qian worked at
Beijing Institute of Chemical and Rubber Design (3t R {t TIRZBEEETFT) from July 1991 to April 1998. Since 1998,
she successively served as the professional leader, director of the office, assistant to president, deputy general
manager, deputy chief architect, general manager and chief architect of Beijing Institute of Residential Building
Design & Research Co., Ltd. (At R EEREELF I B R A a]). She has served as the chief architect of Beijing
Urban Construction Design & Development Group Co., Limited (bt R=HGERFTEREBRHBBRAF) since August
2022. Ms. Qian graduated from Southeast University and obtained a bachelor’'s degree in engineering in July 1991.
Ms. Qian is currently a member of the 14th Beijing Committee of The National Committee of the Chinese People’s
Political Consultative Conference (Bt R E+UEZE®).

Mr. Wang Chen (EE), aged 46, a senior engineer, serves as the deputy general manager of the Company, and
concurrently the deputy party secretary and president of the Rail Transit Design & Research Institute (#3832 R
Ftht) of the Company. Mr. Wang was engaged in design in the Third Design Institute under the Rail Transit Design
& Research Institute of Beijing Urban Construction Design & Development Group Co., Limited (It IR R 3EEE
ED AR AR (the predecessor of which is Beijing Urban Construction Design and Research Institute (1t FHiE
SRETZR48FE)) from July 2003 to May 2010, and successively served as the deputy chief engineer, chief engineer
and president of the Rail Transit Design & Research Institute Changchun Sub-institute of Beijing Urban Construction
Design & Development Group Co., Limited from May 2010 to May 2014. He concurrently served as the party branch
secretary of Changchun Sub-institute in March 2015, deputy president of the Rail Transit Design & Research Institute
in August 2018, general manager of Beijing Urban Construction Design & Development Group Co., Limited North
East Branch in July 2019. He has been the deputy party secretary and president of the Rail Transit Design & Research
Institute of Beijing Urban Construction Design & Development Group Co., Limited since January 2021, and the
deputy general manager of Beijing Urban Construction Design & Development Group Co., Limited since January
2024. Mr. Wang obtained a bachelor’s degree in engineering majoring in structural engineering from Harbin Institute
of Technology in July 2001 and a master’s degree in structural engineering from Harbin Institute of Technology July
2003.



DIRECTORS, SUPERVISORS AND OTHER SENIOR MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

Ms. Shen Jia (Jtf¥), aged 49, a senior engineer, serves as the deputy general manager of the Company, and
concurrently the president of the City Design Research Institute (M aaH#%Cht) of the Company. Ms. Shen
worked for the China Southwest Architectural Design and Research Institute (FF B SE7GRIZEHAF5EFT), which is
primarily engaged architectural design business, engaging in architectural design from July 1996 to August 2003;
worked for Beijing Urban Construction Design & Development Group Co., Limited engaging in architectural design
from June 2005 to August 2013; and has successively served as the deputy chief architect of the First Design
and Development Centre and the director of the Second Construction Office, the director of the Technological
Quality Office of the City Design Research Institute, the deputy president of the City Design & Research Institute in
Beijing Urban Construction Design & Development Group Co., Limited (the predecessor of which is Beijing Urban
Construction Design & Research Institute) since 2013. She has been the deputy general manager of Beijing Urban
Construction Design & Development Group Co., Limited since January 2024. Ms. Shen obtained a bachelor’'s degree
in engineering majoring in landscape architecture from Wuhan Institute of Urban Construction in June 1996 and a
master’s degree in Architecture from Tsinghua University in June 2005. Ms. Shen was qualified as Grade-1 Certified
Architects conferred by the National Administrative Committee of Certified Architects (2R MEZEAMEIEZES) in
April 2009.

Ms. Yang Yongjie (#%7K&), aged 46, a senior accountant, serves as the chief accountant of the Company. Ms.
Yang worked as an accountant in the financial department of Beijing Urban Construction North Construction
Co., Ltd. from July 2002 to October 2004; served as the financial manager of Beijing City Science Real Estate
Development Co., Ltd. from October 2004 to January 2007; acted as the head of financial department for Beijing
urban construction Land Company from January 2007 to July 2010; acted as the chief accountant of Beijing
Changging International Senior Apartment Co., Ltd. from July 2010 to September 2013; acted as the chief
accountant of Beiyuan Project Development Department of Beijing Urban Construction Group Co., Ltd. from
September 2013 to May 2016; served as the chief accountant of Beiyuan Project Development Department of Beijing
Urban Construction Group Co., Ltd., and as the director, deputy chief accountant as well as manager of financial
management department of Beijing Shiyuan Investment Development Co., Ltd. from May 2016 to September
2018; successively acted as the director, chief accountant and member of the Party Committee of Beijing Shiyuan
Investment and Development Co., Ltd., the supervisor and executive director under Beijing Shiyuan Asset Operation
and Management Co., Ltd. from September 2018 to August 2021; has served as a deputy head of the financial
management department of Beijing Urban Construction Group Co., Ltd. from August 2021 to November 2021. She
acted as the chief accountant of Beijing Urban Construction Zhikong Technology Co., Ltd. from November 2021 to
February 2024; served as chief accountant of the International Division of Beijing Urban Construction Group Co.,
Ltd. from February 2024 to December 2024; has served as the chief accountant of Beijing Urban Construction Design
and Development Group Co., Ltd. since December 2024. Ms. Yang obtained a bachelor’s degree in Accounting
from Harbin University of Commerce in July 2002. She obtained a master’s degree in finance from the University of
International Business and Economics in January 2015.
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DIRECTORS, SUPERVISORS AND OTHER SENIOR MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

Mr. Xuan Wenchang (ZX &), aged 56, a senior accountant, serves as the secretary of the Board of the Company.
Mr. Xuan worked with the 4th department of the No. 3 China Railway from July 1990 to December 1992; acted as
the project financial manager for the Second Beijing Urban Construction Engineering Company Limited (At R¥E—
R TIEAFRAF]) from December 1992 to September 2000; acted as a manager under the finance department of
Beiyuan Hotel of BUCG from September 2000 to September 2006; worked at Beijing Urban Construction Investment
Management Company from September 2006 to April 2008 (during which acted as the chief financial officer for
Beijing Haiya Jinyuan Environmental Protection Co., Ltd. from September 2006 to February 2008); has acted as
the deputy chief accountant of the Company from June 2008 to December 2017; acted as the head of the Listing
Preparation Office of the Company from August 2011 to October 2014; and has acted as the secretary of the Board
and company secretary of the Company since December 2013. Mr. Xuan graduated in Finance and Accounting
from Shanghai Institute of Railway Sciences, Shanghai in July 1990, and obtained an executive master of business
administration from Renmin University of China. In June 2013, Mr. Xuan became a certified management accountant
of the Institute of Certified Management Accountants in the U.S.

Mr. Yang Zhenyu (%B#&F), aged 51, is the General Counsel of the Company. Mr. Yang has successively served as
the Deputy General Counsel and General Counsel of the Company since July 2019. Mr. Yang worked at the project
management office of Beijing Urban Construction No. 1 Corporation (1t ®33ZE—728]) from July 1994 to June 2001;
successively acted as the deputy director and director of the legal affairs department of Beijing Urban Construction
No. 1 Construction & Engineering Corporation (At RIE—ZHZITIEBMR A E]) from July 2001 to May 2006, and
also acted as a general manager of Beijing Keyuan Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. Gt REREHERZERA
Al) from October 2005 to May 2006. From June 2006 to September 2007, he served as the general counsel and
director of the legal affairs department of Beijing Urban Construction Engineering Co., Ltd. At RMEERTEER
A7]) and also the general manager of Beijing Keyuan Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. Gt ZENRFEHERZEER A
A]). From October 2007 to October 2009, he successively served as the leader of the Qingdao project team and the
business manager under the project development department of Beijing Urban Construction Investment Development
Co., Limited (At R EREZEER /DA A 7]). From November 2009 to June 2010, he acted as the deputy general
manager of Beijing Urban Construction Xingda Investment Development Co., Ltd. (L RMEEZELEHREBRA
A]). He served as the assistant to general manager of Beijing Urban Construction Xinghua Real Estate Co., Ltd. (it
FREEEMEARR A R]) from July 2010 to July 2019, and successively served as the deputy manager and manager
of Qingdao Jingcheng Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. (E&RMEMEMRIEABRAF]) from July 2010 to April
2012. Mr. Yang obtained a bachelor’s degree in law from China University of Political Science and Law in July 2012.
Mr. Yang obtained Enterprise Legal Adviser Qualification Certificate as approved and issued by Ministry of Human
Resource and Social Security, State-owned Assets Supervision and Administration Commission and Ministry of Justice
in October 2004, and was granted the qualification of second-level legal adviser to state-owned enterprises upon the
evaluation of the State-owned Assets Supervision and Administration Commission of Beijing in December 2012.



REPORT OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board of Directors presents this report together with the audited financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2024.

BUSINESS REVIEW
Principal Business

The Group is principally engaged in the design, survey and consultancy businesses (mainly the provision of services
for urban rail transit, industrial and civil construction and municipal engineering projects) and construction
contracting business (mainly focusing on construction projects in the urban rail transit industry).

Operating Results and Financial Position

During the Reporting Period, the Company faced up to the complex internal and external situation, focused on
development, and steadily promoted the high-quality development of the Company. For the year ended 31 December
2024, the Company recorded revenue of RMB8,658 million, a decrease of RMB1,704 million or 16.44% from the
corresponding period of last year. In particular, revenue from the design, survey and consultancy business segment
amounted to RMB4,383 million, and revenue from the construction general contracting business was RMB4,275
million.

In line with its own development strategic plan for the “14th Five-Year Plan” period, the Company will give full
play to the synergetic advantages of the whole industrial chain, open up new models, new fields and new tracks
to strengthen market expansion, transformation and upgrading, efficiency enhancement from operation and
management improvement, which help accelerate the construction of a new development pattern. Also, we will
adhere to the corporate vision of “becoming an integrated service provider of urban construction directed by
design”. We will continue to expand design consultancy business, strengthen construction general contracting and
expand new businesses, so as to maintain reasonable growth in quantity, accelerate the effective improvement of
quality and promote our steady and high-quality development.
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REPORT OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

Focusing on our main business and steadily promoting market expansion. In terms of rail transit, the
Company remained at the top of the industry. We won the bids for 6 overall design contracting projects, including
Beijing Line R4 Phase | (North Section), Line R6 Phase I, Line 11 Phase I, Line 19 Phase Il, Line 25 Phase Il and
Shenzhen Line 27; undertook the project of Changchun Line 3, which is the first existing line in the country that
has been suspended for renovation; and obtained the consultation project for the Fuping-Xianyang Airport Railway
in the Guanzhong Urban Cluster. In terms of survey business, the Company recorded a substantial enhancement
in business operations. Throughout the year, our new contracts amounted to RMB2.6 billion, doubling the number
of the previous year. The Company won the bid for the survey task in respect of 4 metro lines in Shenzhen, and
undertook the geological disaster control project in Fangshan District, which is the largest one in our history, with an
amount of RMB1 billion. The contract amount from new sectors such as surface subsidence, ecological afforestation
and hydrological monitoring closed to RMB1.5 billion. In terms of civil construction and municipal businesses,
the Company made new progress. The performance of the residence business was strong against the trend. We
maintained the largest market share in the Beijing market, and won the bid for the largest design contract in the
field of autonomous driving in Beijing, with an amount of RMB60 million. While entering more than 10 new sectors
such as photovoltaic power, airport, supercomputing center, pressure pipeline, first-grade highway, super-large
bridge on the highway and long underground tunnel for the first time, we recorded faster growth in the businesses
of evaluation and review, cost consultation, consultation in respect of customer flow increase and full-process
consultation, with the amount of new contracts over RMB70 million. In terms of construction contracting
business, the Company achieved steady development. We won the bids for the projects of Branch Line of Beijing
Line 1, Line M101 and Hongmiao Station of Line 14, expanded the maintenance project of Nanjing Line 5, and
undertook the EPC projects of Beijing Municipal Commission for Discipline Inspection, Zhongguancun Dongpan
Science and Technology Innovation Center and fitting-out works for affordable housing in Lanzhou, the supporting
project of Chongging Bishan-Tonglian Line and the intermediate maintenance task of Kunming Metro Line 4. In
terms of science and technology industrialization, the Company made new breakthroughs. We obtained the
first order for energy storage products, and successfully launched the “urban simulation” big data platform in the
online bus system of Yinchuan. Our digital products won the bid for the Chongqging Smart Health Industrial Park. We
also achieved a breakthrough in the amount of tunnel segment supply contract, and continued to secure the orders
for interior industrial products. In terms of international business, the Company tapped into new markets. It was
the first time for the Company to enter the urban rail market in Africa. We obtained the railway supervising project
in Egypt, and won the bids for the design of airport hangar in Ulaanbaatar, Mongolia, the BIM project of Singapore
Cross Island Line (Phase II), road survey in Barbados and the design of airport office buildings and commercial
complexes in the UAE.



REPORT OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

Focusing on key projects and enhancing our contract performance services. In terms of survey, design
and consultancy business, 8 overall rail transit design projects were put into operation, including Beijing Line 3
Phase I, the first phase of the south extension of Changping Line, Xi'an Line 10 Phase I, Xi'an tramcar line, the south
extension of Hefei Line 4, the Branch Line of Shaoxing Line 1, Changchun Line 6 and Chengdu Line 27 Phase I.
Besides, the bridge connecting the full light rail line in Kazakhstan was completed. Civil construction and municipal
design projects, including Beijing Affordable Housing Center, old community renovation in Zhongguancun, the
geological disaster control project in Fangshan District and Dongchi Road, Yizhuang, were steadily promoted. In
terms of engineering construction, our projects were developed on a high standard. The project of Chongging
Bishan-Tonglian Line, a suburban railroad invested and constructed by the Company, commenced operation on
schedule. Section 07 of Beijing Line 12 was successfully opened, and the delivery of three stations and all sections
of Guangzhou Line 10 was completed. The main structure of the south extension station of Beijing Line 6 was
completed, and the construction of Section 01 of the north extension of Beijing Daxing Airport Line, the Lize
Terminal integrated project, 2 sections of Line 13 and 4 sections of Line 22 was advanced in an orderly manner. In
terms of operation and maintenance, the projects were operated safely and steadily. All operating indicators of
Kunming Metro Line 4 were sound, with the total number of passengers exceeding 200 million since its opening,
ranking first among Kunming metros in evaluation over the years. The brand influence of East Mount Huangshan
Cultural Tourism District was gradually enhanced, Zhuzhou Smart Rail was operated on a high standard, and
municipal roads were under stable operation and maintenance.

Focusing on innovation and empowerment and injecting new impetus into comprehensive capabilities. The
signing of the first “Urban Underground Space Geological Big Data” trading product in the country has taken place.
Two items have been selected into the first batch of innovative application scenarios for intelligent construction
in Beijing, and two items are original technologies of the State-owned Assets Supervision and Administration
Commission of Beijing Municipality. It has won 57 scientific and technological awards, including the first prize of the
Beijing Science and Technology Progress Award and national key science and technology demonstration projects, as
well as 48 excellent survey and design awards and project excellence awards at the national and provincial levels. A
total of 270 patents and computer software copyrights have been obtained. Eighteen national and local standards
have been compiled, and 14 new standard formulation projects as the lead compiler have been approved. One more
“specialized, refined, distinctive and innovative” small and medium-sized enterprise has been added. The leading
talent team has been continuously expanding, with one additional expert enjoying the special allowance from the
State Council and one young Beijing scholar being added.
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REPORT OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

Focusing on reform and innovation to promote the high-quality development of the Company. In terms
of financing management, the Company has achieved remarkable results. The corporate entity maintains a
good credit standing, and the total bank credit has increased to RMB25.5 billion. The financing structure has
been continuously optimized, with the issuance of RMB500 million of medium-term notes and RMB700 million
of ultra-short-term financing bonds. The interest-bearing liabilities have been continuously decreasing, and the
comprehensive financing cost has decreased by 25 basis points compared with the previous year. In terms of
operation management, the Company has been continuously strengthening its foundation. The bidding and
procurement as well as contract management have been continuously standardized. The operation control system
has been increasingly improved. The special settlement work has been solidly promoted. The pressure of the scale of
“two funds” has been continuously relieved. The compliance management system has been effectively implemented,
the work of legal construction has been continuously improved, and the credit construction has been continuously
strengthened. The Company has obtained the Second Grade General Contracting Qualification for Electric
Power Engineering Construction, the Second Grade Professional Contracting Qualification for Transmission and
Transformation Engineering, and the Class A Credit Standing for Energy Conservation. It has also won the AAA-level
credit evaluation from the China Engineering Consulting Association. The work in administration, maintaining social
stability, property management, public opinion, and network information security has been carried out solidly.

Financial Highlights and Discussion and Analysis of Operating Results and Financial
Position

A summary of the results, assets and liabilities of the Group for the last five financial years is set out on page 5
of this report. Please refer to the section headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” of this report for the
discussion and analysis of the operating results and financial position of the Company.

Major Risks and Uncertainties

Risks on Macro Policy

2024 was a crucial year for achieving the goals and tasks of the 14th Five-Year Plan. China’s economic development
faced a complex and severe situation with increased external pressures and more internal difficulties. The

international environment was intricate and complex. The growth momentum of the world economy was weak,
geopolitical conflicts were intensifying, and trade protectionism was becoming more rampant, affecting the stability



REPORT OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

of the global industrial chain and supply chain. However, there were still many favorable factors. Global trade still
had strong resilience, and global scientific and technological innovation had entered a period of intensive and active
development. Major frontier technologies such as artificial intelligence, quantum technology, biotechnology, and
new energy technology were accelerating their iterative development, presenting new opportunities for cultivating
new economic growth points and promoting in-depth transformation of the industrial structure. At the same time,
there was insufficient effective domestic demand, and there were pains in the transformation of old and new
drivers of growth. Affected by the superposition of domestic and foreign unfavorable factors, the construction
industry and survey and design, after decades of high-speed development, were experiencing a period of low-speed
growth. Facing the severe environment, the country coordinated the domestic and international situations, calmly
responded to changes, and implemented comprehensive policies. Adhering to the general tone of seeking progress
while maintaining stability, it fully, accurately, and comprehensively implemented the new development concept,
accelerated the construction of a new development pattern, promptly deployed and introduced a package of
incremental policies, effectively boosted social confidence, and significantly revived the economy. The main goals and
tasks of economic and social development were successfully completed. The national economy operated generally
stably and made progress while maintaining stability, and new progress was achieved in high-quality development.
Global climate change poses severe challenges. China has put forward the goals of “carbon peaking and carbon
neutrality”. As an important pillar industry, the green and low-carbon development of the rail transit industry is of
great significance for achieving national strategic goals. The industry will carry out technological innovation around
clean energy and environmental protection standards to promote the construction of an ecological transportation
network. At the same time, various emerging forms of rail transit, such as high-speed maglev railways, medium
and low-speed maglev systems, and maglev bus systems, are under development. These forms not only enrich the
application scenarios of rail transit but also better meet the needs of social and economic development in the new
era.
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REPORT OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

Countermeasures: the Company shall keep a close eye on the new economic policies in China, actively communicate
with relevant national authorities, monitor national political, economic, industrial, legal, environmental and other
information, further maintain strategic focus, work harder under pressure, explore the market, promote reform
and innovation to enhance quality and efficiency, strengthen risk management and control, respond to national
strategies, and exert great efforts on the research and prediction of market trends. Moreover, the Company will
think broadly, make dynamic adjustments to the Company’s development plan, continuously consolidate the market
position in the industry, develop and innovate in business models and business fields, make joint efforts to synergize
the relationship between various industries, so as to continuously optimize the standards to improve product quality
to cope with risks, thereby continuously enhancing the competitiveness of the entire industrial chain.

Exchange Rate Risks

In the continuous operation of the Company’s overseas business, significant fluctuations in exchange rates may lead
to various risks, such as the foreign exchange transaction risk from transactions denominated in foreign currencies
due to the different exchange rates on the transaction date and the settlement date, and the risk of changes in the
value of overseas business due to the fluctuations in exchange rates, etc.

Countermeasures: the Company shall enhance the awareness of risk prevention in relevant staff of the Company,
transform the operation ideas, and take initiatives to respond to various exchange rate risks; meanwhile, the
Company shall pay close attention to changes of domestic and overseas financial markets, and establish exchange
rate risks prevention mechanism in each link.

Risks in Market Competitions

The overall rail transit market remains grim, with the industry competition landscape shaped by multiple factors
including policy orientations, regional economic development, and urban planning. Government commitment to rail
transit infrastructure investment, regional economic vitality, and urban spatial planning all exert significant influence
on the industry. Central and large state-owned enterprises dominate the market with strong financial strength,
advanced technological capabilities, and established competitive advantages, thereby maintaining their leading
market share.
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Countermeasures: The Company will establish ten marketing centers to intensify marketing efforts in urban rail
transit while actively pursuing projects backed by national ultra-long-term government bonds, including the “Major
National Strategies and Key Security Capacity Building and Large-scale Equipment Renewal and Consumer Goods
Trade-in” initiatives, as well as projects supported by local government special bonds. By broadening its market
scope and extending its industry chain, the Company seeks to unlock new business opportunities in emerging
market. In response to the challenging market environment, the Company will foster a strong sense of urgency and
accountability, strengthening crisis awareness and promoting proactive initiative. It will mobilize all employees to
drive market expansion through concerted efforts. Meanwhile, the Company will conduct in-depth research on new
industries and fields to identify entry opportunities precisely, refine its strategic direction, and implement forward-
looking plans in a timely manner to gain a foothold in emerging businesses.

Future Development Prospects

2025 marks the final year of the “14th Five-Year Plan” and the first year of the “15th Five-Year Plan”. The Company
must seize policy opportunities, set clear strategic directions, and implement targeted measures with a pragmatic
approach to ensure effective execution and drive sustainable growth. Therefore, the Company will make every
effort to expand its market presence by supporting the establishment of the ten national marketing centres, thereby
promoting coordinated growth throughout the industry chain. While maintaining its position in the railway design
sector, the Company will intensify its efforts in the existing railway renovation market and leverage its strengths
to promote breakthroughs in the EPC model. It will also make effective use of various resources to facilitate
the steady growth of its overseas business. At the same time, the Company will accelerate the development of
emerging businesses by capitalising on the major policy benefits of urban regeneration and exploring opportunities
in the renovation of ageing housing estates, urban lifeline projects and environmental management. In addition,
the Company will make every effort to achieve breakthroughs in railway energy storage and actively promote the
commercialisation of technology products. In addition, the Company will adhere to a prudent investment strategy
by continuing to explore new investment and financing models, while improving management practices by further
strengthening internal controls. Finally, it will strengthen the management chain with a rigorous and pragmatic
approach to promote high-quality development.

The Company will fully put into practice the national decisions and deployments, comply with the requirements of
relevant policies such as “a powerhouse in transportation”, “new infrastructure”, “carbon neutrality” and “carbon
peaking”, etc., and accelerate the construction of a new development pattern; strengthen the leading role in the
development of the rail transit industry chain, and promote the construction of new infrastructure such as national
intercity railways and urban rail transit. Moreover, the Company will continuously strengthen the value management
of the entire industry chain, enhance social influence in all aspects by focusing on promoting industry influence, and
exert great efforts on the performance of project contracts to shape a brand image. For a discussion on the future
business development of the Company, please refer to the section headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” in
this report.

Q3LINMT "0D dNOY¥YD ININGOTIAIA B NDISIA NOILDNYLSNOD NVEdN DONIf3d

720 L4043 TVNNNV




d3LINMN 0D dNOYD ININKOTIAIA B NDISIA NOILDNYLSNOD NvEdN ONIf3d

7207 L40d3Y TVNNNV

REPORT OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

CORPORATE QUALITY, ENVIRONMENTAL AND OCCUPATIONAL
HEALTH AND SAFETY POLICY AND PERFORMANCE

Based on GB/T19001-2016/I1S09001:2015 “Quality Management System Requirements”, GB/T50430-2017 "“Code
for Quality Management of Engineering Construction Enterprises”, GB/T24001-2016/1SO14001:2015 “Environmental
Management System Requirements with Guidance for Use”, GB/T45001-2020/1ISO45001:2018 “Occupational Health
and Safety Management System Requirements with Guidance for Use” standards, the Company established quality,
environmental and occupational health and safety management systems, covering the Company’s engineering
consulting, engineering design, general contracting of municipal public projects construction, general contracting of
architecture engineering and other businesses, and established quality management systems for engineering survey,
geotechnical engineering (investigation, design, geophysical testing, detection and monitoring). The Company
attached importance to the management construction work of the three systems to ensure that all projects within
the scope of system certification were organized in strict accordance with the management system requirements and
product quality met the requirements and would steadily improve. The Company accepted and successfully passed
the audit of the third party Beijing ZhongShe Certification Service Co., Ltd. every year, which fully affirmed our
management concept and management effectiveness.

In 2024, the Company continued to monitor and analyze the internal and external environment, identify risks and
grasp opportunities in response to the changes in the external environment, and focus on innovation and leadership
as well as system construction. There were no major quality and safety accidents, customers were satisfied with
product quality, the Company conducted compliance evaluation in accordance with the compliance of environmental
and occupational health and safety laws and regulations as required, and there were no violations of laws and
regulations, or environmental pollution and occupational health accidents.

COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND REGULATIONS OF
MAJOR CONCERNS

The Company continues to adhere to the principle of compliance operation in accordance with laws and regulations,
and it strictly complies with various relevant laws and regulations of China, industry rules and the Hong Kong Listing
Rules for the regulation of its operations. During the Reporting Period, there was no material breach of laws and
provisions, and no penalty was imposed.
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The Company has always been committed to fulfilling its corporate and social responsibilities, attaches great
importance to occupational health and safety production, deeply operates the Occupational Health and Safety
Management System (GB/T45001-2020/ISO45001:2018), and continuously supervises and optimizes it to builds a
solid foundation for the safety and health of its employees. The Company has been awarded the title of “Benchmark
Enterprise for Safety Production Standardization” in Beijing.

The Company regularly conducts safety publicity, education and training. Through forms such as special business
training and the promotion and implementation of laws and regulations, it improves employees’ safety awareness
and skill levels. The Company has established a comprehensive safety production responsibility system and safety
production rules and regulations, reinforcing accountability at all levels. The Company has developed a dual
prevention mechanism combining risk classification and control with hidden hazard identification, enabling precise
risk mitigation and closed-loop rectification of hazards to enhance overall safety production standards.

During the “Safety Production Month” and “Fire Safety Awareness Month”, the Company organized various
activities such as safety information day, safety knowledge competitions, firefighting skills competitions, safety
production inspections, and comprehensive emergency response drills, with an aim to enhance the Company’s safety
production capabilities, strengthen the implementation of its primary responsibility for safety production, and foster
a safe, efficient, and sustainable production environment.

During the Reporting Period, the Company had no production safety accidents.
Material Relationships between Employees, Clients and Suppliers

As an intelligence-intensive enterprise, employees are the key to success for the Company. The Company takes
efforts to provide a favorable working environment and has established a fair training and promotion system for its
staff. It provides competitive remuneration and benefit package (including but not limited to salaries, allowances
and benefits in kind, performance-related bonuses, pension schemes, etc.) as well as various training programmes
to continuously attract talents to serve for the Company, and provides a platform for its employees to display their
talents.
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The Company focuses on serving its customers and provides its customers with urban rail transit design general
contracting services in respect of design, survey and consultancy business segments. As for the construction
contracting business segment, customers are offered with urban rail transit construction general contracting services
and services regarding construction, operation and delivery of municipal roads. The five largest customers in each
of the segments of the Company are state-owned construction management companies, which have long-term
good business and cooperation relationships with the Company. The five largest suppliers have good cooperation
relationships with the Company and primarily provide professional sub-contracting services and machinery equipment
for the rail transit construction contracting business for the Company. For relationships between the Company and
major customers and suppliers, please refer to the section headed “Major Customers and Suppliers” below.

RESULTS AND DIVIDEND

The results of the Group for the Year are set out in the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and the
Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income on pages 122 to 123 of this report.

On 26 March 2025, the Board proposed the distribution of a final dividend of RMB0.1077 per share (before
applicable tax) for the year, after the appropriations of the statutory surplus reserve according to the relevant
regulations. The proposal for the payment of the final dividend is subject to the approval of shareholders of the
Company at the 2024 annual general meeting to be held on 16 June 2025. If approved, it is expected that dividend
will be paid to the shareholders whose names appear on the register of shareholders of the Company dated 27 June
2025 before 28 August 2025.

The register of members of the Company will be closed from Wednesday, 11 June 2025 to Monday, 16 June 2025
(both days inclusive), during which period no transfer of Shares will be registered. Holders of H Shares and Domestic
Shares whose names appear on the register of members of the Company as at Monday, 16 June 2025 shall be
entitled to attend and vote at this annual general meeting. Holders of H Shares who wish to attend and vote at this
annual general meeting shall lodge all transfer documents accompanied by the relevant H Share certificates with the
Company’s H Share Registrar, Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, at 17M Floor, Hopewell Centre,
183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong, no later than 4:30 p.m. on Tuesday, 10 June 2025 for registration.
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The H Shares register of members of the Company will be closed from Tuesday, 24 June 2025 to Friday, 27 June
2025 (both days inclusive). In order to be entitled to the final dividend, holders of H Shares of the Company must
lodge all the transfer documents accompanied by the relevant H Share certificates with the Company’s H Share
Registrar, Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, at Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre,
183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong, by 4:30 p.m. on Monday, 23 June 2025.

In accordance with Article 164 of the Articles of Association, the dividend will be declared in RMB to the
shareholders of the Company. The dividend payable to holders of Domestic Shares will be paid in RMB within three
months after the dividend declaration date. The dividend payable to holders of H Shares will be paid in Hong Kong
dollars within three months after the dividend declaration date. The amount to be paid in Hong Kong dollars will be
converted based on the average closing exchange rate between RMB and Hong Kong dollars issued by the People’s
Bank of China for the five business days prior to the date of approving the declaration of dividend at the 2024
annual general meeting to be held on 16 June 2025.

The Board is not aware of any shareholders who has waived or agreed to waive any dividend.

PROFIT DISTRIBUTION POLICY

The Company distributes dividends in cash, in shares or in a combination of both cash and shares in accordance with
the requirement of Articles of Association every year, of which the profit distribution in cash shall be given priority.
The Company maintains the continuity and stability of the Company’s profit distribution policy. The Company
evaluates its profit distribution policy and the distribution in any specific year in light of their financial circumstances
after due consideration of the returns of all Shareholders, long-term interests and sustainable development of the
Company.

The Company shall calculate, declare and pay dividends and other amounts which are payable to holders of
Domestic Shares in Renminbi within three months after the date of declaration. The Company shall calculate, declare
and pay dividends and other payments which are payable to holders of foreign shares in Renminbi, and shall pay
such amounts in foreign currency within three months after the date of declaration. The exchange rate shall be the
average closing rate for the relevant foreign currency announced by the People’s Bank of China five working days
prior to the announcement of payment of dividend and other amounts. The Company shall pay foreign currency
to holders of foreign shares in accordance with the relevant foreign exchange control regulations of the State. The
distribution of dividends should be implemented by the Board under the authorisation of the general meeting by
ordinary resolutions.
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If the operation of the Company is materially affected as a result of war, natural disasters and other force majeure
and significant changes in regulatory policies, or any change in its external operating environment, or there are any
significant changes in its own operating conditions, the Company may adjust its profit distribution policy.

The Company will adjust its profit distribution policy after monographic studies by the Board and submit its relevant
resolutions to the Shareholders’ general meeting for consideration and approval.

WITHHOLDING AND PAYMENT OF FINAL DIVIDEND INCOME TAX

Withholding and Payment of Enterprise Income tax on Behalf of Overseas Non-resident
Enterprises

Pursuant to the Enterprise Income Tax Law of the PRC {(F#E AR KEFBMEFEFFIE)) and its implementing rules
(hereinafter collectively referred to as the “EIT Law"), the tax rate of the enterprise income tax applicable to the
income of non-resident enterprise deriving from the PRC is 10%. For this purpose, any H Shares registered under the
name of non-individual enterprise, including the H Shares registered under the name of HKSCC Nominees Limited,
other nominees or trustees, or other organizations or entities, shall be deemed as shares held by non-resident
enterprise shareholders (as defined under the EIT Law). The Company will distribute the final dividend to non-resident
enterprise shareholders subject to a deduction of 10% enterprise income tax withheld and paid by the Company on
their behalf.

Withholding and Payment of Individual Income Tax on Behalf of Overseas Individual
Shareholders

Pursuant to the Notice on Issues Relating to Individual Income Tax after the Abolishment of Guo Shui Fa [1993] No.
045 ((BIRABIFEEE[1993]045 SEXFREILA B BEAFTSHEAEMBERNBA)) published by the State Administration
of Taxation, when overseas resident individual shareholders holding H Shares obtained dividend and/or bonus shares
from the non-foreign invested enterprises incorporated in the PRC that issue H Shares in Hong Kong, the individual
income tax is usually withheld at a uniform rate of 10%. The specific rate applied to overseas resident individual
shareholders may be different according to his/her residential status and the tax treaties signed between the country
of his/her residence and the PRC.
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Should the holders of H Shares have any doubt as to the aforesaid arrangements, they are recommended to
consult their own tax advisors on the relevant tax impact in China, Hong Kong and other countries (regions) on the
possession and disposal of H Shares.

DIRECTORS, SUPERVISORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Details of the Directors, Supervisors and senior management of the Company are set out from pages 30 to 44 of this
report.

CHANGES OF DIRECTORS, SUPERVISORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

Changes of Directors
At the Board meeting held on 8 March 2024, Mr. Li Guoging was appointed as the vice chairman of the third
session of the Board by the Board, and his role on the Board has been adjusted from an executive Director to a

non-executive Director in accordance with the work arrangement.

Mr. Wang Hanjun has ceased to serve as an executive Director of the Company due to retirement, effective from 22
October 2024.

At the 2024 third extraordinary general meeting of shareholders held on 15 November 2024, Mr. Xia Xiujiang
was appointed as an executive Director of the Company, with immediate effect. Mr. Xia Xiujiang has obtained the
legal advice specified in Rule 3.09D of the Hong Kong Listing Rules on 15 November 2024, and confirmed that he

understands his responsibilities as a director of the listed issuer.

Details of the above changes are set out in the Company’s announcements dated 8 March 2024, 22 October 2024,
25 October 2024 and 15 November 2024, as well as the Company’s circular dated 30 October 2024.

Changes of Supervisors
There were no changes in the members of the Board of Supervisors during the Reporting Period.
Change of the Chairman of the Board

The Board elected Mr. Li Guoging as the vice chairman of the third session of the Board at the Board meeting held
on 8 March 2024, with immediate effect.
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Appointment of Members of Board Committees
Nomination Committee

Chairman: Pei Hongwei
Members: Wang Guofeng, Qin Guisheng

Audit Committee

Chairman: Xia Peng
Members: Qin Guisheng, Peng Dongdong

Remuneration Committee

Chairman: Wang Guofeng
Members: Ma Xufei, Wang Tao

Overseas Risk Control Committee

Chairman: Pei Hongwei
Members: Li Guoging, Xia Xiujiang

Change of the Chairman of the Board of Supervisors
There was no change of the chairman of the Board of Supervisors during the Reporting Period.
Change of Senior Management

At the Board meeting held on 9 January 2024, Mr. Wang Cheng and Ms. Shen Jia were appointed as the deputy
general managers of the Company, and Mr. Jin Huai ceased to hold such position, with immediate effect.

At the Board meeting held on 22 July 2024, Mr. Xia Xiujiang ceased to act as the deputy general manager of
the Company due to a change in position. Mr. Yin Zhiguo ceased to serve as the deputy general manager of the
Company due to work adjustment.
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Mr. Wang Hanjun ceased to serve as the general manager of the Company due to retirement, effective from 22
October 2024.

At the Board meeting held on 25 October 2024, Mr. Xia Xiujiang was appointed as the general manager of the
Company, with immediate effect.

At the Board meeting held on 19 December 2024, Ms. Yang Yongjie was appointed as the chief accountant of the
Company, and Mr. Xiao Mujun ceased to hold the position, with immediate effect.

At the Board meeting held on 3 January 2025, Mr. Yu Songwei ceased to act as the deputy general manager of the
Company due to work arrangement.

FINANCIAL, BUSINESS AND FAMILY RELATIONSHIPS AMONG
DIRECTORS, SUPERVISORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Save as disclosed in this annual report, the Company is not aware of any other financial, business, family or other
material or relevant relationships among the Directors, Supervisors and senior management of the Company.

SERVICE CONTRACTS OF DIRECTORS AND SUPERVISORS

The Company did not enter into any service contracts, which are not determined by the Company within one year
without payment of compensation (other than statutory compensation), with the Directors and Supervisors.

PENALTIES OR INVESTIGATIONS OF DIRECTORS AND
SUPERVISORS OF THE COMPANY

During the Reporting Period, no Directors or Supervisors of the Company has been subject to penalties or
investigations by competent authorities causing a material impact on the operations of the Company.

DIRECTORS’ AND SUPERVISORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS, AND CONTRACTS

For the year ended 31 December 2024, there was no transaction, arrangement and contract of significance to
which the Company, its holding company, its subsidiary or a fellow subsidiary was a party and in which a Director,
Supervisor or their connected entity has or had at any time during that period, in any way, whether directly or
indirectly, a material interest.
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THE INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF DIRECTORS,
SUPERVISORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE IN THE SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY AND
ITS ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

As at 31 December 2024, the interests and short positions of the Directors, Supervisors and chief executive of the
Company in the Shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company and its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance) as notified to the Company and the Hong Kong
Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO or as recorded in the register required to be
kept under Section 352 of the Securities and Futures Ordinance or as otherwise notified to the Company and the

d3LIAM 0D dNOYD ININDOTIAIA B NDISIA NOILDNYLSNOD Nvadn ONIf3g

7207 L4043 TVNNNV

60

Hong Kong Stock Exchange pursuant to the requirements of the Model Code, were as follows:

Approximate

percentage  Approximate

of total percentage

issued Share of total

Class of Number of  Nature of capital of  issued Share

Position Capacity  Shares Shares interests H Share capital

(%) (%)

Li Guoging Vice chairman and Personal H Share 48,000 Long 0.01 0.004
non-executive Director interest position
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Notes:

1. Mr. Li Guoging subscribed for 1,000,000 Domestic Shares under a key employee stock ownership scheme
and Mr. Xia Xiujiang subscribed for 620,000 Domestic Shares under the employee stock ownership scheme
on 29 December 2017. Mr. Xia Xiujiang increased his subscription to 1,000,000 Domestic Shares under the
employee stock ownership scheme on 27 January 2025.

2. Mr. Wang Hanjun has ceased to be an executive Director and the general manager of the Company due to his
retirement, with effect from 22 October 2024.

3. Mr. Xia Xiujiang was appointed as the general manager of the Company at the Board meeting held on 25
October 2024, with immediate effect.

4. Mr. Xia Xiujiang was appointed as an executive Director of the Company at the 2024 Third Extraordinary

General Meeting of the Company held on 15 November 2024, with immediate effect.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, none of the other Directors and Supervisors had any interests or
short positions in the Shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance) as notified to the Company and the Hong
Kong Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO or as recorded in the register required to
be kept under Section 352 of the Securities and Futures Ordinance or as otherwise notified to the Company and the
Hong Kong Stock Exchange pursuant to the requirements of the Model Code.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

For the year ended 31 December 2024, none of the Directors of the Company had interests in any business that
competes or is likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the Company’s business.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

In 2024, no equity-linked agreement was entered into by or subsisted in the Company, and there was no provision
to enter into any agreements which will or may result in the Company issuing Shares.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

In 2024, no permitted indemnity provision (whether made by the Company or otherwise) was made or in force for
the benefit of the Directors of the Company or any directors of the associated companies of the Company (if entered
into by the Company).

The Company has purchased insurances for Directors in respect of the legal liabilities arising from their office, and
the applicable laws of the relevant polices are PRC laws.

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS, SUPERVISORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

During the Reporting Period, details of remuneration of the Directors, Supervisors and senior management for the
Year are set out in notes 8 and 36 to the financial statements.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the remuneration of other senior management members by bands is set out
as follows:

Remuneration Band Number of person

RMB500,001—1,000,000 7
RMB1,000,001—1,500,000 8

RIGHTS OF DIRECTORS AND SUPERVISORS TO ACQUIRE SHARES
OR DEBENTURES

During the Reporting Period, no arrangements to which the Company, any of its subsidiaries, its holding company or
subsidiaries of its holding company is or was a party enabling the Directors or Supervisors of the Company to acquire
benefits by means of acquisition of Shares in or debentures of the Company or other body corporate.
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STOCK OWNERSHIP PLAN OF CORE EMPLOYEES

The Company formulated the stock ownership plan of core employees in order to establish a long-acting incentive
and restraint mechanism between employees and Shareholders for sharing revenue, risks and responsibilities and
jointly operating business, maintaining the stability of core employee team and improving the cohesion of employees
and the competitiveness of the Company, so as to further optimize the equity structure and improve the corporate
governance mechanism to promote a long-term development of the Company.

On 1 February 2018, the Company completed the registration of the issue of 76,000,000 Domestic Shares in China
Securities Depository and Clearing Corporation Limited (FEFAFELREEBRETAF) under special mandate,
with the nominal value of RMB1.00 per Share and the issue price of RMB3.43 per Share. Such 76,000,000 Domestic
Shares correspond to the total number of unit of the Key Employee Stock Ownership Scheme, being 76,000,000
Shares, subscribed by the eligible participants. The Company’s proceeds from the issuance price (i.e. net price from
the issuance) totaled RMB260 million.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN THE SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE
COMPANY

As at 31 December 2024, so far as was known to the Directors, the interests or short positions of the following
persons (other than the Directors, Supervisors or the chief executive of the Company) in the Shares and underlying
shares of the Company as notified to the Company and the Hong Kong Stock Exchange under Divisions 2 and 3 of
Part XV of the SFO or as recorded in the register required to be kept under section 336 of the SFO were as follows:

Domestic Shares

Approximate

Percentage of  Approximate

Number of total issued  percentage of

Domestic  Nature of Domestic Share total issued

Name of shareholder Capacity Shares interests capital ~ Share capital

BUCG' Beneficial 571,031,118 Long position 59.44% 42.34%
owner

Beijing Investment Company? Beneficial 87,850,942  Long position 9.14% 6.51%
owner

Beijing Chengtong Enterprise Management Beneficial 76,000,000° Long position 7.91% 5.64%
Center (General Partnership) owner
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Notes:

1. BUCG was incorporated by the Beijing Municipal Government.

2. Beijing Investment Company is a wholly state-owned enterprise funded and established by the State-owned Assets
Supervision and Administration Commission of the Beijing Municipal People’s Government. On 4 August 2020, Beijing
Investment Company and Beijing MTR Construction Administration Corporation (3t R EEZBEEEE AR A R) (“MTR
Construction”) implemented a merger and restructuring. After the merger and restructuring, Beijing Investment Company
held, directly and indirectly, 199,998,412 Shares of the Company in aggregate, including 131,776,412 Domestic Shares and
68,222,000 H Shares of the Company, representing approximately 14.83% of the issued Shares of the Company. Please
refer to the announcement of the Company dated 10 August 2020 for details.

3. Among which, 18,270,000 Domestic Shares were issued for connected subscriptions. For details, please refer to the circular
published by the Company on 7 December 2017 and the announcement published by the Company on 5 February 2018.

H Shares

Approximate  Approximate

Percentage of  percentage of

Number of Nature of total issued total issued
Name of shareholder Capacity H Shares interests H Share capital ~ Share capital
Amundi Asset Management Investment 83,171,000 Long position 21.44% 6.17%
Manager
Amundi Ireland Ltd Investment 81,494,000 Long position 21.01% 6.04%
Manager
Beijing Investment Company’ Interest of 68,222,000 Long position 17.59% 5.06%
controlled
corporations
Beijing Infrastructure Investment Beneficial 68,222,000 Long position 17.59% 5.06%
(Hong Kong) Limited! owner
CRRC Group Interest of 23,722,000 Long position 6.11% 1.76%
controlled

corporations?
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Note:

1. Beijing Investment Company indirectly held interests in 68,222,000 H Shares of long position of the Company through its
wholly-owned subsidiary, Beijing Infrastructure Investment (Hong Kong) Limited (% (&#&)BR A 7).

2. CRRC Group (formerly known as CSR Group Limited) held interests in 23,722,000 H Shares through its controlled

corporations, CRRC Corporation Limited (formerly known as CSR Corporation Limited) and CRRC (Hong Kong) Co., Ltd.
(formerly known as CSR (Hong Kong) Co., Ltd.).

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, the Directors are not aware of any other person (other than the
Directors, Supervisors or the chief executive of the Company) who had interests or short positions in the Shares and
underlying Shares of the Company as otherwise notified to the Company and the Hong Kong Stock Exchange under
Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or as recorded in the register required to be kept under Section 336 of the
SFO.

SHARE CAPITAL

The Company’s share capital structure as at 31 December 2024 was as follows:

Percentage of

total number of

Number of Shares Shares in issue

as at as at

Class of Shares 31 December 2024 31 December 2024
Domestic Shares 960,733,000 71.24%
Foreign-invested Shares (H Shares) 387,937,000 28.76%
Total 1,348,670,000 100%

PURCHASE, SALES AND REDEMPTION OF SECURITIES

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Company and its subsidiaries did not purchase, sell or redeem any
securities of the Company (including sale of any treasury shares (as defined in the Hong Kong Listing Rules)).

As of 31 December 2024, the Company did not hold any treasury shares.

d3LINIM "0 dNOYD ININAOTIAIA B NOISIA NOILDNYLSNOD NvadN ONIf3g

7¢0¢ 140434 TVNNNY




d3LINMN 0D dNOYD ININKOTIAIA B NDISIA NOILDNYLSNOD NvEdN ONIf3d

7207 L40d3Y TVNNNV

REPORT OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions in respect of pre-emptive rights under the Articles of Association and the laws of the PRC.

TAX RELIEF OR EXEMPTION

The Company is not aware of any tax relief or exemption available to any existing Shareholder by reason of his/her
holding of the securities of the Company.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of property, plant and equipment are set out in note 12 to the financial statements.

RESERVES

Details of change in reserves of the Group for the Year are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity
and note 32 to the financial statements. As at 31 December 2024, the Company’s reserves available for distribution,
calculated in accordance with the provisions of the Company Law of the PRC, amounted to approximately RMB
4,146,209,000.

DISTRIBUTABLE RETAINED EARNINGS

As at 31 December 2024, the Company had distributable retained earnings of RMB4,146,209,000.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the Reporting Period, sales to the five largest major customers of the design, survey and consultancy business
of the Group accounted for 10.87% of the Group's total sales of the Year, of which, sales to the largest customer
accounted for approximately 3.92% of the Group's total sales. Sales to the five largest major customers for the
construction contracting business accounted for 32.12% of the Group’s total sales of the Year, of which, sales
to the largest customer accounted for approximately 11.13% of the Group’s total sales. To the knowledge of the
Directors of the Company, except Beijing Investment Company, a Shareholder holding more than 5% of the share
capital of the Company, none of the Directors, Supervisors of the Company and their respective associates and
other shareholders holding more than 5% of the share capital of the Company has any interest in the above major
customers.

During the Reporting Period, the amount of purchases from the five largest major suppliers of the Group accounted
for not more than 30% of the Group's total amount of purchases.
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SUBSIDIARIES AND ASSOCIATES

Registered
Capital ~ Form of Date of
(RMB'0000)  Shareholding Equity Structure Establishment  Scope of Business
1 Zhejiang Jinghang 10,000 Partial equity Beijing Urban Construction 29 January 2024 General businesses: technical service, technology
Green Energy Design & Development development, technical
Technology Co., Group Co., Limited: 45% consultation, technology
Ltd. (IR Aie Changxing Taihu Electric Co,, exchange, technology transfer,
NERHERAR) Ltd. (REAHRAREER technology promotion; contract
2): 40% energy management; energy
Zhejiang Zheli Investment conservation management
Management Co,, Ltd. (T service; business management
HEREERERDR): 10% consultation; research and
Beijing Dongfang Feidu development of high-efficiency
Technology Development energy saving technologies in
Co., Ltd. (AERFRERK the power industry; research and
BRERLR): 5% development of carbon emission

reduction, carbon conversion,
carbon capture, and carbon
sequestration technologies;
battery manufacturing; production
of battery parts; sales of battery
parts; battery sales; battery
leasing; information system
integration services; project
management service; centralized
fast-charging stations; energy
storage technical service;
maintenance of electronic and
mechanical equipment (excluding
special equipment); import

and export of goods; import

and export of technologies;
manufacturing of transformers,
rectifiers, and inductors. (Except
for businesses subject to approval
in accordance with the laws,
business activities shall be
conducted independently with the
business licences in accordance
with the laws.)

Licensed businesses: design of engineering projects;
engineering project construction;
installation, repair, and testing of
power transmission, power supply,
and power receiving facilities;
power generation business, power
transmission business, power
supply (distribution) business;
electrical installation service.
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REPORT OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

2

Hunan Railway
Planning, Design
and Research
Institute Co., Ltd.
(HEEERRIR
ARERARAR)

Registered

Capital
(RMB'0000)

3,000

Form of
Shareholding

Partial equity

Date of
Equity Structure Establishment  Scope of Business

Beijing Urban Construction 29 March 2024 Licensed businesses:

Design & Development
Group Co., Limited: 49%
Hunan Rail Transit Holding
Group Co., Ltd. (HE&ER
BEREEARAT): 51%

General businesses:

survey of engineering projects;
design of engineering projects;
engineering project quality
inspection; surveying and
mapping services. (Businesses that
require approval in accordance
with the laws can only carry

out business activities after

being approved by relevant
departments. The specific business
operations shall be subject to the
approval documents or licenses
issued by relevant departments.)
planning and design management;
engineering management service;
engineering technical services
(excluding planning management,
survey, design, and supervision);
engineering cost consulting
service; labor services (excluding
labor dispatch); technical service,
technology development, technical
consultation, technical exchange,
technology transfer, technology
promotion; information
consulting services (excluding
licensed information consulting
services); professional design
service; environmental protection
consulting service; engineering
and technical research and
experimental development; new
material technology research and
development; standardization
services; development of rail
transit operation management
systems; development of rail
transit communication and
signaling systems; sales of green
composite materials for rail transit,
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SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENT

The main business of Yunnan Jingjian Rail Transit Investment and Construction Co., Ltd. is the investment,
construction and operation & maintenance of construction projects. Holding the shares of Yunnan lJingjian Rail
Transit Investment and Construction Co., Ltd. is conducive to promoting the need of the Company to enhance
profitability, and is conducive to the Company’s market expansion and industrial chain integration. As at 31
December 2024, the investment amount was RMB2.062 billion, accounting for 8.4% of the total asset value as at 31
December 2024, and the details of this significant investment by the Company are as follows:

Income on

Number of Cost of investment

shares held by Shareholding investment for the year

Company name Main business the Company of the Company (RMB'000) (RMB'000)

Yunnan Jingjian Rail ~ Construction management of urban 78,280,000 78.28% 1,570,249 3,405
Transit Investment rail transit construction (section B),

and Construction Co.,  investment and financing related to

Ltd. operation, operation and management,
mechanical and electrical equipment
renovation, ticket management,
commercial property development
along the line, house lease along the
line, advertising design, production,
agency and release along the
line, resource development of rail
transit station and underground
space, development, operation and
management of import and export
resources of Kunming Rail transit Line 4
(projects that must be approved legally
can only be carried out after approval
from relevant authorities).
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REPORT OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Pursuant to the Hong Kong Listing Rules, the transactions between the Company and its connected person (as
defined under the Hong Kong Listing Rules) constitute connected transactions of the Company. The Company has
monitored and managed its connected transactions in strict compliance with the Hong Kong Listing Rules and the
Administrative Measures on Connected Transactions of the Company. The non-exempt connected transactions
conducted by the Group during the Reporting Period are set out below.

Non-exempt Continuing Connected Transactions
The annual caps for the non-exempt continuing connected transactions of the Group in 2024 and the actual

transaction amounts of such continuing connected transaction of the Group in 2024 are set out below:

For the year ended 31 December 2024

Actual amount Annual cap
(RMB million) (RMB million)

1. Renewed Integrated Services Framework Agreement:
(1) Revenue generated by the Group from providing
services to BUCG, its subsidiaries and/or associates 207 803
(2) Expenditure incurred by BUCG, its subsidiaries and/or
associates for provision of services to the Group 419 1,001
2. Property and Land Leasing Framework Agreement:
Expenditure incurred by the Group for leasing the
property and land from BUCG, its subsidiaries and/or
associates 13 39
3. Bl Integrated Services Framework Agreement:
(1) Revenue generated by the Group for providing survey,
design and consultancy services to Beijing Investment
Company, its subsidiaries and/or associates 452 550
(2) Revenue generated by the Group for providing
construction contracting services to Beijing Investment
Company, its subsidiaries and/or associates 1,434 3,700
(3) Expenditure incurred by Beijing Investment Company,
its subsidiaries and/or associates for providing survey,
design and consultancy services to the Group 0.39 1.35
(4) Expenditure incurred by Beijing Investment Company,
its subsidiaries and/or associates for providing
construction contracting services to the Group 0 48.5
4. Property and Land Leasing Framework Agreement:
Expenditure incurred by the Group for leasing the
property and land from Beijing Investment Company, its
subsidiaries and/or associates 6.9 7.6
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Continuing Connected Transactions Contemplated between the Group and BUCG under the Renewed
Integrated Services Framework Agreement

The renewed Integrated Services Framework Agreement between the Company and BUCG on 30 December 2019
has expired on 31 December 2022. Subject to the approval by the Company at the 2023 first extraordinary general
meeting on 3 March 2023, the Company and BUCG renewed the Integrated Services Framework Agreement (the
“Renewed Integrated Services Framework Agreement”) on 3 March 2023 for a term of three years commencing
from 1 January 2023 and ending on 31 December 2025, and set the annual caps for the continuing connected
transactions, for both revenue and expenditure, contemplated thereunder for the next three years ending 31
December 2025. For details, please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 16 December 2022 and the
circular dated 13 February 2023.

Pursuant to the Renewed Integrated Services Framework Agreement and the supplemental agreement to the
Integrated Services Framework Agreement entered into between the Company and BUCG on 10 November 2021, it
was agreed between BUCG and the Group that:

(a) The integrated services to be provided by BUCG, its subsidiaries and/or associates to the Group include
but not limited to engineering construction related services, including but not limited to services such as
the output of laborers engaged in basic physical work of engineering projects, the supply of engineering
construction raw materials, and the leasing of engineering construction machinery and equipment; and
training services and other services required by the Group to carry out its business; and the “Research and
Development, Production, Sales and Integration Services Businesses of Products Related to the Rail Transit”
provided by BUCZT, a subsidiary of BUCG, to the Company under the supplemental agreement Il to the Non-
competition Agreement (the “Supplemental Agreement lll to the Non-competition Agreement”) entered
into between BUCG and the Company on 10 November 2021.

(b) The integrated services to be provided by the Group to BUCG, its subsidiaries and/or associates include but
not limited to: (i) services relating to construction survey, design and consultancy, including but not limited
to measurement, test, inspection of construction drawings, as well as training services and other services
required by BUCG, its subsidiaries and/or associates to carry out their business; and (ii) project sub-contracting
and/or specialized services, including but not limited to project management and equipment leasing services,
etc., pursuant to Situations (2) and (3) of the Supplemental Agreement Il to the Non-competition Agreement
(the “Supplemental Agreement Il to the Non-competition Agreement”) entered into between BUCG
and the Company on 29 October 2015. Pursuant to Article 3.9 of the Supplemental Agreement Il to the Non-
competition Agreement, when the Company is engaged in rail transit related businesses, if the inseparable
part of the businesses involves “Research and Development, Production, Sales and Integration Services
Businesses of Products Related to the Rail Transit”, subject to not violating the relevant requirements of the
construction unit and relevant laws and regulations such as bidding, the Company or its subsidiaries will give
priority to subcontracting these businesses to BUCZT, a company owned by BUCG under the same conditions.
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REPORT OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

The parties agree that the transaction shall be consummated in line with the applicable general market
practice (if any) and on normal commercial terms.

The parties are entitled to choose the counterparty of the transaction, i.e. to provide services to, or obtain
services from, any third parties (other than in the circumstances specified in below paragraph (e)). Meanwhile,
BUCG, its subsidiaries and/or associates shall provide services to the Group on terms and conditions no less
favourable than those offered to independent third parties under similar circumstances and shall not request
the Group to provide services on terms and conditions more favourable than those offered to the independent
third parties by the Group; and

Notwithstanding any other provisions of the agreement, in respect of the awarded projects cooperated with
and/or bid by BUCG under the Situations (2) and (3) as set out in the Supplemental Agreement Il to the
Non-competition Agreement, BUCG shall, in accordance with the terms of the bidding documents and in
compliance with the relevant laws and regulations, sub-contract part or parts of the awarded contract bid by
BUCG for the Company to the Group and/or enter into such other ways of cooperation, including but not
limited to project management services and/or equipment leasing services, etc., as permitted by the project
owner on a no profit basis to BUCG. The Company may enjoy the full profit margin of the contract obtained
by the BUCG and subcontracted to the Group.

According to the Renewed Integrated Services Framework Agreement, the price of integrated services (including but
not limited to engineering construction-related services) provided by the BUCG, its subsidiaries and/or associates
to the Group will be determined with reference to the government’s guidance price and market factors, but in no
way inferior to the conditions and prices provided by independent third parties to the Group for the same or similar
services:

(a)

The government-guided price refers to the pricing range or level provided by the central government,
provincial government, local government, industry associations or other competent authorities for certain
specific types of services, which price will be determined by the parties through negotiations with reference
to the pricing range or level. The Company will keep track of related updates of government-guided prices.
If any governmental documents are issued to regulate the services the Company being involved and provide
certain pricing range or level, the price will fall within the range of the government-guided price as stated in
such documents.



REPORT OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

Except for the government-guided price, the Company will compare the market price with specific project
differences such as project scale, technical difficulties, construction period, and labour costs. (the “Market
Price” refers to the following information collected by the Company through public channels such as
China government procurement services information platform of China government procurement website
(http://www.ccgp.gov.cn), the China Tender and Procurement website (www.zbytb.com) and the China
Procurement and Tender website (http://www.chinabidding.com.cn/): (1) the prevailing bid price of an
independent third party that provides similar services on general commercial terms in the place where such
services are provided or nearby areas under normal commercial transactions, shall be based on the prices of
at least two independent third parties providing the same or similar services under the same conditions; or (2)
if (1) is not applicable, the then prevailing bid price of an independent third party supplying similar services in
the PRC on general commercial terms under normal commercial transactions shall be based on the prices of at
least two independent third parties providing the same or similar services under the same conditions.)

According to the Renewed Integrated Services Framework Agreement, the prices for the provision of integrated
services (including but not limited to construction survey, design and consultancy services) by the Group to BUCG, its
subsidiaries and/or associates, will be the prices determined through a tender process or the agreed prices:

(a)

If the Company intends to bid for a project, the Sales & Marketing Department will first evaluate the cost
and price of the project and then form a plan which will be submitted to responsible department heads
for approval. If approved, the Company will prepare bidding documents as required by the project owner.
According to relevant PRC rules and regulations in relation to the tender process of certain services, the
project owner shall organise experts to evaluate the bidder and respective bidding documents. At last, the
project owner will determine the bid winner by taking into account certain factors, including but not limited
to the qualification of the bidders, the terms provided by the bidders and the total prices quoted, and with
reference to the experts’ opinions.

The “agreed price” shall be calculated in accordance with the method of “reasonable cost + reasonable
profit”, and determined with reference to the “market price”, but in no case is better than the conditions and
prices provided to independent third parties for the same or similar services.
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REPORT OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

The "reasonable cost” means the cost confirmed by both parties after negotiations and as permitted by the
relevant accounting principles of the PRC (inclusive of sales tax and surcharges); and “reasonable profit”
means the profit calculated based on reasonable costs under market practice. (The Company will estimate
the cost and price of the project with reference to the calculation method described in the relevant charging
guidelines issued by the government or industry associations. In terms of construction consultancy services,
the Charging Guidelines of Preliminary Consultancy Services of Urban Rail Transit ({3 #1822 @ i 274 58 T 1
W EgEE §)) issued by China Association of Metros (FF BI3 T #1881 &) would be taken as a reference.
In terms of construction contracting services, reference would be made to the Project Cost Information T2
i#E(E{5E)) published by local commissions of housing and urban-rural development regularly, which provides
suggested prices of certain types of building materials.)

To ensure that the price is fair and reasonable and in no case is better than the conditions and prices offered
to independent third parties for the same or similar services, the Company will compare the market price with
specific project differences such as project scale, technical difficulties, construction period, and labour costs.
(the “Market Price” refers to the following information collected by the Company through public channels
such as China government procurement services information platform of China government procurement
website (http://www.ccgp.gov.cn), the China Tender and Procurement website (www.zbytb.com) and the
China Procurement and Tender website (http://www.chinabidding.com.cn/): (1) the prevailing bid price of an
independent third party that provides similar services on general commercial terms in the place where such
services are provided or nearby areas under normal commercial transactions, shall be based on the prices of
at least two independent third parties providing the same or similar services under the same conditions; or (2)
if (1) is not applicable, the then prevailing bid price of an independent third party supplying similar services in
the PRC on general commercial terms under normal commercial transactions shall be based on the prices of at
least two independent third parties providing the same or similar services under the same conditions.)

Based on the audited financial data of the Company in the past three years, the range of reasonable profit
for construction survey, design and consultancy services and construction contracting services is approximately
28%-32% of the contracting amount and 8%-15% of the contracting amount respectively.
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(0) The price of the relevant project subcontracting arrangements and/or specialized services, if required, to be
provided by the Group to BUCG, pursuant to Situations (2) and (3) set out in the Supplemental Agreement Il
to the Non-competition Agreement, shall be determined as follows:

(i) The price of the sub-contracting arrangements shall be the contractual price attributable to part or
parts of the awarded contract sub-contracted to the Group on a no profit basis to BUCG under the
contract awarded to BUCG in Situations (2) and (3) as set out in the Supplemental Agreement Il to the
Non-competition Agreement; and/or

(ii) The price of the specialised services shall be the contractual price of the contract awarded to BUCG
or, if applicable, the contractual price attributable to the remaining part of the awarded contract, after
deducting the price of the part subcontracted to third parties and the above-mentioned price of the
sub-contracting arrangements (on a no profit basis to BUCG).

As at the date of the abovementioned circular in relation to continuing connected transactions, BUCG directly and
indirectly holds an aggregate of 42.34% interest in the Company and is the controlling Shareholder of the Company,
therefore constituting a connected person under Chapter 14A of the Hong Kong Listing Rules. Accordingly,
in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Hong Kong Listing Rules, the transactions contemplated between the
Group and BUCG under the Renewed Integrated Services Framework Agreement constitute continuing connected
transactions of the Company.

As at 31 December 2024, (1) in respect of the revenue generated by the provision of integrated services by the
Group to BUCG, its subsidiaries and/or associates, the annual cap in 2024 for such transactions was RMB803 million,
whereas the actual revenue generated was RMB207 million; (2) in respect of the expenditure incurred for the
provision of integrated services by BUCG, its subsidiaries and/or associates to the Group, the annual cap in 2024 for
such transactions was RMB1,001 million, whereas the actual expenditure incurred was RMB419 million.
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Continuing Connected Transactions Contemplated between the Group and BUCG under the Property and
Land Leasing Framework Agreement

In order to regulate the continuing connected transactions in respect of leasing of property and land between the
parties, the Company and BUCG, its subsidiaries or associates entered into the Property and Land Leasing Framework
Agreement dated 18 June 2014 for a term of ten years. As the annual caps for the abovementioned Property and
Land Leasing Framework Agreement entered into by the Board on 8 December 2016 have expired on 31 December
2019, in accordance with the relevant requirements of the Hong Kong Listing Rules, the Board resolved on 8
November 2019 to set new annual caps for these continuing connected transactions for the next three years ending
31 December 2022. For details, please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 8 November 2019.

Due to the fact that the Company entered into an agreement in relation to the acquisition of the entire equity
interest in the Residential Institute in 2022, which resulted in an increase in the continuing connected transactions
relating to properties and lands between the Group and BUCG following the integration of the Residential Institute
into the Group, the Company therefore has revised the annual cap for the year of 2022 under the Existing Property
and Land Leasing Framework Agreement in light of the actual situation. On 16 December 2022, the Company
and BUCG entered into the New Property and Land Leasing Framework Agreement for a term of three years
from 1 January 2023 to 31 December 2025, and set the annual caps for the continuing connected transactions
contemplated thereunder for the next three years ending 31 December 2025.

Pursuant to the Property and Land Leasing Framework Agreement: BUCG, its subsidiaries and/or associates agreed to
lease the leased properties to the Group exclusively for office and operation uses. Details of the leased properties are
as follows:

(a) Tower One, Building No. 6, Wu Qu, An Hui Lane, Chaoyang District, Beijing and the corresponding land with
a GFA of approximately 4,200 sg.m. for the building and a site area of approximately 5,333 sq.m. for the land
at a rental price of approximately RMB0.96 million per year;

(b) Office Building located at No. 7 Toutiao, Nan Lishi Road, Xicheng District, Beijing and the corresponding land
with a GFA of approximately 8,000 sgq.m. for the building and a site area of approximately 6,027 sq.m. for
the land at a rental price of RMB11.00 million per year; and

() Rooms A606-608, A610-11 and B606-09, 6/F, Chengjian Mansion Office Tower, No. 18 North Taipingzhuang
Road, Haidian District, Beijing with a GFA of approximately 1,156 sgq.m. for the building at a rental price of
approximately RMB1.65 million per year.
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Pursuant to the Property and Land Leasing Framework Agreement, the rentals and other charges shall be determined
and paid as follows:

(a)

Both parties shall review and adjust the rentals every three years during the term of the Property and Land
Leasing Framework Agreement by reference to prevailing market rate.

Any downward adjustment in rentals for the leased properties may be discussed between the parties at any
time during the term of the Property and Land Leasing Framework Agreement notwithstanding the normal
three-year rental adjustment mechanism as described above.

The Group shall also be responsible for all utility charges, property management fee (if applicable) and other
miscellaneous expenses (including water, electricity, air conditioning, etc., but excluding property tax) incurred
in using the leased properties.

The Group shall pay rentals on a yearly or quarterly basis to BUCG, its subsidiaries and/or associates, details of
which shall be specified in the individual lease agreement entered into between the parties under the Property
and Land Leasing Framework Agreement.

Payment of the utility charges, property management fee and other miscellaneous expenses shall be paid in
accordance with provisions set out in the individual lease agreement entered into between the parties under
the Property and Land Leasing Framework Agreement.

As at the date of the above continuing connected transactions circular, pursuant to the Hong Kong Listing Rules,
BUCG is the controlling Shareholder of the Company, directly and indirectly holding an aggregate of 42.34% interest
in the Company. Accordingly, BUCG, its subsidiaries and/or associates are connected persons of the Company. The
transactions contemplated between the Group and BUCG, its subsidiaries and/or associates under the Property and
Land Leasing Framework Agreement constitute continuing connected transactions of the Company.

As at 31 December 2024, in respect of the expenditure incurred for the lease of properties and land by the Group
from BUCG, its subsidiaries and/or associates, the annual cap in 2024 for such transactions was RMB39 million,
whereas the actual expenditure was RMB13 million.
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Continuing Connected Transactions Contemplated under the New Integrated Services Framework
Agreement between the Group and Beijing Investment Company

The Group entered into a continuing connected transaction with Beijing Investment Company, its subsidiaries and/
or its associates in the ordinary and usual course of business, including the provision of services such as construction
survey, design and consultancy as well as construction contracting services to Beijing Investment Company, its
subsidiaries and/or its associates. In order to comply with the requirements of the Hong Kong Listing Rules, on 15
August 2018, the Company entered into the Integrated Services Framework Agreement with Beijing Investment
Company for a term of three years, valid from 1 January 2019 to 31 December 2021. The Company has also set the
annual caps for the continuing connected transactions under such agreement for the three financial years ending
31 December 2021. A merger and restructuring was conducted between Beijing Investment Company and MTR
Construction on 4 August 2020. Following the merger and restructuring, Beijing Investment Company remains to be
a connected person of the Company and the transaction between the former MTR Construction and the Company
constitutes a connected transaction between the Company and Beijing Investment Company. The Company is
required to adjust the cap of its continuing connected transaction with Beijing Investment Company pursuant to the
Hong Kong Listing Rules. Accordingly, the Company entered into the New Integrated Services Framework Agreement
(the "New Integrated Services Framework Agreement”) with Beijing Investment Company for a term of three
years from 1 January 2021 to 31 December 2023. The Company has also set the annual caps for the continuing
connected transactions contemplated thereunder for each of three financial years ended 31 December 2023. Please
refer to the announcements of the Company dated 15 August 2018 and 10 March 2021 and the circulars dated 25
October 2018 and 7 May 2021 for details.

The aforementioned New Integrated Services Framework Agreement has expired on 31 December 2023. Subject
to the approval by the Company at the Board meeting on 19 December 2023 and at the 2024 first extraordinary
general meeting on 8 March 2024, the Company and Beijing Investment Company renewed the Integrated Services
Framework Agreement (the “Renewed Integrated Services Framework Agreement”) on 19 December 2023 for
a term of three years commencing from 1 January 2024 and ending on 31 December 2026, and set the annual caps
for the continuing connected transactions thereunder for each year from 2024 to 2026. For details, please refer to
the announcements of the Company dated 19 December 2023 and 8 March 2024 and the circular dated 22 February
2024.

Pursuant to the Renewed Integrated Services Framework Agreement, Beijing Investment Company and the Group
agreed that:

(a) The Group will provide Beijing Investment Company, its subsidiaries and/or its associates with services such
as construction survey, design and consultancy as well as construction contracting services; and Beijing
Investment Company, its subsidiaries and/or its associates will provide the Group with services such as
construction survey, design and consultancy as well as construction contracting services.



(b)
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Both parties are entitled to choose the counterparties of the transaction, and shall carry out the transaction in
accordance with the applicable general market practice (if any) and on normal commercial terms.

Pursuant to the Renewed Integrated Services Framework Agreement, the terms of the agreement for the Group
to provide construction survey, design and consultancy as well as construction contracting services to Beijing
Investment, its subsidiaries and/or its associates shall not be better than the terms of the agreement for the Group
to provide similar services to independent third parties, and the price for services provided by one party to the other
party shall be determined at the following principles:

(a)

Where there is government-prescribed price, the government-prescribed price shall be executed (the
government-prescribed price refers to the price determined for certain type of services according to the laws,
regulations, decisions or orders formulated by the Chinese central government, provincial government or
other regulatory authorities. For further illustration purposes, there is no government-prescribed price for
construction survey, design and consultancy services as well as construction contracting services);

Where there is no government-prescribed price, but there is government-guided price, then the price
would be determined upon considering market factors with reference to the government-guided price (the
government-guided price refers to the price determined for a certain type of service or services according
to the laws, regulations, decisions and orders formulated by the Chinese central government, provincial
governments or other regulatory authorities, which within a certain range, can be adjusted through
negotiations between both parties to the transaction (factors taken into consideration when determining
prices by both parties including but not limited to material cost, scale and technological difficulties of
projects). For further illustration purposes, there is no government-guided price for construction survey, design
and consultancy services. In terms of construction contracting services, the Beijing Municipal Commission
of Housing and Urban-Rural Development issued the “Beijing Construction Project Pricing Basis — Urban
Rail Transit Project Budget Quota”, while the commissions of housing and urban-rural development of local
governments also published the Project Cost Information, which provides basis of calculation (including but
not limited to how to calculate project cost in a comprehensive manner based on factors such as labor cost,
material cost, scale of projects, etc.) for the construction projects as the reference for the bidding price);

Where there is neither government-prescribed price nor government-guided price, then the price would be
determined through tender process or other available market price.

Q3LINMT "0D dNOY¥YD ININGOTIAIA B NDISIA NOILDNYLSNOD NVEdN DONIf3d

720 L4043 TVNNNV




d3LINMN 0D dNOYD ININKOTIAIA B NDISIA NOILDNYLSNOD NvEdN ONIf3d

7207 L40d3Y TVNNNV

80

REPORT OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

The “"market price” shall be determined in the following order: (1) the price charged by independent third parties
who offer the same type of services under normal commercial terms in the ordinary and usual course of business
at or near the area where such services are provided, in such case, reference shall be made to the prices quoted by
at least two independent third parties who provide the same or similar type of services under same conditions; (2)
or if inapplicable, the price charged by independent third party(ies) then who offer the same type of services under
normal commercial terms in the ordinary and usual course of business in the PRC, in such case, reference shall be
made to the prices quoted by at least two independent third parties who provide the same or similar type of services
under same conditions.

As at the date of the abovementioned circular in relation to continuing connected transactions, the Domestic Shares
and H Shares of the Company held by Beijing Investment Company in aggregate accounted for 14.83% of the total
issued Shares of the Company. Beijing Investment Company is one of the substantial Shareholders of the Company
and constitutes the connected person under Chapter 14A of the Hong Kong Listing Rules. The transactions under
the New Integrated Services Framework Agreement and contemplated thereunder between the Group and Beijing
Investment Company, its subsidiaries and/or associates constitute continuing connected transactions of the Company
pursuant to Chapter 14A of the Hong Kong Listing Rules.

As of 31 December 2024, (1) in respect of the revenue generated by the Group from providing construction survey,
design and consultancy services to Beijing Investment Company, its subsidiaries and/or associates, the annual caps
in 2024 for such transactions was RMB550 million, whereas the actual revenue occurred was RMB452 million; (2) in
respect of revenue generated by the Group from providing construction contracting services to Beijing Investment
Company, its subsidiaries and/or associates, the annual caps in 2024 for such transactions was RMB3,700 million,
whereas the actual revenue occurred was RMB1,434 million; (3) in respect of the expenditure incurred by Beijing
Investment Company, its subsidiaries and/or associates for providing construction survey, design and consultancy
services to the Group, the annual caps in 2024 for such transactions was RMB1.35 million, whereas the actual
expenditure was RMB0.39 million; and (4) in respect of the expenditure incurred by Beijing Investment Company, its
subsidiaries and/or associates for providing construction contracting services to the Group, the annual caps in 2024
for such transactions was RMB48.5 million, whereas the actual expenditure was RMBQ million.

Continuing Connected Transactions Contemplated between the Group and Beijing Investment Company
under the Property and Land Leasing Framework Agreement

In order to regulate the continuing connected transactions in respect of leasing of property and land between the
parties, the Company and Beijing Investment Company, its subsidiaries and/or associates entered into the Property
and Land Leasing Framework Agreement dated 19 December 2023 for a term of three years from 1 January 2024
to 31 December 2026. The Company has also set the annual caps for the continuing connected transactions
contemplated thereunder for each year of 2024 to 2026. For details, please refer to the announcement of the
Company dated 19 December 2023.



REPORT OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

Pursuant to the Property and Land Leasing Framework Agreement: Beijing Investment Company, its subsidiaries and/
or associates agreed to lease the leased properties to the Group exclusively for office and operation uses. Details of
the leased properties are as follows:

(a)

(b)

(0

The leasing of office building of Beijing Urban Construction Exploration & Surveying Design Research Institute
Co., Ltd. at an annual rental price of approximately RMB2.42 million;

The leasing of office building of Beijing Rail Transit Design and Research Institute Co., Ltd. at an annual rental
price of approximately RMB3.49 million; and

The leasing of centralized office for the Company at an annual rental price of approximately RMB1.65 million.

Pursuant to the Property and Land Leasing Framework Agreement, the rentals and other charges shall be determined
and paid as follows:

(a)

Both parties may, by mutual agreement, review and adjust the rentals of the leased properties in a timely
manner during the term of the Property and Land Leasing Framework Agreement with reference to the
prevailing market rate.

The parties may negotiate and adjust the rentals at any time during the term of the Property and Land Leasing
Framework Agreement.

Except for the rentals, miscellaneous expenses, utility expenses, property management fees (if applicable) and
expenses that may be incurred as a result of the Group's breach of the Property and Land Leasing Framework
Agreement, Beijing Investment Company has undertaken to the Group that it will not require the Group to
bear and/or pay any other fees (including any taxes payable by Party A, such as property tax) in respect of the
leased properties for any reasons whatsoever.

The rentals in respect of the leased properties shall be paid by the Group to Beijing Investment Company,
its subsidiaries and/or associates on an annual or quarterly basis. The relevant details will be specified in the
individual lease agreement entered into between the parties under the Property and Land Leasing Framework
Agreement.

Payment of the utility expenses, property management fees and miscellaneous fees shall be specified in the
individual lease agreement entered into between the parties under the Property and Land Leasing Framework
Agreement.
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REPORT OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

As at the date of the above continuing connected transactions announcement, pursuant to the Hong Kong Listing
Rules, the Domestic Shares and H Shares of the Group held by Beijing Investment Company in aggregate accounted
for 14.83% of the total issued Shares of the Company. Beijing Investment Company is one of the substantial
shareholders of the Group and constitutes a connected person under Chapter 14A of the Hong Kong Listing Rules.
The Property and Land Leasing Framework Agreement and the transactions contemplated under such agreements
between the Group and Beijing Investment Company, its subsidiaries and/or associates constitute continuing
connected transactions of the Company pursuant to Chapter 14A of the Hong Kong Listing Rules.

As at 31 December 2024, in respect of the expenditure incurred for the lease of properties and land by the Group
from Beijing Investment Company, its subsidiaries and/or associates, the annual cap in 2024 for such transactions
was RMB7.6 million, whereas the actual expenditure was RMB6.9 million.

MATERIAL RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of related-party transactions are set out in note 36 to the financial statements, in which certain transactions
in such related-party transactions also constitute connected transactions as prescribed in Chapter 14A under the
Hong Kong Listing Rules and are subject to reporting, annual review and announcement in accordance with the
requirements of Chapter 14A under the Hong Kong Listing Rules, and the connected transactions have complied the
provisions in Chapter 14A under the Hong Kong Listing Rules.

Save as disclosed in the above connected transactions in this report, there is no other related-party transaction or
continuing related-party transaction set out in note 36 to the financial statements which constitutes discloseable
connected transactions or continuing connected transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules. The Company
confirmed that its connected transactions and continuing connected transactions have complied with the disclosure
requirements under Chapter 14A of the Hong Kong Listing Rules.

Annual Review Conducted by the Independent Non-executive Directors on the
Non-exempt Continuing Connected Transactions

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the above continuing connected transactions and confirmed
that they had been entered into in accordance with the following conditions:

(a) Such transactions were entered into in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;
(b) Such transactions were on normal commercial terms; and

(0) Such transactions were conducted in accordance with the terms under relevant transaction agreements which
were fair and reasonable and in the interests of the Shareholders of the Company as a whole.



REPORT OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

Annual Review Conducted by the Auditors on the Non-exempt Continuing Connected
Transactions

The auditors of the Company have reviewed the continuing connected transactions mentioned above and confirmed
to the Board of Directors that:

(a) Nothing has come to their attention that causes them to believe that the transactions have not been approved
by the Board of Directors;

(b) For transactions involving the provision of goods or services by the Group, nothing has come to their attention
that causes them to believe that the transactions were not entered into, in all material respects, in accordance
with the pricing policies of the Group;

(c) Nothing has come to their attention that causes them to believe that the transactions were not entered into,
in all material respects, in accordance with the relevant agreements; and

(d) Nothing has come to their attention that causes them to believe that the amount of each of the transactions
has exceeded its annual cap mentioned above.

The Company confirms that the execution and performance of the specific agreements under above continuing
connected transactions during the year ended 31 December 2024 were in compliance with the pricing principles of
such continuing connected transactions.

PERFORMANCE OF THE NON-COMPETITION AGREEMENT

The Non-competition Agreement was entered into by the Company and BUCG on 24 January 2014 and was
amended by the Supplemental Agreement | to the Non-competition Agreement signed by the Company and BUCG
on 16 June 2014. On 28 January 2016, the 2016 first extraordinary general meeting of the Company considered and
approved the Supplemental Agreement Il to the Non-competition Agreement entered into between the Company
and BUCG on 29 October 2015. On 29 December 2021, the first extraordinary general meeting of the Company
in 2021 reviewed and approved the Supplemental Agreement Il to the Non-competition Agreement entered into
between the Company and BUCG on 10 November 2021. For details, please refer to the announcement dated 29
October 2015, the circular dated 11 December 2015, the announcements of the Company dated 10 November 2021
and 29 December 2021 and the circular of the Company dated 10 December 2021, respectively.
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BUCG stated that for the year ended 31 December 2024, it was not in breach of its undertakings under the Non-
competition Agreement. The independent non-executive Directors of the Company also reviewed the compliance of
the Non-competition Agreement by BUCG during the year 2024, and was of the view that BUCG had not breached
the requirements of the Non-competition Agreement.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Reference is made to the announcements of the Company dated 2 March 2018, 29 March 2018, 30 September
2022, 27 June 2024 and 22 July 2024 in relation to, among others, the insufficiency of public float of the Company
and the proposal to restore the public float. As disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 11 July 2017,
Beijing Infrastructure Investment (Hong Kong) Limited (”Beijing Investment HK"), a wholly-owned subsidiary of
Beijing Investment Company, a Shareholder of the Company, completed the acquisition of 68,222,000 H Shares of
the Company indirectly held by Beijing Capital Group Ltd. (“Beijing Capital”) through its controlled corporations
(the “Share Transfer”). Before completion of the Share Transfer, Beijing Investment Company holds 87,850,942
Domestic Shares of the Company, accounting for 6.90% of the total issued Shares of the Company. Beijing Capital
holds 73,493,000 H Shares of the Company, accounting for 5.77% of the total issued Shares of the Company. Each
of Beijing Investment Company and Beijing Capital does not constitute the substantial Shareholder of the Company
and the Shares of the Company held by them are deemed as public float. Upon completion of the Share Transfer,
Beijing Investment Company increases its shareholding by acquiring 68,222,000 H Shares of the Company, and the
total Domestic Shares and H Shares held by it account for 12.26% of the total issued Shares of the Company, and
Beijing Investment Company therefore becomes one of the substantial Shareholders of the Company and constitutes
a connected person under Chapter 14A of the Hong Kong Listing Rules. As such, 68,222,000 H Shares held by
Beijing Investment Company would no longer be deemed as transferable Shares held by the public.

As of the date of this report, the public float of the Company was approximately 23.70%, which failed to meet
the requirements on minimum public float under Rule 8.08(1)(a) of the Hong Kong Listing Rules. For further details
on the insufficiency of public float, please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 2 March 2018.
The Company is fully aware of the existence of the problem of insufficient public float at present. The Company
is proactively taking practicable measures, including but not limited to the resumption of the A Share issuance
plan at the appropriate time; negotiating with substantial Shareholders of the Company to sell the shares of the
Company held by them, thereby returning the Shares held by them to public float; and/or the issuance of H Shares
to independent third parties of the Company under a general mandate, to recover the public float level. However,
the above methods could not be achieved for the time being due to factors such as the current audit policies of
the capital market and the share price of the Company. The Company continues to pay attention to the problem
of insufficient public float, including, but not limited to, plans to continuously communicate on the transfer of
the Shares by substantial Shareholders and other practicable matters to restore the public float, and notify the
Shareholders and potential investors in a timely manner when relevant plans that are realisable are achieved.
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AUDITORS

Ernst & Young resigned as the auditor of the Company on 3 August 2023. Subject to the approval by the
shareholders of the Company at the 2023 third extraordinary general meeting on 18 October 2023, Da Hua Moore
International CPA Limited was appointed as the auditor of the Company. Apart from this, the Company has not
changed its auditors over last three years.

The financial statements for the Year have been audited by Da Hua Moore International CPA Limited.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts regarding the management and administration of the whole or any substantial part of any business of
the Company were entered into or existed during the year of 2024.

By order of the Board
Chairman
Pei Hongwei

Beijing, 26 March 2025
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REPORT OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS

Dear Shareholders,

In 2024, the Board of Supervisors earnestly fulfilled the requirements of the State-owned Assets Supervision
and Administration Commission and securities regulatory requirements, and performed the supervisory duties
in accordance with the Company Law, the Articles of Association and the Rules of Procedure for the Board of
Supervisors. The Board of Supervisors performed its supervisory duties faithfully and diligently in accordance with
the law through supervision over meetings and with a focus on supervision over financial matters, internal control
and compliance, and gave full play to its supervisory role, faithfully protecting the interests of all Shareholders, the
Company and its employees, and effectively promoting the standardized operation and healthy development of the
Company.

MEETINGS OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS

During the Year, the Board of Supervisors convened three meetings in total, namely the seventh to ninth meetings
of the third session of the Board of Supervisors, at which five proposals were considered and approved, including
the Proposal on the Review of the 2023 Annual Financial Report, the Proposal on the Review of the 2023 Profit
Distribution Plan and Dividend Declaration Proposal and the Proposal on the Review of 2023 Report of the Board
of Supervisors in March 2024, the Proposal on the Amendment of the existing Rules of Procedure for the Board of
Supervisors of Beijing Urban Construction Design & Development Group Co., Limited in June 2024, and the Proposal
on Approval of the 2024 Interim Results Announcement and Interim Report of the Company in August 2024.

WORK OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS

The Board of Supervisors earnestly performed its supervisory duties and carried out relevant work in supervising the
duty performance of the Directors and the Senior Management, fulfilling the financial supervisory duties, etc.

The duty performance of the Directors and the Senior Management was supervised in accordance with the law. In
2024, the Supervisors attended the meetings of the Board and the general meetings of the Company as stipulated
to monitor the validity and compliance of convening procedures, decision-making procedures, proposals and
resolutions made during the meetings of the Board and general meetings of the Company. Meanwhile, the Board of
Supervisors supervised and reviewed the policies, systems, corporate governance, major operating activities, major
reforms, financial audit, risk prevention and control, operation compliance, governance structure, as well as the
duty performance of Directors and Senior Management of the Company, and provided suggestions to the Board,
promoting the continuous enhancement of the corporate governance level.



REPORT OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS (CONTINUED)

Financial supervisory duties were earnestly performed. The Board of Supervisors exercised its rights and performed its
duties in strict accordance with relevant laws and regulations, the Articles of Association and the rules of procedure,
and carried out supervision and inspection of the Company’s financial system and financial conditions. The Board
of Supervisors audited the semi-annual financial reports and triennial financial reports of the Company, inspected
and supervised the financial operation of the Company and the procedures of preparing, reviewing and disclosing
the reports, which effectively guaranteed the truthfulness, accuracy and integrity of the accounting information. In
addition, the employee representative Supervisors also fully reflected the appeals of employees during the supervision
process and earnestly safeguarded the legitimate rights and interests of employees.

CHANGE OF MEMBERS OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS

There were no changes in the members of the Board of Supervisors during the Reporting Period.

INDEPENDENT OPINIONS ISSUED BY THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS

The Board of Supervisors issued the following opinions in relation to the supervision and inspection work of the
Company during the Year:

The Company's corporate governance and business were conducted in compliance with laws and regulations. The
Board of Directors made decisions in accordance with the Company Law, the Articles of Association, the Listing Rules
and other relevant laws, rules and regulations. All the major operating decisions were reasonable with legal and
effective procedures. In order to further standardize operations, the Company established and improved the internal
control mechanism and internal management system. All Directors and Senior Management of the Company loyally
performed their duties in accordance with national laws and rules, the Articles of Association and resolutions made
at the general meetings of shareholders and meetings of the Board of Directors; no Director or member of the senior
management was found to have committed any breach of laws, regulations or the Articles of Association or to have
infringed upon any rights or interests of the Shareholders and the Company when performing their duties.
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The performance reports during the period were authentic and complete. The reviewed financial statements for the
interim period of 2024 and the audited annual financial statements for 2024 of the Company and its subsidiaries
were prepared strictly in accordance with the relevant accounting standards. These financial statements have given
a true, accurate and objective view of the financial conditions, operating results and cash flows of the Company and
its subsidiaries. Accounting treatments were applied consistently in accordance with the latest accounting standards.
The financial accounts were prepared regularly with clear records and complete information.

The Board of Directors remains optimistic towards the prospects of the Company. In 2025, the Board of Supervisors
will continue with supervision and recommendations, earnestly perform supervision duties and supervise the
standardized operation of the Company in strict accordance with relevant provisions of the Company Law, the
Articles of Association and the Rules of Procedure for the Board of Supervisors and based on its work plan for the
year. Meanwhile, the Board of Supervisors will also continue to strengthen synergy between internal and external
supervision, and focus on communication with the Audit Committee of the Board of Directors of the Company,
external law firms and accounting firms, to effectively realize supervisory synergy and resource sharing. The Board
of Supervisors will strengthen its supervision with a focus on major operating activities, governance structure,
investment management and control and financial audit to safeguard the Company’s operation compliance; innovate
working mechanisms and methods, continuously enhance the ability to perform duties and carry out various work
steadily and effectively; safeguard the interests of Shareholders, the Company and employees, and promote the
sustainable and healthy development of the Company together with the Board of Directors and all Shareholders.

Chairman of the Board of Supervisors
Hu Shengjie

Beijing, 26 March 2025



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Company strictly complies with various applicable regulatory laws and regulations as well as the Articles
of Association to standardize its operation. During the Reporting Period, under the guidance of the regulatory
documents such as the Articles of Association, the Rules of Procedure for the General Meeting of Beijing Urban
Construction Design & Development Group Co., Limited, the Rules of Procedure for the Board of Directors of Beijing
Urban Construction Design & Development Group Co., Limited, the Rules of Procedure for the Board of Supervisors
of Beijing Urban Construction Design & Development Group Co., Limited, the Terms of Reference of the Audit
Committee under the Board of Directors of Beijing Urban Construction Design & Development Group Co., Limited,
the Terms of Reference of the Remuneration Committee under the Board of Directors of Beijing Urban Construction
Design & Development Group Co., Limited, the Terms of Reference of the Nomination Committee under the Board
of Directors of Beijing Urban Construction Design & Development Group Co., Limited, the Terms of Reference of
the Overseas Risk Control Committee of Beijing Urban Construction Design & Development Group Co., Limited,
the Administrative Measures on Information Disclosure of Beijing Urban Construction Design & Development
Group Co., Limited, the Administrative Measures on Connected Transactions of Beijing Urban Construction
Design & Development Group Co., Limited, the Company continuously strengthened its internal control capability
and supervision capability and enhanced its corporate governance standard through the coordination of general
meetings, the Board and the specialized committees under the Board, the Board of Supervisors and the management.
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The corporate governance structure of the Company is set out as follows:

Having reviewed the arrangements in relation to the corporate governance adopted by the Company during the
Year, the Board considered the Company had complied with the principles and code provisions required under the
Corporate Governance Code.

General Meeting

Board of

Supervisors

Board

Nomination

Committee

Remuneration

Committee
Secretary to the

Board

Audit Committee

Overseas Risk

Control Committee

Operation

Management




CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

THE BOARD
Overview

During the Year, the Board convened four general meetings in total, and submitted 22 proposals to the general
meeting. 13 Board meetings were convened, including one Board meeting conducted by the chairman of the Board
and the independent non-executive Directors, at which 54 resolutions were considered and approved.

The Board convenes regular meetings at least four times a year, and convenes extraordinary meetings when
necessary. Notices and meeting materials for regular meetings shall be served to all Directors, Supervisors and the
general manager at least 14 days prior to the meetings. The requirement on the notice period is not applicable to
extraordinary Board meetings, but a reasonable notice shall be served to all Directors, Supervisors and the general
manager. All Directors are entitled to submit proposals to be included as part of the agenda of the Board meetings.
Detailed minutes of each Board meeting are maintained. Four specialized committees are formed under the Board,
namely the Nomination Committee, the Remuneration Committee, the Audit Committee and the Overseas Risk
Control Committee. The duties and responsibilities of and operating procedures for each committee are clearly
defined. Each committee submits opinions and proposals to the Board on matters within their respective scope of
duties and responsibilities.

During the Year, the Board continued to regulate its operations and enhanced its corporate governance standard in
accordance with the applicable principles and code provisions of the Corporate Governance Code, and the relevant
provisions of the Company Law, the Articles of Association and the Rules of Procedure for the Board of Directors of
Beijing Urban Construction Design & Development Group Co., Limited.
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COMPOSITION

During the Year, the Board comprised the following Directors:

Date of commencement

and termination of the current

Position term of office
Mr. Wang Hanjun Executive Director, General Manager 11 March 2022 to 10 March 2025
(retired on 22 October 2024)
Mr. Xia Xiujiang Executive Director, General Manager 11 March 2022 to 10 March 2025

(appointed as the general manager on 25
October 2024 and as an executive Director
on 15 November 2024)

Mr. Pei Hongwei Non-executive Director, Chairman 11 March 2022 to 10 March 2025
Mr. Li Guoging Non-executive Director, Vice Chairman 11 March 2022 to 10 March 2025
(appointed on 8 March 2024)
Ms. Shi Huaxin Non-executive Director 11 March 2022 to 10 March 2025
Mr. Peng Dongdong Non-executive Director 11 March 2022 to 10 March 2025
Mr. Li Fei Non-executive Director 11 March 2022 to 10 March 2025
Mr. Wang Tao Non-executive Director 11 March 2022 to 10 March 2025
Ms. Tang Qimeng Non-executive Director 11 March 2022 to 10 March 2025
Mr. Wang Guofeng Independent non-executive Director 11 March 2022 to 10 March 2025
Mr. Ma Xufei Independent non-executive Director 11 March 2022 to 10 March 2025
Mr. Qin Guisheng Independent non-executive Director 11 March 2022 to 10 March 2025
Mr. Xia Peng Independent non-executive Director 11 March 2022 to 10 March 2025

Changes in the Board members during the period from 1 January 2024 to the date of this report are as follows:

The Board elected Mr. Li Guoging as the vice chairman of the third session of the Board and his role was adjusted
from an executive Director to a non-executive Director at the Board meeting held on 8 March 2024, with immediate
effect.

Mr. Wang Hanjun has ceased to be an executive Director of the Company due to his retirement, with effect from 22
October 2024.

Mr. Xia Xiujiang was appointed as an executive Director of the Company at the 2024 third extraordinary general
meeting held on 15 November 2024, with immediate effect.



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

Please refer to the announcements of the Company dated 8 March 2024, 22 October 2024, 25 October 2024 and
15 November 2024 and the circular of the Company dated 30 October 2024 for details of the above changes.

To the knowledge of the Company, there is no financial, business, family or other material/relevant relationship
among members of the Board or between the Directors and the general manager.

The Company recognises that Board independence is pivotal in good corporate governance and board effectiveness.
The Board has effective mechanisms in place to ensure independent views and input from any Directors of the
Company are conveyed to the Board for enhancing an objective and effective decision making.

The governance framework and the mechanisms below are under annual review by the Board, through its
Nomination Committee and Remuneration Committee, to ensure their effectiveness.

During the Reporting Period, the Company has complied with Rules 3.10(1) and 3.10(2) of the Hong Kong Listing
Rules regarding the appointment of at least three independent non-executive Directors and one independent non-
executive Director having appropriate professional qualifications or appropriate accounting or relevant financial
management expertise. In addition, the Company complies with Rules 3.10A of the Hong Kong Listing Rules
regarding the appointment of independent non-executive Directors representing at least one-third of the board of an
issuer. The Board has achieved the measurable objectives during the Year.

The Company values gender diversity. As at the date of this report, female Directors represented 17% of the
members of the Board (two female Directors out of 12 Directors). At the present stage, the composition of the Board
meets the requirements for diversity. In the future, the Company will, in accordance with the requirements of the
relevant policy on diversity of the Board, give due consideration to the composition of the Director candidates in the
selection of Directors, with a view to further enhancing the diversity of the Board members.

The Company has arranged for appropriate insurance coverage in respect of any legal actions which may be
instituted against its Directors and senior management in relation to their performance of duties during the
Reporting Period.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

GENDER DIVERSITY

The Company attaches great importance to the gender diversity of its employees. To strive for greater gender
diversity, the Company further optimises programs and initiatives across the entire career lifecycle, from staff
recruitment to staff development and retention. Such programs and initiatives include gender-inclusive recruitment
and talent attraction policies, fully monitored promotion and succession planning, intensive inhouse multicultural
training, unconscious bias training and inclusion programs, the expansion of new forms of work such as shared or
part-time leadership positions, including expectation on the size of each of the department in the future in terms
of possible growth and contractions, possible scenarios for restructuring, changes in the number of positions for
female in the department, and the possible barriers which may be encountered. The Group attaches importance to
the gender diversity of its staff. As of the end of the Reporting Period, the proportion of male staff and female staff
(including senior management) of the Group was 68% and 32% respectively. The Group considers that during the
Reporting Period, the gender diversity at the staff (including senior management) level has been achieved and does
not have any other plans or measurable objectives for gender diversity for the time being.

Employees’ turnover of the Group

Employees

Employee category turnover rate
By gender Male 5%
Female 5%

CORPORATE CULTURE

The corporate culture of the Company is:

Mission Design cities to build the future

Vision Become an integrated service provider of urban construction led by design

Values Customer first, fighting will as the foundation, integrity and realism, pursuit of excellence
Spirit Craftsmanship, responsibility, innovation and struggle

Quality Policy Scientific management, excellent quality, continuous improvement and customer satisfaction



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

We believe that our corporate culture is closely related to our business development. Since its establishment,
the Company has always taken “Design cities to build the future” as its corporate mission, and is committed to
becoming an integrated service provider of urban construction led by design. The Company has completed a number
of projects that have attracted the world’s attention, winning the national award for technological inventions, the
Luban award, the FIDIC award and many other honours, which has been unanimously recognised by the government,
our customers and the society. Led by our corporate culture, we are committed to becoming an integrated service
provider of urban construction led by design, promoting the organic integration and sustainable development of
people, cities and environment.

DUTIES AND RESPONSIBILITIES

The Board is responsible for convening general meetings, reporting its work to the general meetings, implementing
resolutions of the general meetings, determining the operation plans, investment plans and major assets disposal
and restructuring plans of the Company, formulating the annual financial budgets plans and final accounts of the
Company, formulating plans of profits distribution and recovery of losses of the Company, formulating proposals
for the increase in or reduction of the registered capital of the Company, drawing up plans for the issuance of
corporate bonds, drawing up plans for merger, division, dissolution or change of form of the Company, determining
the establishment of internal administrative organizations of the Company and appointing or removing the general
manager and secretary to the Board of the Company. It also appoints, according to the nomination of the general
manager, or removes the vice general manager, chief accountant and other senior management of the Company and
determines their remuneration matters. It is also responsible for formulating the fundamental management system of
the Company, formulating proposals for any amendments to the Articles of Association, managing the information
disclosure matters of the Company, proposing the appointment or change of the accounting firm performing
auditing for the Company at the general meetings, formulating and reviewing the corporate governance policies
and practices of the Company, reviewing and overseeing the training and continuous professional development of
Directors and senior management, reviewing and monitoring the Company's policies and practices in relation to
the compliance with laws and regulatory requirements, formulating, reviewing and supervising the code of conduct
and compliance manual (if any) to employees and Directors, reviewing the Company’s compliance with Corporate
Governance Code and its disclosures in the Corporate Governance Report, and exercising other powers conferred by
the laws, regulations, the requirements under the listing rules of the stock exchange where the Company’s Shares
are listed, the general meetings and the Articles of Association.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE MANAGEMENT

The management of the Company is mainly responsible for the operation and management of the Company. It
performs its duties within the scope authorized by the Board and is responsible for its performance under the review
and supervision of the Board and the Board of Supervisors.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

CHAIRMAN AND GENERAL MANAGER

The roles of the chairman and the general manager have been clearly segregated to ensure a balance of power and
authority. The current chairman of the Board of the Company, Mr. Pei Hongwei, is responsible for leading the Board
to ensure its effective operation. Mr. Xia Xiujiang serves as the general manager and is responsible for the business
operation of the Company.

DIRECTORS TRAINING

Each year, each Director will receive information in relation to guidelines on ethics and other major governance
matters upon his/her appointment to the Board. Director training is a constant process to ensure the Directors are
fully informed in making their contribution to the Board. During the Reporting Period, the Directors received regular
updates and summaries on the changes and latest development of the business and operation of the Group and
the relevant legal and regulatory environment. In addition, all Directors were encouraged to participate in relevant
training courses at the expense of the Company.

During the Reporting Period, the Directors of the Company emphasized on updating their specialized knowledge and
technigues to meet the requirement of the development of the Company. The Company also arranged trainings for
Directors on information disclosure, Hong Kong Listing Rules and ESG Corporate Governance Code, etc.

Corporate Laws and Business

DIRECTORS governance regulations management
Executive Directors
Mr. Wang Hanjun (retired on 22 October 2024) v 4 4
Mr. Xia Xiujiang

(appointed on 15 November 2024) v v v
Non-executive Directors
Mr. Pei Hongwei 4 4 v
Mr. Li Guoqing v 4 v
Ms. Shi Huaxin v v v
Mr. Peng Dongdong 4 4 v
Mr. Li Fei 4 v v
Mr. Wang Tao v v v
Ms. Tang Qimeng v v v
Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Wang Guofeng v v v
Mr. Ma Xufei 4 v v
Mr. Qin Guisheng v v v
Mr. Xia Peng v v v




CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

SUMMARY OF WORK UNDERTAKEN

During the Year, the Board convened four general meetings in total, and submitted 22 proposals to the general
meeting. 13 Board meetings were convened, including one Board meeting conducted by the chairman of the Board
and the independent non-executive Directors, at which 54 resolutions were considered and approved.

The attendance record of the Board meetings of each Director is as follows:

Number of Number of
meetings Number of meetings
required to meetings attended
be attended attended by proxy
Mr. Wang Hanjun (retired on 22 October 2024) 8 7 1
Mr. Xia Xiujiang
(appointed on 15 November 2024) 3 3 0
Mr. Pei Hongwei 13 12 1
Mr. Li Guoqing 12 12 0
Ms. Shi Huaxin 12 12 0
Mr. Peng Dongdong 12 10 2
Mr. Li Fei 12 12 0
Mr. Wang Tao 12 10 2
Ms. Tang Qimeng 12 11 1
Mr. Wang Guofeng 13 11 2
Mr. Ma Xufei 13 11 2
Mr. Qin Guisheng 13 13 0
Mr. Xia Peng 13 13 0
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

The main tasks accomplished by the Board during the Year included:

o the convening of four general meetings and submission of 22 resolutions to the general meeting, including
the report of final financial accounts for 2023, the audited consolidated financial statements for 2023 and
its summary, the Report of the Board of Directors for 2023, the investment plans for 2024, the profits
distribution plan and the dividend declaration proposal for 2023, the re-appointment of auditors for 2024
and the payment of the audit fee for 2023, the proposed amendments to the Articles of Association, and
the renewal of the cap of the continuing connected transaction and the framework agreement with Beijing
Infrastructure Investment Co., Ltd. for 2024-2026, all of which were approved at the general meeting;

o the convening of 13 Board meetings and consideration and approval of 54 resolutions, including the
completion of investments in 2023 and the investment plan for 2024, the operation plan for 2024, the annual
results announcement and annual report of the Company for 2023, the interim results announcement and
interim report of the Company for 2024, and the acquisition of the equity interest of Rail Transit Energy
Conservation Beijing Engineering Research Center Co., Ltd. (B8 BETREIL = TI2AA SR LB R A 7).

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The major duties and responsibilities of the Nomination Committee of the Company are: to review the size,
structure and composition of the Board at least on an annual basis and make recommendations to the Board on any
proposed changes, according to the conditions of operating activities, the scale of assets and shareholding structure
of the Company, assess the independence of the independent non-executive Directors, and study the criteria and
procedures for selecting Directors and senior management and make recommendations thereon to the Board. It is
also responsible for conducting extensive searches for qualified candidates for Directors and senior management,
conducting examination on the candidates for Directors and senior management and making recommendations
on the appointment, reappointment and succession of Directors and senior management. It also needs to conduct
examination on other senior management candidates that must be recommended to the Board for appointment
and make recommendation and is in charge of other matters required by the laws, regulations, the Articles of
Association, securities regulatory authorities at the places where the Company’s Shares are listed and other matters
authorised by the Board.



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

The Nomination Committee shall first discuss the nomination of candidates for new Directors, examine the
qualification of these candidates, and then recommend such candidates to the Board. The Board shall determine
whether the appointment of such candidates should be proposed for election at the general meetings. The major
criteria considered by the Nomination Committee and the Board are the candidates’ educational backgrounds,
experience in the industry, their proposed commitment to the Company and achieving the goal of diversity of the
Board. Regarding the nomination of independent non-executive Directors, the Nomination Committee will also
particularly consider the independence of such candidates. To achieve diversity of the Board, the Board has strictly
adhered to the Diversity Policy on Members of the Board of Directors, according to which, selection of the members
of the Board are required to be conducted on the basis of a range of diversity perspectives by taking into account
the consolidated factors including skills, experience, independence, knowledge on the business of the Company, the
composition of various factors (including gender and age) and other factors relating to the operation efficiency of
the Board. The Nomination Committee is responsible for supervising the implementation of such policy.

As at the date of the report, the implementation of the diversity policy of the Board is as follows:

1. The Board comprises 12 Directors, of which four are independent non-executive Directors. The composition is
in compliance with the requirements of Rules 3.10(1) and 3.10A of the Hong Kong Listing Rules in relation to
“at least one-third of the members of the Board shall be independent non-executive Directors”.

2. At least one of the independent non-executive Directors has obtained financial professional qualifications,
while other Directors possess legal, financial, business administration, public service and other professional
experience, which are also in compliance with the requirements of Rule 3.10(2) of the Hong Kong Listing
Rules.

3. Members of the Board have different education backgrounds, including a bachelor’s degree in engineering
and construction, doctoral degrees in heat supply, gas supply, ventilation and air-conditioning engineer,
master’s degrees in transportation planning and management, economics, project management, business
administration, international accounting and financial management (accounting), laws, and a doctoral degree
in management. Their ages are from 35 to 66, with two female members.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

During the Year, the Nomination Committee held four meetings in total to consider and confirm the qualifications
and profiles of the Directors and Supervisors, as well as nominate the candidates of the deputy general manager,
director, general manager and the chief accountant of the Company. The attendance record of the meeting of the
members of the Nomination Committee is as follows:

Number of Number of

meetings Number of meetings

required to meetings attended by

Name of member Position be attended attended proxy
Mr. Pei Hongwei Chairman of the Nomination 4 4 0

Committee
Non-executive Director

Mr. Wang Guofeng Independent non-executive Director 4 4 0
Mr. Qin Guisheng Independent non-executive Director 4 4 0

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The major duties and responsibilities of the Remuneration Committee of the Company are: to formulate the
general plan or proposal for the remuneration of the Directors and senior management and individual remuneration
packages according to the main scope, duties and responsibilities, and importance of the management positions
of the Directors and senior management as well as the remuneration level of their counterparts in other related
enterprises, and make recommendations to the Board; to review the performance of duties of the Directors (other
than independent Directors) and senior management of the Company and conduct an annual appraisal on their
performance; to be responsible for supervising the implementation of the remuneration policy of the Company; to
ensure neither the Directors nor their associates would determine their individual remuneration on their own; and
to be in charge of other matters required by the laws, regulations, the Articles of Association, securities regulatory
authorities at the places where the Company’s Shares are listed and other matters authorised by the Board.



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

The fixed salaries of the executive Directors and other senior management are determined in accordance with the
market levels and their respective positions and duties, and their performance-related bonuses are subject to various
considerations, including the operating results of the Company and the results of their performance appraisals.
Directors’ fees and Supervisors’ fees are determined with reference to the market levels and the circumstances of the
Company.

During the Year, the Remuneration Committee held one meeting in total to consider the performance of duties and
responsibilities of the executive Directors and other senior management of the Company and their remuneration
matters. The attendance record of the meeting of the members of the Remuneration Committee is as follows:

Number of Number of

meetings Number of meetings

required to meetings attended by

Name of member Position be attended attended proxy

Mr. Wang Guofeng Chairman of the Remuneration 1 1 0
Committee

Independent non-executive Director
Mr. Wang Tao Non-executive Director 1 1 0
Mr. Ma Xufei Independent non-executive Director 1 1 0
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The major duties and responsibilities of the Audit Committee of the Company are: to recommend the
engagement or change of the external audit firm; to review the independence and objectivity of the external auditor
and the effectiveness of the auditing procedures according to applicable standards; to approve the remuneration and
terms of engagement of the external auditor; to develop and implement policy on engaging an external auditor to
provide non-audit services; to supervise the Company’s internal auditing system and its implementation in order to
ensure sufficient resources are allocated for operating the internal audit function within the Company and monitor
the effectiveness of the internal audit function; to ensure that the internal audit function will analyse and make
independent evaluation on the sufficiency and effectiveness of risk management and internal control systems; to be
responsible for the communication between the internal and external audit; to review the financial information of
the Company and its disclosure and review the accounting affairs and policies of the Company; to review the internal
control and risk management systems of the Company and express opinions and make recommendations in respect
of the soundness and improvement of the internal control and risk management systems of the Company, and
conduct risk analysis on the significant investment being undertaken by the Company; to oversee the internal control
and risk management systems of the Company on an ongoing basis and review the effectiveness of the internal
control and risk management systems of the Company and its subsidiaries at least annually; to study the important
investigation results and responses from the management in respect of the matters of internal control and risk
management; to discuss the risk management and internal control systems of the Company with the management,
and ensure that the management has performed its duty to establish the effective risk management and internal
control systems; to express opinions and make recommendations in respect of the evaluation and change of the
principal of internal audit department of the Company; to review the letters for the management provided by
external auditors; to review whether the mechanism allowing employees to report on or complain about, by way
of whistleblowing, any misconduct in respect of the Company’s financial reports, internal control or other matters
is well established, and to ensure a proper arrangement of the Company which may enable fair and independent
investigation and follow-up procedures for the case of whistleblowing; to set up relevant procedures for handling
complaints; to keep in regular contact with the Board, senior management and external auditors; and to be in charge
of other matters required by the laws, regulations, the Articles of Association, securities regulatory authorities at the
places where the Company’s Shares are listed and other relevant matters authorised by the Board.



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

During the Year, the Audit Committee held four meetings in total to consider and approve 6 proposals in respect
of the result of audit on 2023 annual report, change of accounting firms performing listing audit services, the 2024
interim results report of the Company, the 2024 audit plan of the Company and the internal audit of the Company.
The attendance record of the meetings of the members of the Audit Committee is as follows:

Number of Number of

meetings Number of meetings

required to meetings attended by

Name of member Position be attended attended proxy
Mr. Xia Peng Chairman of the Audit Committee 4 4 0

Independent non-executive Director

Mr. Peng Dongdong Non-executive Director 4 4 0
Mr. Qin Guisheng Independent non-executive Director 4 4 0

The Audit Committee has reviewed the audited annual results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024.

EXTERNAL AUDITORS
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In 2024, the Company should pay RMB1.90 million to external auditors in relation to auditing services, which
included the payments on auditing the annual financial report of 2024.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

OVERSEAS RISK CONTROL COMMITTEE

The major duties and responsibilities of the Overseas Risk Control Committee of the Company are: to
judge on possible risks of sanctions borne by the Company if it intends to carry out any new overseas transactions
or businesses in the sanctioned countries; to supervise and control the internal control procedures conducted and
relevant undertakings made to the Hong Kong Stock Exchange by the Company in respect of carrying out businesses
in the sanctioned countries in the past; to select and engage one or more external international law firms and other
related experts with expertise in the laws of sanctioned areas so that they would be able to provide relevant legal
and professional opinions to the Company and the Overseas Risk Control Committee; to provide guidelines on the
factors or criteria to be considered whether the Company should conduct new businesses in the sanctioned countries
and the controlling measures to be implemented when conducting businesses in the related sanctioned countries;
to arrange appropriate trainings in respect of the relevant laws of the sanctioned countries for the Directors, senior
management, related staff of the secretariat of the Board and persons in charge of the disclosure of overseas
information; and to be in charge of other matters required by the applicable laws, regulations, securities regulatory
authorities at the places where the Company’s Shares are listed and other relevant matters authorised by the Board
from time to time.

In 2024, with respect to the development of the Company’s overseas operations, the Overseas Risk Control
Committee held one meeting to consider the development of the Company’s overseas operations and risk prevention
and control. The attendance record of the meeting of the members of the Overseas Risk Control Committee is as
follows:

Number of Number of

meetings Number of meetings

required to meetings attended by

Name of member Position be attended attended proxy

Mr. Pei Hongwei Chairman of the Overseas Risk Control 1 1 0
Committee

Non-executive Director

Mr. Xia Xiujiang Executive Director 1 1 0
Mr. Li Guoqing Non-executive Director 1 1 0
Mr. Wang Hanjun Executive Director 0 0 0
Notes:
1. On 8 March 2024, Mr. Li Guoging’s role on the Board has been adjusted from an executive Director to a non-executive

Director in accordance with the work arrangement.

2. At the 2024 Third Extraordinary General Meeting held on 15 November 2024, Mr. Xia Xiujiang was appointed as an
executive Director of the Company, with immediate effect. At the 29th meeting of the third session of the Board held on
15 November 2024, Mr. Xia Xiujiang was appointed as a member of Overseas Risk Control Committee under the third
session of the Board.

3. Mr. Wang Hanjun has ceased to serve as an executive Director of the Company due to retirement, effective from 22
October 2024.



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

INTERESTS HELD BY THE DIRECTORS AND SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS

All Directors shall declare to the Board whether they hold offices or positions in other companies or entities upon
their appointments as Directors and they are required to update the Board annually in respect of their relevant
interests. If the Board considers that a Director has conflict of interest in any resolution or transaction when
discussed, the Director shall declare his interests and abstain from voting. If appropriate, the Director should be
excused from the meeting.

The Company adopted the Model Code as the code for securities transactions conducted by the Directors and
Supervisors. Each of the Directors and Supervisors has confirmed his/her compliance with the above code during the
Year upon specific enquiries with all of them.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE

The Group actively implements environmental, social and governance (ESG) practices to strengthen its core
competitiveness in sustainable development. The ESG construction case of “Beijing Urban Construction Design &
Development Group Co., Limited: Accelerating the Construction of Green Urban Rail Transit and Promoting High-
quality Development of the Industry” submitted by the Group was listed as an outstanding case in the Blue Book
on Environmental, Social and Governance (ESG) of Beijing State-owned Enterprises (2023-2024) (It M BRI
B e MORIE(ESG)EE N £(2023-2024))) guided by the Beijing State-owned Assets Supervision and Administration
Commission.

This case, based on Nanjing Metro Green Urban Rail Transit Development Plan F R it 4k @B RITEHR)),
demonstrates the Group’s responsible actions in the aspects such as system construction, technological innovation,
overall planning, and management services. It highlights the significant economic, environmental and social benefits
achieved by the Group, reflecting the deep integration of ESG principles with the Group’s development strategy. It
has a certain demonstration effect in the urban rail transit industry and provides valuable reference for establishing a
green urban rail transit development system. Moving forward, the Group will remain committed to fulfilling its state-
owned enterprise responsibilities, strengthening ESG construction and contributing to the high-quality development
of the urban rail transit industry.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT
Financial Reporting

The Directors are responsible for monitoring the preparation of the financial statements for every financial year
and ensuring those financial statements provide a true and fair view on the business conditions, operating results
and cash flows of the Group in the relevant period. In preparing the financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2024, the Directors have selected appropriate accounting policies and applied them consistently, adopted
all relevant standards in compliance with the International Financial Reporting Standards, and made a prudent and
reasonable judgment and estimation and prepared the financial statements on a going concern basis.

In accordance with the requirements of the Hong Kong Listing Rules, the Company has timely announced its annual
and interim results within three and two months, respectively, after the end of the relevant financial periods.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

Risk Management and Internal Control

The Board should oversee the risk management and internal control systems of the Company, be responsible for
the risk management and internal control systems and reviewing their effectiveness to safeguard state-owned assets
against being lost. The risk management and internal control systems are primarily designed to prevent material
outflow of the Company’s economic benefits and reduce the impact of external environmental fluctuations on the
Company. Such risk management and internal control systems are designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk
of failure to achieve business objectives and can provide only reasonable but not absolute assurance against material
misstatement or loss. The Board and the Audit Committee will inspect the internal risk management and internal
control systems of the Group annually to verify whether they meet the needs of the Company’s current organization.

During the Reporting Period, the Board and the Audit Committee have reviewed the internal risk management
and internal control systems of the Group. The review covered various risk points in the course of the Company’s
operation management, such as the internal control system of the financial system, and specific inspection on
the Company’s information in key areas such as basic accounting work, internal audits, and financial reports. The
training of employees has been reviewed to further assess the rationality of the courses and the adequacy of the
budget. No major internal control issues were found in this review. The Board considers that, in terms of current
conditions, the Group’s control of various risk points is rigorous and precise, and the implemented internal control
measures are effective, thus the existing risk management and internal control systems are effective and adequate.

The Main Features of the Risk Management and Internal Control Systems
The management framework and contents of the Company’s internal control are set out as follows:

The Company strives to develop a comprehensive internal control system on the basis of Guidelines on Internal
Control of Beijing Urban Construction Design & Development Group Co., Limited and its supplementary guidelines
with a focus on management and business processes covering five basic elements such as the internal environment,
risk assessment, control activities, information and communication and internal supervision.

The internal environment is the framework of the Company’s internal control system that fosters the staff awareness
of internal control, laying a solid foundation for the Company to carry out various economic activities and
management activities.



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

Risk assessment refers to the Company’s assessment of critical process milestone that may bring uncertainties in the
course of preservation and appreciation of the state-owned assets based on the current system to align with the
Company's risk appetite.

Control activities refer to the application of related control measures to control risks within a tolerable level and
avoid uncontrollable risk exposure based on the risk assessment. Control activities relate to strategic management
control, overall budget control, management report control, performance evaluation control, internal audit control,
control on the division of incompatible responsibilities, control on the authorisation and approval, control on “Three
Importance and One Greatness”, risk alert and emergency response mechanism, and the control on information
system and accounting system.

Information and communication refers to the process to collect, process and compile internal control related
information required by decisions-making and communicate it to the right person in a timely, accurate and complete
manner. It serves as an integral part of the management activities.

Internal supervision refers to the Company’s supervision and review on the establishment and implementation of the
internal control, assessment of the effectiveness of internal control and improvement of the internal control system.
The Company updates its Risk Database in a timely manner. This is done by analyzing the risks inherent in the
industry in which the Company operates, based on an understanding of leadership’s risk appetite and risk tolerance
and prioritizing risks according to impact to avoid risk exposure, and predictable risks are covered by internal control
measures as much as possible.

Internal Audit Function

As a daily operational office of the Audit Committee under the Board, the legal audit department of the Company
is @ major supervisory body of the Company’s internal control system, being responsible for monitoring how
the Company and its subsidiaries establish and improve their respective internal control systems, reviewing the
implementation of each of the internal control systems and carrying out annual self-assessment on internal control.
It is also responsible for organizing the internal audit function to perform audit responsibilities.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

Procedure of Identifying, Evaluating and Managing Significant Risks and Reviewing the Effectiveness of
Risk Management and Internal Control Systems

Based on the Company’'s Internal Audit Operation Manual, the Company’s Internal Audit Management Regulations
and the Company’s Internal Audit Management Measures, the Company’s internal control system conforms to the
principles stipulated in the existing internal audit independence and objectivity principles and the relevant operations
systems, with an emphasis on enhancing cooperation and collaboration between the internal audit organization and
other internal supervision forces, such as internal discipline, organization personnel, and the supervisory committee.
The internal audit results and rectification should be regarded as an important basis for assessment, appointment,
dismissal, reward and punishment and relevant decision-making, and play a genuine supervisory and control role in
the Company’s economic operation system:

o Overseeing the implementation of systems and plans to provide the basis for the organization's management
decisions.
o Identifying weak areas of operation and management and assisting the organization in improving its self-

control mechanisms.

o Improving economic efficiency by encouraging organizational units to improve work or production.

o Overseeing the fulfillment of the economic responsibilities entrusted to the organization in order to safeguard
the legitimate economic interests of the organization.

o Monitoring the safety of property and promoting the preservation and appreciation of the organization’s
property and assets.

o Performing traditional audit confirmation business and evaluating the conformity and compliance of the
Company'’s operations with the management system.

o Expanding the consulting business of auditing, implementing a top-to-bottom ethical atmosphere in the
Company, and monitoring the Company’s compliance with the requirements of professional ethics.



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

Procedures of Addressing the Material Deficiencies in the Internal Control System

The internal control evaluation team shall perform preliminary identification of the defects in the internal control
according to the evidences obtained in on-site testing, and classify them into significant, important and general
defects based on their consequence rating. Timely measures should be adopted to address the identified significant
defects, so as to effectively control the risks within a tolerable level. And the staff of related department involved
shall be accountable for the issue according to the practical situation.

The internal control evaluation team shall prepare the summary report of identified defects in internal control, setting
out the comprehensive analysis on the defects and reasons for, forms and degree of impacts of defects in internal
control. The significant defects shall be determined by the Board.

For the defects identified in the course of evaluation of internal control, the legal audit department shall procure the
accountable department to rectify them, and monitor, track and confirm the rectification. Internal control evaluation
report shall be prepared by the legal audit department based on the evaluation result and shall be submitted
according to the Group’s requirements. The evaluation materials of internal control shall be properly kept by the
legal audit department and shall be filed according to the administrative requirements of general documents of the
technology and quality department.

The Procedures and Internal Control Measures for the Handling and Dissemination of Inside Information

The Company has established the Information Disclosure Management System which stipulates the procedures and
internal control measures for the handling and dissemination of inside information. Prior to information disclosure,
the scope of persons who have access to such information shall be minimised. They shall not leak the inside
information of the Company, engage in inside trading or collude with other persons to manipulate the prices of the
Company’s securities. Unless the exceptions set out in regulatory laws and rules of Hong Kong, the Company shall
disclose the inside information via publishing announcements on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange as far as reasonable
and practical after such information has come to the knowledge of the Company.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

Board of Supervisors

The Board of Supervisors of the Company is accountable to the general meetings and its duties and responsibilities
mainly include: to review the financial affairs of the Company; to oversee the performance of the duties for
the Company by the Directors and senior management and make proposals to dismiss the Directors and senior
management who have violated the relevant laws, administrative regulations, the Articles of Association or
resolutions passed at the general meetings; to request the Directors and senior management to rectify if their acts
have jeopardized the Company's interests; to review financial information (including financial reports, business
reports and any plans for profit distribution) to be proposed by the Board to the general meetings, and to retain, in
the name of the Company, registered accountants and certified auditors to assist in the review of such information
should any doubt arise; to propose to convene an extraordinary general meeting and in case the Board fails to
perform the duty of convening and presiding over general meetings, to convene and preside over a general meeting;
to put forward proposals at the general meetings; to represent the Company in negotiating with the Directors and
senior management and initiate legal proceedings against the Directors and senior management; and to be in charge
of other functions and powers as required under the Articles of Association.

As at the date of this report, the members of the Board of Supervisors of the Company comprise four Supervisors
assumed by the Shareholder representatives and three Supervisors assumed by employee representatives, with a
total of seven Supervisors. During the Year, the Board of Supervisors held three meetings in total and considered
and approved five resolutions. It supervised, on behalf of the Shareholders, the financial position of the Group, the
legitimacy and compliance of the performance of duties by the Directors and senior management, attended the
Board meetings and general meetings, and fulfilled its duties diligently.

There were no changes in the members of the Board of Supervisors during the Reporting Period.



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

Directors’ Responsibility for the Financial Statements

All the Directors of the Company acknowledge that they are responsible for the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with the disclosure provisions of the International Financial
Reporting Standards and the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. To the knowledge of the Directors, there is no event
or condition that may have a material adverse effect on the continuing operation of the Company.

Independence of Independent Non-executive Directors

The Company has received the annual confirmation letters from all the independent non-executive Directors in
relation to their independence. As at the date of this report, the Company is of the view that all the independent
non-executive Directors are independent.

The Company has established mechanisms to ensure independent views and input are available to the Board,
including without limitation by reviewing that the independent non-executive Directors have appropriate
qualifications and expertise from time to time with sufficient time commitment to the Group, that the number
of independent non-executive Directors is in line with the requirements of the Hong Kong Listing Rules, and that
channels are established to assess and evaluate the independent non-executive Directors’ contribution and views.
The implementation and effectiveness of such mechanisms will be reviewed by the Board on an annual basis.

Company Secretary

Mr. Xuan Wenchang has independently served as the company secretary of the Company since 1 October 2020. In
2024, Mr. Xuan Wenchang has received relevant professional trainings for not less than 15 hours. Please refer to
“Directors, Supervisors and Other Senior Management” for the biographical details of Mr. Xuan Wenchang. Each of
the Directors could discuss with the company secretary for seeking opinions and obtaining information.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

GENERAL MEETING

The general meeting is the supreme authority of the Company. It performs its functions according to law and
makes decisions on major issues in relation to the Company. The annual general meetings or extraordinary general
meetings provide a channel for the Shareholders of the Company to communicate directly with the Board. In 2024,
the Company convened three extraordinary general meetings and one annual general meeting in total, at which 22
proposals were considered and approved. All the Directors, Supervisors and senior management members shall, as
far as practicable, attend the general meeting of the Company. The following is the attendance record of the general
meetings of the Directors:

Number of
meetings Number of

required to meetings
be attended attended

Mr. Wang Hanjun (retired on 22 October 2024) 3 2
Mr. Xia Xiujiang (appointed on 15 November 2024) 0 0
Mr. Pei Hongwei 4 3
Mr. Li Guoging 4 3
Ms. Shi Huaxin 4 3
Mr. Peng Dongdong 4 4
Mr. Li Fei 4 4
Mr. Wang Tao 4 4
Ms. Tang Qimeng 4 4
Mr. Wang Guofeng 4 3
Mr. Ma Xufei 4 4
Mr. Qin Guisheng 4 4
Mr. Xia Peng 4 4




CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

SHAREHOLDER COMMUNICATION POLICY

The provisions set out in the Shareholder Communication Policy are designed to ensure that shareholders of the
Company, including individual and institutional shareholders (collectively, “Shareholders”) and, where appropriate,
the general investing public, have timely access to comprehensive, identical and understandable information
about the Company (including its financial performance, strategic objectives and plans, significant developments,
governance risks), so that, on the one hand, Shareholders can exercise their rights in an informed manner and, on
the other hand, Shareholders and the investing public can enhance their communication with the Company.

For the purposes of the Shareholder Communications Policy, “investment public” includes potential investors of the
Company and analysts who conduct reports and analyses on the performance of the Company.

The Board shall maintain an on-going dialogue with Shareholders and investment public, and will regularly review
the Shareholder Communications Policy to ensure its effectiveness.

Information shall be communicated to Shareholders and investment public mainly through the Company’s financial
reports (interim and annual reports), announcements, circulars and other corporate publications available on
the Company’s website at www.bjucd.com and HKExnews's website at www.hkexnews.hk as well as the direct
communication platform provided at the annual general meetings held each year and any other general meetings
that may be convened as and when required.

Effective and timely dissemination of information to Shareholders and the investment community shall be ensured
at all times, by means not limited to investor hotlines, mailboxes and regular results announcements, presentations,
etc. During the Reporting Period, the Company maintained close communication with its shareholders and investors
through the abovementioned channels and the Shareholder Communication Policy was effective.

Any question regarding the Shareholder Communications Policy shall be directed to company secretary of the
Company.

Q3LINMT "0D dNOY¥YD ININGOTIAIA B NDISIA NOILDNYLSNOD NVEdN DONIf3d

720 L4043 TVNNNV

113



d3LINMN 0D dNOYD ININKOTIAIA B NDISIA NOILDNYLSNOD NvEdN ONIf3d

7207 L40d3Y TVNNNV

114

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

RIGHTS OF SHAREHOLDERS
Methods of Convening Extraordinary General Meetings

According to the relevant requirements under the Company Law and the Articles of Association, any Shareholder(s),
whether individually or collectively, holding more than 10% (including 10%) of the outstanding Shares of the
Company with voting rights who request to convene an extraordinary meeting shall submit explicit agenda and
proposals in writing to the Board. The Board shall convene an extraordinary general meeting within two months.

Procedures for Proposing Extraordinary Proposals at General Meetings

Under the Company Law and the Articles of Association, the shareholder(s) individually or jointly holding more
than 1% of voting right of the shares of the Company may put forward interim proposals in writing to the
convener 10 days prior to the shareholders’ meeting. The interim proposals shall have clear topics and specific
resolutions. The convener shall notify the other shareholders within 2 days after receiving the proposal and submit
the same to the shareholders’ meeting for consideration, provided that the interim proposal may not violate laws,
administrative regulations or the provisions of the Articles of Association, or not fall within the scope of authority of
the shareholders’ meeting. The Company shall also comply with other requirements of the listing rules of the stock
exchange where the Company has its shares listed.

Shareholders may at any time send their enquiries to the Board in writing through the secretariat of the Board of the
Company, whose contact details are as follows:

Address: 5 Fuchengmen North Street, Xicheng District, Beijing, the PRC
Postal Code: 100037

Telephone: 86-10-88336868

Facsimile: 86-10-88336763

E-mail Address:  ir@bjucd.com



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

Information Disclosure and Investor Relations

The secretariat of the Board of the Company is responsible for information disclosure of the Company. The Company
has formulated and enforced the Administrative Measures on Information Disclosure of Beijing Urban Construction
Design & Development Group Co., Limited to ensure information disclosed is accurate, complete and made in a
timely manner. During the Reporting Period, the Company published its annual and interim results announcements
as well as its annual and interim reports and related temporary announcements in accordance with requirements
under the Hong Kong Listing Rules and made detailed disclosure on material information and the progress of any
significant matters relating to the Company.

During the Reporting Period, the Company continued to attach importance to network building in order to adapt
to the changes of the means of information disclosure required by the Hong Kong Stock Exchange, to disclose
every piece of information in a timely and accurate manner and to update and announce the operation dynamics
and information in a timely manner. The Company also continued to modify the Chinese and English versions of
the website pursuant to the latest requirements under the Hong Kong Listing Rules, enabling investors to have
a clear picture of the recent development of the Company. Detailed information of each business activity of the
Company and all published announcements are available for inquiry and downloading from the Company’s website,
www.bjucd.com.

The Company focuses on the maintenance of sound investors relations and maintains effective communication with
investors through various means. The Company timely communicated its operating results and business development
trends with investors after the announcements of the 2023 annual results and 2024 interim results by way of results
briefings and roadshows in order to strengthen communication with investors and facilitate the understanding of
the Company by investors. The Company also maintains sound communication with investors through acceptance
of investors’ visits, holding telephone conferences, attending major investment forums, by telephone and email,
etc. and proactively provides investor relations information on the Company’s website, with a view to establish and
maintain a good relationship with investors.

Articles of Association

The latest version of the Articles of Association is set out on the websites of the Company and the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange.

During the Reporting Period, in view of the need to further improve the corporate governance structure and
in accordance with the relevant provisions of the Company Law and other requirements, the Company made
corresponding amendments to the Articles of Association after the approval of the Board and the general meeting of
the Company. For details of the amendments, please refer to the announcements of the Company dated 9 January
2024 and 27 June 2024 and the circulars of the Company dated 22 February 2024 and 15 July 2024.

Donation

To demonstrate our social responsibility, the Company donated more than RMB100,000 for social welfare in 2024.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

1011, North Tower, World Finance Centre,
Harbour City, 19 Canton Road,
Tsim Sha Tsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong

M MOORE Da Hua Moore International CPA Limited

REHR(FEB)EFAEBRARAET

BBNEXNDIBERELISR
BENRKERMPOIEELOILE

T +852 23753180
F +852 2375 3828

www.moore.hk

To the Shareholders of Beijing Urban Construction Design & Development Group Co., Limited
(Incorporated in the People’s Republic of China with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Beijing Urban Construction Design & Development Group
Co., Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on pages 122 to 244, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2024, the consolidated statement of profit or loss,
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements,
including material accounting policy information and other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial
position of the Group as at 31 December 2024, and consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash
flows for the year then ended in accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards (“IFRSs”) issued by the International
Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (“ISAs”). Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the International Ethics
Standards Board for Accountants’ International Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including International
Independence Standards) (“IESBA Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with
the IESBA Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our opinion.



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT (CONTINUED)

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of
the consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit
of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a

separate opinion on these matters.

Key audit matter

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Revenue recognition on contracts for services and construction contracts

The Group derived most of its revenues from contracts
for services and construction contracts that were
recognised over time, using the input method. The input
method involved significant management judgement
and estimates, including estimates of the progress
towards completion, the scope of deliveries and services,
total contract costs, remaining costs to completion and
total contract revenues. In addition, revenue, cost and
gross profit realised on such contracts could vary from
the Group's original estimates because of changes in
conditions.

More details are set out in note 2.4 “Revenue
recognition”, note 3 “Significant accounting judgements
and estimates — Percentage of completion and estimation
of total budgeted costs and costs to completion for
construction contracting and contracts for services”, and
note 5 “Revenue, other income, gains and losses” to the
consolidated financial statements.

Our audit procedures included, but are not limited to,
the following:

We obtained an understanding of and assessed the
relevant internal controls over revenue recognition of
the Group. We obtained material contracts for services
and construction, reviewed the key contract terms,
and reviewed whether the revenue recognition policies
were in line with IFRSs. We reconciled the total contract
revenues to contracts. We reviewed the methods and
assumptions in determining the total budgeted costs.
We checked the relevant supporting documents for
actual costs on a sample basis. We performed cut-off
testing procedures to check whether material costs had
been recognised in the appropriate accounting periods.
We checked if there was any contract of which the
estimated contract costs exceeded the estimated contract
revenue and for which the provision was recognised. We
tested the calculation of the percentage of completion
and assessed whether the revenues and costs had been
recognised under the input method. We performed
analytical review procedures for the gross margin of
material contracts.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT (CONTINUED)

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

Key audit matter
Impairment of trade receivables and contract assets

As at 31 December 2024, the trade receivables and
contract assets of the Group amounted to RMB14,053
million, which represented 57% of its total assets.
According to the impairment requirements of IFRS 9
Financial Instruments, the Group established a provision
matrix based on its historical credit loss experience
and existence of disputes, and adjusted for forward-
looking factors specific to the debtors and the economic
environment. The Group considered the credit risk
characteristics of different customers and calculated
expected credit losses (“ECLs”) on trade receivables and
contract assets based on the combination of individual
and collective assessment. The Group recognised a loss
allowance based on lifetime ECLs. Making the allowance
involved significant management judgement and
estimates.

More details are set out in note 2.4 “Impairment
of financial assets”, note 3 “Significant accounting
judgements and estimates — Provision for expected
credit losses on trade receivables and contract assets”,
note 22 “Contract assets” and note 23 “Trade and bills
receivables” to the consolidated financial statements.

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Our audit procedures included, but are not limited to,
the following:

We assessed the impairment allowance of trade
receivables and contract assets by obtaining an
understanding of and assessing the relevant internal
controls over impairment of trade receivables and
contract assets of the Group, reviewing the accounting
policy for impairment of trade receivables and contract
assets, assessing the provision matrix and the expected
credit loss rate, assessing whether the assumptions
considered the impact of the forward-looking
information, and considering whether there were special
impairment indications about long ageing receivables
and overdue receivables.

For impairment allowance determined on an individual
assessment basis, we assessed the impairment allowance
determined by management by reviewing the forward-
looking information, reviewing the subsequent collection
after the reporting period, and evaluating whether
the respective debtors experienced significant financial
difficulty, default or delinquency in interest or principal
payments.

For the recognition of impairment provision for
receivables and contract assets by reference to the credit
risk portfolio, we reviewed management’s settings for
the credit risk portfolio, evaluated the rationality of the
impairment loss rate and forward-looking information,
and selected samples to review the rationality of the
credit risk, portfolio classification and impairment
provision.



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT (CONTINUED)

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

Key audit matter
Accounting for service concession arrangements

The Group engaged in certain service concession
arrangements, pursuant to which the Group is required
to build, operate and transfer the urban infrastructures
and received in return rights to the income arising from
operation of such infrastructures for certain concession
periods after the completion of construction of such
urban infrastructures. The measurement of revenue and
cost for the service concession arrangements involved
significant management judgement and estimates,
including determination of the applicable accounting
model, estimating future guaranteed receipts, and
estimation of the prevailing market rate of construction
gross margins, and the discount rate used.

More details are set out in note 2.4 “Service concession
arrangements”, note 3 “Significant accounting
judgements and estimates — Accounting for service
concession arrangements”, note 5 “Revenue, other
income, gains and losses”, note 15 “Intangible assets”,
note 22 “Contract assets” and note 23 “Trade and bills
receivables” to the consolidated financial statements.

OTHER INFORMATION

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Our audit procedures included, but are not limited to,
the following:

We obtained an understanding of and assessed the
relevant internal controls over accounting for service
concession arrangements, assessed whether the
accounting model adopted was in line with IFRSs by
reviewing the contract terms of whether the Group had
an unconditional contractual right under the service
concession arrangement to receive a determinable
amount of payments during the concession period, and
reviewed the methods and assumptions in determining
the future guaranteed receipts estimated. We involved
our internal valuation specialist to assess the rate of
construction gross margins and discount rate used.
We tested the calculation of contract assets, trade
receivables, intangible assets and revenue.

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the

information included in the Annual Report, but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our

auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express

any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated

financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If,
based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information,
we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT (CONTINUED)

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated
financial statements in accordance with IFRSs issued by the IASB and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the management determines is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the Company are responsible for assessing the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using
the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors of the Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to
cease operations or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee in discharging their responsibilities for overseeing
the Group's financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes
our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with our agreed terms of engagement, and for no other purpose.
We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

. Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group's internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the directors.



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT (CONTINUED)

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that
may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future
events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including
the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

o Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group as a basis for forming an opinion on the
group financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and review of the audit work
performed for the purposes of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during
our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements
regarding independence and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably
be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards
applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key
audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated
in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

Da Hua Moore International CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Leung Man Chung
Practising Certificate Number: P08074

Hong Kong,
26 March 2025
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

For the year ended 31 December 2024

2024 2023
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
REVENUE 5 8,657,832 10,361,699
Cost of sales 7 (7,098,486) (8,475,238)
Gross profit 1,559,346 1,886,461
Other income 5 405,289 416,869
Other gains and losses, net 5 11,889 287,554
Selling and distribution expenses (63,199) (82,092)
Administrative expenses (866,192) (979,282)
Impairment losses on financial assets and contract assets, net 7 (175,023) (286,213)
Finance costs 6 (282,016) (290,799)
Share of profits of:
Joint ventures 5,589 13,494
Associates 37,992 51,810
PROFIT BEFORE TAX 7 633,675 1,017,802
Income tax expense 9 (100,208) (107,454)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 533,467 910,348
Profit attributable to:
Owners of the Company 11 516,907 872,852
Non-controlling interests 16,560 37,496
533,467 910,348
EARNINGS PER SHARE
Basic and diluted (expressed in RMB per share) 11 0.38 0.65




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

For the year ended 31 December 2024

2024 2023
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 533,467 910,348
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE EXPENSE
Other comprehensive expense that may be reclassified to

profit or loss in subsequent periods (net of tax):

Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations (120) (86)
Other comprehensive income/(expense) that will not be reclassified to

profit or loss in subsequent periods (net of tax):

Changes in fair value of equity investments designated at fair value

through other comprehensive income 22,092 3,869
Remeasurement losses on defined benefit plans 29 (12,980) (6,520)
9,112 (2,651)

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(EXPENSE) FOR THE YEAR,

NET OF TAX 8,992 (2,737)
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR 542,459 907,611
Attributable to:

Owners of the Company 525,899 870,115

Non-controlling interests 16,560 37,496

542,459 907,611
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

31 December 2024

=]
& 2024 2023
% Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
z
(@)
2 NON-CURRENT ASSETS
z Property, plant and equipment 12 1,467,815 1,436,905
9 Goodwill 13 5,741 5,741
g Right-of-use assets 14(a) 592,258 511,308
3 Intangible assets 5 513,376 542,209
e Investments in joint ventures 16 2,121,178 2,201,981
@ Investments in associates 17 1,328,226 1,077,672
E Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 18 5,178 8,388
é Equity investments designated at fair value through
E other comprehensive income 19 227,796 202,357
; Deferred tax assets 20 392,977 358,353
é Contract assets 22 4,523,909 4,936,462
2 Prepayments, other receivables and other assets 24 132,475 163,369
o
% Total non-current assets 11,310,929 11,444,745
)
CURRENT ASSETS
Inventories 21 94,924 70,664
Trade and bills receivables 23 4,049,811 4,500,516
Prepayments, other receivables and other assets 24 413,602 444,651
Contract assets 22 5,516,152 4,979,326
Pledged deposits 25 112,663 99,941
Cash and bank balances 25 3,043,846 3,309,696
Total current assets 13,230,998 13,404,794
CURRENT LIABILITIES
b Trade and bills payables 26 5,587,026 5,913,938
;% Other payables and accruals 27 3,828,066 3,749,070
- Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings 28 1,599,023 2,206,129
§ Provisions for supplementary retirement benefits 29 3,910 3,910
= Tax payable 36,300 118,579
N Provision 30 6,682 6,313
Total current liabilities 11,061,007 11,997,939
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION (CONTINUED)

31 December 2024

2024 2023
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
NET CURRENT ASSETS 2,169,991 1,406,855
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES 13,480,920 12,851,600
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Deferred tax liabilities 20 7,401 7,584
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings 28 5,019,814 4,707,820
Provisions for supplementary retirement benefits 29 78,604 74,470
Other payables and accruals 27 353,665 367,775
Provision 30 88,029 65,336
Total non-current liabilities 5,547,513 5,222,985
Net assets 7,933,407 7,628,615
EQUITY
Equity attributable to owners of the Company
Share capital 317 1,348,670 1,348,670
Reserves 32 6,347,217 6,052,516
7,695,887 7,401,186
Non-controlling interests 237,520 227,429
Total equity 7,933,407 7,628,615
Xia Xiujiang Li Guoging
Director Director
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

For the year ended 31 December 2024

Attributable to owners of the Company

o
&
S :
g Fair value
= reserve
% of financial
(2]
é‘ assets at
9 fair value
S through other Statutory  Exchange Non-
E Share Capital comprehensive Special surplus  fluctuation  Retained controlling Total
Q capital reserve income reserve reserve reserve profits Total interests equity
g RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
<
g As at 1 January 2024 1,348,670  647,706* 4,845* 206*  638,735* (120)* 4,761,144* 7,401,186 221,429 17,628,615
z
9 Profit for the year - - - - - - 516907 516,907 16,560 533,467
% Other comprehensive income for the year:
_8 Remeasurement losses on defined
= benefit plans, net of tax - (12,90 - - - - - (12.980) - (12,980
r%ﬂ Changes in fair value of equity
© investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income, net of tax - - 22,092 - - - - 22,092 - 22,092
Exchange differences on
translation of foreign operations - - - - - (120) - (120) - (120)
Total comprehensive income for the year - (12,980) 22,09 - - (1200 516,907 525,899 16,560 542,459
Acquisition of additional interests of a
subsidiary from non-controlling interest - (92) - - - - - (92) (3,412) (3,504)
Capital contribution from other
shareholders of associates to
respective associates - 1,406 - - - - - 1,406 - 1,406
> Final 2023 dividend declared - - - - - - (232512 (232512) - (232512
z Dividend declared to non-controlling
> shareholders - - - - - - - -0 305
§ Appropriation to statutory surplus reserve - - - - 28,406 - (28,400) - - -
= Transfer to special reserve (note 32(ii)) - - - 116,014 - - (116,014) - - -
§ Utilisation of special reserve (note 32/ii) = = - (110,830) = - 110830 - - -
N
At 31 December 2024 1,348,670 636,040* 26,937+ 5390%  667,141* (240)* 5,011,949* 7695887 237520 7,933,407
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2024

Attributable to owners of the Company

Fair value
reserve
of financial
assets at
fair value
through other Statutory  Exchange Non-
Share Capital - comprehensive Special surplus  fluctuation  Retained controlling Total
capital reserve income reserve reserve reserve profits Total interests equity
RMB'000  RMB'000 RVB'000  RMB'000  RMB'O0  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'O00  RMB'000  RMB'000

As at 1 January 2023 1,348,670 654,226* 1,267 -+ 555,449* (34)* 4227471% 6,787,049 199911 6,986,960

Profit for the year = = = = = = 872,852 872,852 37,4% 910,348
Other comprehensive income for the year:
Remeasurement losses on defined benefit

Q3LINMT "0D dNOY¥YD ININGOTIAIA B NDISIA NOILDNYLSNOD NVEdN DONIf3d

plans, net of tax - (6,520) - - - - - (6,520) - (6,520)
Changes in fair value of equity investments
at fair value through other comprehensive
income, net of tax - - 3,869 - - - - 3,869 - 3,869
Exchange differences on translation of
foreign operations - - - - - (86) - (86) - (86)
Total comprehensive income for the year - (6,520) 3,869 - - (86) 872,852 870,115 37,4% 907,611
Final 2022 dividend declared - - - - = - (255,978)  (255,978) - (255,978)
Dividend declared to non-controlling
shareholders - - - - - - - - (9.978) (9,978)
Appropriation to statutory surplus reserve - - - - 83,286 - (83,286) - - -
Transfer of fair value reserve upon the disposal
of equity investments at fair value through >
other comprehensive income - - (291) - - = 291 = - - %
Transfer to special reserve (note 32(ii)) - - - 117,997 - - (117,997) = - - 2
Utilisation of special reserve (note 32/ii) - - - (117,791) - - 117,791 - - - %
§
At 31 December 2023 1348670  647,706% 4,845+ 206* 638735 (120)% 4,761,144 7401186 227,429 7,628,615 §

The reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of RMB6,347,217,000 (31 December 2023:
RMB6,052,516,000) in the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2024.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

For the year ended 31 December 2024

2024 2023
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Profit before tax 633,675 1,017,802
Adjustments for:
Finance costs 6 282,016 290,799
Foreign exchange differences, net 5 (3,250) (1,268)
Interest income 5 (390,648) (406,049)
Dividend income 5 (5,521) -
Gain on disposal of an associate 5 - (277,851)
Fair value losses of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 5 3,210 406
Share of profits of associates and joint ventures (43,581) (65,304)
Depreciation of right-of-use assets 14 105,855 112,252
Depreciation of items of property, plant and equipment 12 145,501 89,547
Amortisation of intangible assets 15 40,773 40,626
Impairment of trade and bills receivables, net 23 51,567 225,868
Impairment/(reversal of impairment) of prepayments,
other receivables, net 24 6,489 (3,427)
Impairment of contract assets, net 22 116,967 63,772
Provision for foreseeable losses on contracts, net 7 6,461 5,063
Gains on disposal of items of property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets, net 5 (2,239) (3,167)
Others - 5,287
947,275 1,094,356
Increase in inventories (24,260) (2,745)
Decrease in contract assets 114,514 53,933
Decrease/(increase) in trade and bills receivables 162,898 (811,973)
(Increase)/decrease in prepayments, other receivables and other assets (46,607) 115,320
Increase in pledged deposits (12,722) (58,646)
(Decrease)/increase in trade and bills payables (330,564) 303,487
Increase/(decrease) in other payables and accruals 51,335 (272,579)
Increase in provision 16,601 8,284
Decrease in provisions for supplementary retirement benefits (8,846) (73)
Cash flows from operations 869,624 429,364
Interest received 34,894 32,124
Income tax paid (220,641) (132,887)
Net cash flows from operating activities 683,877 328,601




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2024

2024 2023
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchases of items of property, plant and equipment (99,409) (478,055)
Purchases of intangible assets (16,501) (14,282)
Purchases of right-of-use assets (3,967) -
Addition of investments in associates and joint ventures (211,666) (376,609)
Proceeds from disposal of associates 139,214 247,622
Proceeds from disposal of items of property, plant and equipment
and intangible assets 536 346
Proceeds from disposal of equity investments designated at fair value
through other comprehensive income - 4,262
Dividends received from associates and joint ventures 1,500 465
Dividends from equity investments designated at fair value through
other comprehensive income 1,308 -
Net cash flows used in investing activities (188,985) (616,251)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Interest paid (242,775) (257,977)
Dividend paid to shareholders (232,512) (259,917)
Dividend paid to non-controlling shareholders (6,824) (8,398)
Repayment of principal portion of lease liabilities (83,730) (109,217)
Payment of interest portion of lease liabilities (14,543) (11,272)
New bank and other borrowings 1,648,451 932,133
Repayment of bank and other borrowings (1,828,435) (929,391)
Acquisition of additional interests of a subsidiary from
non-controlling interest (3,504) -
Net cash flows used in financing activities (763,872) (644,039)
NET DECREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (268,980) (931,689)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 3,309,696 4,240,203
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents 3,130 1,182
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR 25 3,043,846 3,309,696
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2024

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

Beijing Urban Construction Design & Development Group Co., Limited (the “Company”) began its operations
in 1958 in the People’s Republic of China (“PRC") as a state-owned professional survey and design
institute founded specifically for the survey and design of Beijing Subway Line 1. Subsequent to a series
of reorganisations, the Company was then converted into a joint stock company with limited liability and
renamed as Beijing Urban Construction Design & Development Group Co., Limited (3t Ry 2 &A1 3B & B %
W AEMRA7F]) on 28 October 2013. The Company’s H shares were issued and listed on the Main Board of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Stock Exchange”) in July 2014.

The registered office address of the Company is 5 Fuchengmen North Street, Xicheng District, Beijing, the
PRC. The principal place of business of the Company in Hong Kong is 40th Floor, Dah Sing Financial Centre,
No. 248 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong.

During the year, the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) were involved in
the following principal activities:

- Design, survey and consultancy services for urban rail transit and urban rail transit related industrial
and civil construction and municipal engineering projects;

- Construction contracting services for urban rail transit and the service concession arrangements under
the build-operate-transfer (“BOT") arrangements.

In the opinion of the directors of the Company (the “Directors”), the Company’s holding company and
the ultimate holding company is Beijing Urban Construction Group Co., Ltd. (bt MEEEER ST A A,
“"BUCG"), which is a state-owned enterprise and incorporated in Beijing, the PRC.



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2024

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Information about subsidiaries
Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as follows:

Percentage of equity

Place and date of interest attributable
registration and to the Company

Company name* place of business Registered capital Direct Indirect  Principal activities

Beijing Urban Construction The PRC/Mainland China  RMB30,000,000 100% - Surveying, designing and
Exploration & Surveying Design 3 May 1992 (2023: 100%) (2023:-)  engineering exploration
Research Institute Co., Ltd.

("ERERBAR AR ARER
i\\ﬂn)

Beijing Huan'an Engineering The PRC/Mainland China  RMB30,000,000 100% - Engineering consulting,
Inspection Co., Ltd. ("ItRIRZ TR 18 June 2008 (2023: 100%) (2023:-)  monitoring and testing
RABREELR")

China Metro Engineering The PRC/Mainland China  RMB13,340,000 56.22% - Rail transit engineering
Consulting Co., Ltd. 27 October 2006 (2023:56.22%) (2023:-)  consulting
("PEE I RAABREMLRA")

Beijing Guancheng Technology The PRC/Mainland China  RMB30,000,000 100% - Property management
Development Co., Ltd. 21 November 2011 (2023: 100%) (2023: )
("ERBHMRERERAA")

Beijing Urban Construction Xinjie The PRC/Mainland China  RMB5,000,000 60% 40%  Rail transit engineering
Consulting Co., Ltd. 2 January 2004 (2023: 60%)  (2023: 40%)  consulting
("ERBRERNERBIREN
BRAR")

Beijing Urban Construction Design The PRC/Hong Kong HKD3,000,000 100% - Advisory services
(Hong Kong) Co., Ltd. 5 January 2015 (2023: 100%) (2023: )
("fRHER(EEARRE")

Anhui Jingjian Capital Construction  The PRC/Mainland China  RMB500,000,000 88% - Construction project
Investment Co., Ltd. 12 May 2015 (2023: 88%) (2023:-)  investment, construction
("BHREREARZERAA") and operation

maintenance

Beijing Urban Rail Transit The PRC/Mainland China  RMB300,000,000 100% - Construction contracting
Construction Engineering Co., Ltd. 21 September 2015 (2023: 100%) (2023: -)
("ERBERERRRIR
BRAR")
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2024

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as follows: (continued)

Place and date of

Percentage of equity
interest attributable

registration and to the Company

Company name* place of business Registered capital Direct Indirect  Principal activities

Rail Transit Energy Conservation The PRC/Mainland China  RMB10,000,000 90% - Engineering services and
Beijing Engineering Research 20 August 2015 (2023: 60%) (2023: -)  development, consulting
Center Co., Ltd.

("BER BRI RT IRRARRL
BRAR"

Guizhou Jingjian Capital The PRC/Mainland China  RMB360,000,000 75% - Construction project
Construction Investment Co., Ltd. 22 June 2016 (2023: 75%) (2023:-) investment, construction
("EMRRRERZERAR") and operation

maintenance

Yunnan Jingjian Capital Construction ~ The PRC/Mainland China  RMB386,980,000 90% - Construction project
Investment Co., Ltd. 28 July 2016 (2023: 90%) (2023: -)  investment, construction
("EBRBRERRARAA") and operation

maintenance

Beijing Urban Infrastructure The PRC/Mainland China  RMB100,000,000 100% - Investment management
Construction Investment 19 May 2016 (2023: 100%) (2023: -)  and consultancy services
Management Co., Ltd.

("ERBEERREREER
BRAR"

Beijing Urban Construction The PRC/Mainland China  RMB30,000,000 100% - Construction design
Transportation Design and 18 July 2016 (2023: 100%) (2023: -)

Research Institute Co., Ltd.
("ERBER BRI AR AR
RAE")

Beijing Jingjian Shuncheng The PRC/Mainland China  RMB700,000,000 70% - Project investment

Construction Investment Co., Ltd. 8 August 2017 (2023:70%) (2023: -)  and railway operation

("ERREEREREERRAR")

management



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2024

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)
Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as follows: (continued)

Percentage of equity
Place and date of interest attributable
registration and to the Company

Company name* Note place of business Registered capital Direct Indirect  Principal activities

Beijing Anjie Engineering Consultants The PRC/Mainland China ~ RMB5,000,000 30% 21%  Engineering services and
Co., Ltd. 25 January 2007 (2023:30%)  (2023:21%)  development, consultancy
("FRERIRZAERAR") services

Huangshan Jingjian Capital The PRC/Mainland China ~ RMB100,000,000 90% - Construction project
Construction Investment Co., Ltd. 8 August 2018 (2023: 90%) (2023:-)  investment, construction
("BWFRRERRERAR") and operation maintenance

Beijing Urban Construction Design & The PRC/Mainland China ~ RMB10,000,000 100% - Construction contracting
Development Group Guangzhou 22 November 2018 (2023: 100%) (2023: -)

Construction Co., Ltd.
(bR EREEEMER
ARAR")

Beijing Rail Transit Design and (i) The PRC/Mainland China  RMB10,000,000 50% - Construction design
Research Institute Co., Ltd. 15 November 2012 (2023: 50%) (2023: -)

(“Beijing Rail Transit Design”)
("ERTRERERE TR
BRAFE")

Hunan Jingjian Capital Construction The PRC/Mainland China ~ RMB149,973,200 70% - Construction project
Investment Co., Ltd. 25 September 2020 (2023: 70%) (2023:-)  investment, construction
("HERRRERRERAR") and operation maintenance

Beijing Yaocheng Cultural and The PRC/Mainland China ~ RMB10,000,000 100% - Technology development
Creative Technology Development 26 September 2021 (2023: 100%) (2023:-)  and consulting services
Co., Ltd.

("SRRI AR ERER L")

Beijing Institute of Residential Building The PRC/Mainland China  RMB40,000,000 100% - Architectural design

Design & Research Co., Ltd. 20 August 1984 (2023: 100%) (2023: -)

("RmEERERH TR
BRRA")
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2024

2.1

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)
Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as follows: (continued)

* The English names of the companies registered in the PRC represent the best efforts of the management of the
Company in directly translating the Chinese names of the companies as no English names have been registered.

(i) As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Group has controlled Beijing Rail Transit Design through an agreement
entered into with the other shareholder of Beijing Rail Transit Design, who hold 50% equity interest in Beijing Rail
Transit Design, pursuant to which the shareholder confirmed to act in accordance with the Group in decision on
relevant activities of Beijing Rail Transit Design.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in the opinion of the directors, principally
affected the results for the year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the Group. To give details
of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors, result in particulars of excessive length.

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at the end of the year.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

These consolidated financial statements of the Group have been prepared in accordance with IFRS Accounting
Standards (“IFRSs"”) (which include all International Financial Reporting Standards, International Accounting
Standards (“IASs”) and Interpretations) issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB"”) and
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on Stock Exchange. These financial statements are presented in Renminbi (“RMB"”) and all values
are rounded to the nearest thousand except when otherwise indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of the Company and entities controlled
by the Company and its subsidiaries for the year ended 31 December 2024. A subsidiary is an entity (including
a structured entity), directly or indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control is achieved when the Group has
power over the investee is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee
and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the investee (i.e., existing rights that give
the Group the current ability to direct the relevant activities of the investee).

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting rights results in control. When the Company has,
directly or indirectly, less than a majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group considers all
relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power over an investee, including:

(a) the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

(c) the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.



2.1

2.2

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2024

BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONTINUED)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting period as the Company, using
consistent accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which the Group
obtains control, and continue to be consolidated until the date that such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income are attributed to the owners of the
Company and to the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the non-controlling interests having
a deficit balance. All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to
transactions between members of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises (i) the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities
of the subsidiary, (ii) the carrying amount of any non-controlling interest and (iii) the cumulative translation
differences recorded in equity; and recognises (i) the fair value of the consideration received, (ii) the fair value
of any investment retained and (iii) any resulting surplus or deficit in profit or loss. The Group's share of
components previously recognised in other comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or loss or retained
profits, as appropriate, on the same basis as would be required if the Group had directly disposed of the
related assets or liabilities.

Changes in the Group’s interests in subsidiaries that do not result in the Group losing control over the
subsidiaries are accounted for as equity transactions. The carrying amounts of the Group’s relevant
components of equity and the non-controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative
interests in the subsidiaries.

Any difference between the amount by which the non-controlling interests are adjusted, and the fair value of
the consideration paid or received is recognised directly in equity and attributed to owners of the Company.

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND DISCLOSURES

In the current year, the Group has applied the following amendments to IFRSs for the first time, which are
mandatorily effective for the Group's annual period beginning on 1 January 2024 for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements:

Amendments to IFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback

Amendments to IAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current
Amendments to IAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with Covenants

Amendments to IAS 7 and IFRS 7 Supplier Finance Arrangements

Except as described below, the application of the amendments to IFRSs in the current year has had no
material impact on the Group's financial performance and positions for the current and prior years and/or on
the disclosures set out in these consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2024

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED)

The nature and the impact of the amendment to IFRSs that are applicable to the Group are described below:

(a)

Impacts on application of Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-
current and related amendments to Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020) (the “2020 Amendments”) and
Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with Covenants (the “2022 Amendments”).

The Group has applied the amendments for the first time in the current year.

The 2020 Amendments provide clarification and additional guidance on the assessment of right to
defer settlement for at least twelve months from reporting date for classification of liabilities as current
or non-current, which:

o Specify that the classification of liabilities as current or non-current should be based on rights
that are in existence at the end of the reporting period. Specifically, the classification should not
be affected by management intentions or expectations to settle the liability within 12 months.

o Clarify that the settlement of a liability can be a transfer of cash, goods or services, or the
entity’s own equity instruments to the counterparty. If a liability has terms that could, at the
option of the counterparty, result in its settlement by the transfer of the entity’s own equity
instruments, these terms do not affect its classification as current or non-current only if the
entity recognises the option separately as an equity instrument applying HKAS 32 Financial
Instruments: Presentation.

For rights to defer settlement for at least twelve months from reporting date which are conditional on
the compliance with covenants, the 2022 Amendments specifically clarify that only covenants that an
entity is required to comply with on or before the end of the reporting period affect the entity’s right
to defer settlement of a liability for at least twelve months after the reporting date, even if compliance
with the covenant is assessed only after the reporting date. The 2022 Amendments also specify that
covenants with which an entity must comply after the reporting date (i.e. future covenants) do not
affect the classification of a liability as current or non-current at the reporting date. However, if the
entity’s right to defer settlement of a liability is subject to the entity complying with covenants within
twelve months after the reporting period, an entity discloses information that enables users of financial
statements to understand the risk of the liabilities becoming repayable within twelve months after
the reporting period. This would include information about the covenants, the carrying amount of
related liabilities and facts and circumstances, if any, that indicate that the entity may have difficulties
complying with the covenants.

In accordance with the transition provision, the Group has applied the new accounting policy to the
classification of liability as current or non-current retrospectively. The application of the amendments in
the current year had no material impact on the consolidated financial statements.



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2024

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED)

2.3

(b)

The Amendments to IAS 7 and IFRS 7 Supplier Finance Arrangements add a disclosure objective to
IAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows stating that an entity is required to disclose information about its
supplier finance arrangements that enables users of financial statements to assess the effects of
those arrangements on the entity’s liabilities and cash flows. In addition, IFRS 7 Financial Instruments:
Disclosures was amended to add supplier finance arrangements as an example within the requirements
to disclose information about an entity’s exposure to concentration of liquidity risk.

The term ‘supplier finance arrangements’ is not defined. Instead, the amendments describe the
characteristics of an arrangement for which an entity would be required to provide the information.

To meet the disclosure objective, an entity will be required to disclose in aggregate for its supplier
finance arrangements:

° The terms and conditions of the arrangements;

o The carrying amount and associated line items presented in the entity’s statement of financial
position, of the liabilities that are part of the arrangements, and the non-cash changes in the
carrying amounts of these financial liabilities;

o The carrying amount, and associated line items for which the suppliers have already received
payment from the finance providers;

o Ranges of payment due dates for both those financial liabilities that are part of a supplier
finance arrangement and comparable trade payables that are not part of a supplier finance
arrangement; and liquidity risk information.

The amendments did not have any impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements and
accounting policy disclosures in the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE IFRSS

The Group has not applied the following new and amendments to IFRSs, that have been issued but are not
yet effective, in these financial statements.

Amendments to IFRS 9 and IFRS 7

Amendments to IFRS 9 and IFRS 7
Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28

Amendments to the Classification and Measurement of
Financial Instruments?

Contracts Referencing Nature-dependant Electricity?

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture'

Amendments to IFRS Accounting Standards Annual Improvements to IFRS Accounting Standards —
Volume 113

Amendments to IAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability?

IFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements*

A 0w oN -

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined.
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025.
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2026.
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2024

2.3

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE IFRSS (CONTINUED)

Except for the new and amendments to IFRSs mentioned below, the directors of the Company anticipate that
the application of all other new and amendments to IFRSs will have no material impact on the consolidated
financial statements in the foreseeable future.

The amendments to IFRS 9 clarify the recognition and derecognition for financial asset and financial liability
and add an exception which permits an entity to deem a financial liability to be discharged before the
settlement date if it is settled in cash using an electronic payment system if, and only if certain conditions are
met.

The amendments also provide guidance on the assessment of whether the contractual cash flows of a
financial asset are consistent with a basic lending arrangement. The amendments specify that an entity
should focus on what an entity is being compensated for rather than the compensation amount. Contractual
cash flows are inconsistent with a basic lending arrangement if they are indexed to a variable that is not a
basic lending risk or cost. The amendments state that, in some cases, a contingent feature may give rise to
contractual cash flows that are consistent with a basic lending arrangement both before and after the change
in contractual cash flows, but the nature of the contingent event itself does not relate directly to changes in
basic lending risks and costs. Furthermore, the description of the term “non-recourse” is enhanced and the
characteristics of “contractually linked instruments” are clarified in the amendments.

The disclosure requirements in IFRS 7 in respect of investments in equity instruments designated at fair value
through other comprehensive income are amended. In particular, entities are required to disclose the fair
value gain or loss presented in other comprehensive income during the period, showing separately those
related to investments derecognised during the reporting period and those related to investments held at
the end of the reporting period. An entity is also required to disclose any transfers of the cumulative gain
or loss within equity related to the investments derecognised during the reporting period. In addition, the
amendments introduce the requirements of qualitative and quantitative disclosure of contractual terms that
could affect the contractual cash flow based on a contingent even not directly relating to basic lending risks
and cost.

The amendments are effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2026, with early
application permitted. The application of the amendments is not expected to have significant impact on the
financial position and performance of the Group.



2.3

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2024

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE IFRSS (CONTINUED)

Amendments to IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements and IAS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint
Ventures address an inconsistency between the requirements in IFRS 10 and in IAS 28 in dealing with the sale
or contribution of assets between an investor and its associate or joint venture. The amendments require a
full recognition of a gain or loss resulting from a downstream transaction when the sale or contribution of
assets between an investor and its associate or joint venture constitutes a business. For a transaction involving
assets that do not constitute a business, a gain or loss resulting from the transaction is recognised in the
investor’s profit or loss only to the extent of the unrelated investor’s interest in that associate or joint venture.
The amendments are to be applied prospectively. The previous mandatory effective date of amendments to
IFRS 10 and IAS 28 was removed by the IASB in December 2015 and a new mandatory effective date will
be determined after the completion of a broader review of accounting for associates and joint ventures.
However, the amendments are available for adoption now.

The amendments state that a currency is exchangeable into another currency when an entity is able to obtain
the other currency within a time frame that allows for a normal administrative delay and through a market or
exchange mechanism in which an exchange transaction would create enforceable rights and obligations.

An entity assesses whether a currency is exchangeable into another currency at a measurement date and for a
specified purpose. If an entity is able to obtain no more than an insignificant amount of the other currency at
the measurement date for the specified purpose, the currency is not exchangeable into the other currency.

The assessment of whether a currency is exchangeable into another currency depends on an entity’s ability to
obtain the other currency and not on its intention or decision to do so.

When a currency is not exchangeable into another currency at a measurement date, an entity is required to
estimate the spot exchange rate at that date. An entity’s objective in estimating the spot exchange rate is to
reflect the rate at which an orderly exchange transaction would take place at the measurement date between
market participants under prevailing economic conditions.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2024

2.3

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE IFRSS (CONTINUED)

The amendments do not specify how an entity estimates the spot exchange rate to meet that objective. An
entity can use an observable exchange rate without adjustment or another estimation technique. Examples of
an observable exchange rate include:

o a spot exchange rate for a purpose other than that for which an entity assesses exchangeability;

o the first exchange rate at which an entity is able to obtain the other currency for the specified purpose
after exchangeability of the currency is restored (first subsequent exchange rate).

An entity using another estimation technique may use any observable exchange rate — including rates
from exchange transactions in markets or exchange mechanisms that do not create enforceable rights and
obligations — and adjust that rate, as necessary, to meet the objective as set out above.

When an entity estimates a spot exchange rate because a currency is not exchangeable into another currency,
the entity is required to disclose information that enables users of its financial statements to understand how
the currency not being exchangeable into the other currency affects, or is expected to affect, the entity’'s
financial performance, financial position and cash flows.

The amendments add a new appendix as an integral part of IAS 21. The appendix includes application
guidance on the requirements introduced by the amendments. The amendments also add new lllustrative
Examples accompanying IAS 21, which illustrate how an entity might apply some of the requirements in
hypothetical situations based on the limited facts presented.

The amendments are effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025, with earlier
application permitted. An entity is not permitted to apply the amendments retrospectively. Instead, an entity
is required to apply the specific transition provisions included in the amendments.

The application of the amendments is not expected to have significant impact on the financial position and
performance of the Group.

IFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements, which sets out requirements on presentation
and disclosures in financial statements, will replace IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements. This new IFRS
Accounting Standard, while carrying forward many of the requirements in IAS 1, introduces new requirements
to present specified categories and defined subtotals in the statement of profit or loss; provide disclosures on
management-defined performance measures in the notes to the financial statements and improve aggregation
and disaggregation of information to be disclosed in the financial statements. In addition, some IAS 1
paragraphs have been moved to IAS 8 and IFRS 7. Minor amendments to IAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows and
IAS 33 Earnings per Share are also made.

IFRS 18, and amendments to other standards, will be effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2027, with early application permitted. The application of the new standard is expected to affect the
presentation of the statement of profit or loss and disclosures in the future financial statements. The Group is
in the process of assessing the detailed impact of IFRS 18 on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.



2.4

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2024

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

Investments in associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity in which the Group has a long term interest of generally not less than 20% of the
equity voting rights and over which it is in a position to exercise significant influence. Significant influence is
the power to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee, but is not control or
joint control over those policies.

A joint venture is a type of joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of the arrangement
have rights to the net assets of the joint venture. Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing of control of
an arrangement, which exists only when decisions about the relevant activities require the unanimous consent
of the parties sharing control.

The Group's investments in associates and joint ventures are stated in the consolidated statement of financial
position at the Group’s share of net assets under the equity method of accounting, less any impairment
losses. Adjustments are made to bring into line any dissimilar accounting policies that may exist.

The Group’s share of the post-acquisition results and other comprehensive income of associates and joint
ventures is included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income. In addition, when there has been a change recognised directly in the equity of the
associate or joint venture, the Group recognises its share of any changes, when applicable, in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity. Unrealised gains and losses resulting from transactions between the Group
and its associates or joint ventures are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s investments in the associates
or joint ventures, except where unrealised losses provide evidence of an impairment of the assets transferred.
Goodwill arising from the acquisition of associates or joint ventures is included as part of the Group's
investments in associates or joint ventures.

When an investment in an associate or a joint venture is classified as held for sale, it is accounted for in
accordance with IFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations.

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its equity investments at fair value at the end of each reporting period. Fair value is the
price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date. The fair value measurement is based on the presumption that
the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either in the principal market for the asset
or liability, or in the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability.
The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible by the Group. The fair value of an asset
or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants would use when pricing the asset or
liability, assuming that market participants act in their economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant’s ability to generate
economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market participant
that would use the asset in its highest and best use.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2024

2.4

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Fair value measurement (continued)

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient data
are available to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and minimising the use
of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the consolidated financial statements
are categorised within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is
significant to the fair value measurement as a whole:

Level 1 — based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 — based on valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement is observable, either directly or indirectly

Level 3 - based on valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the consolidated financial statements on a recurring basis,
the Group determines whether transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by reassessing
categorisation (based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at
the end of each reporting period.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required (other
than inventories, contract assets, deferred tax assets, financial assets, investment properties and non-current
assets), the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of the
asset’s or cash-generating unit’s value in use and its fair value less costs of disposal, and is determined for an
individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those from
other assets or groups of assets, in which case the recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating
unit to which the asset belongs. In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, a portion of the carrying
amount of a corporate asset (e.g., a headquarters building) is allocated to an individual cash-generating
unit if it can be allocated on a reasonable and consistent basis or, otherwise, to the smallest group of cash-
generating units.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to
the asset. An impairment loss is charged to profit or loss in the period in which it arises in those expense
categories consistent with the function of the impaired asset.



2.4

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2024

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Impairment of non-financial assets (continued)

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period as to whether there is an indication that previously
recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If such an indication exists, the
recoverable amount is estimated. A previously recognised impairment loss of an asset other than goodwill is

reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount of that
asset, but not to an amount higher than the carrying amount that would have been determined (net of any
depreciation/amortisation) had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal of
such an impairment loss is credited to profit or loss in the period in which it arises.

Related parties
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a)

or

the party is a person or a close member of that person’s family and that person

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(ii) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii)  is @ member of the key management personnel of the Group or of a parent of the Group;

the party is an entity where any of the following conditions applies:

(i) the entity and the Group are members of the same group;

(ii) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow
subsidiary of the other entity);

(iii)  the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the same third party;

(iv)  one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an associate of the third
entity;

(v) the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of either the Group or
an entity related to the Group;

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person identified in (a);

(vii)  a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over the entity or is a member of the key
management personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity); and

(viii)  the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part, provides key management personnel
services to the Group or to the parent of the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2024

2.4

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in progress, are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses. The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment comprises its
purchase price and any directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working condition and location
for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and equipment have been put into operation, such as
repairs and maintenance, is normally charged to profit or loss in the period in which it is incurred. In situations
where the recognition criteria are satisfied, the expenditure for a major inspection is capitalised in the carrying
amount of the asset as a replacement. Where significant parts of property, plant and equipment are required
to be replaced at intervals, the Group recognises such parts as individual assets with specific useful lives and
depreciates them accordingly.

Except that the depreciation of certain items of machinery for shield tunnelling construction is calculated on
the unit of production method, the depreciation of other property, plant and equipment is calculated on the
straight-line basis to write off the cost of each item of property, plant and equipment to its residual value
over its estimated useful life. The principal annual rates used for this purpose are as follows:

Buildings 2.4% to 3.2%
Machinery 4.8% to 19.4%
Production equipment 6.5% to 32.3%
Motor vehicles 7.9% to 19.4%
Measurement and experimental equipment 9.5% to 19.4%
Office equipment and others 9.5% to 31.7%
Decoration 20.0%
Leasehold improvements 5.0% to 33.3%

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, the cost of that item
is allocated on a reasonable basis among the parts and each part is depreciated separately. Residual values,
useful lives and the depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at each financial
year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including any significant part initially recognised is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss
on disposal or retirement recognised in profit or loss in the year the asset is derecognised is the difference
between the net sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant asset.



2.4

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2024

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation (continued)

Construction in progress represents property, plant and equipment under construction, which is stated at
cost less any impairment losses, and is not depreciated. Cost comprises the direct costs of construction and
capitalised borrowing costs on related borrowed funds during the period of construction. Construction in
progress is reclassified to the appropriate category of property, plant and equipment when completed and
ready for use.

When the Group makes payments for ownership interests of properties which includes both leasehold land
and building elements, the entire consideration is allocated between the leasehold land and the building
elements in proportion to the relative fair values at initial recognition. To the extent the allocation of the
relevant payments can be made reliably, interest in leasehold land is presented as “right-of-use assets” in the
consolidated statement of financial position. When the consideration cannot be allocated reliably between
non-lease building element and undivided interest in the underlying leasehold land, the entire properties are
classified as property, plant and equipment.

Intangible assets (other than goodwiill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets
acquired in a business combination is the fair value as at the date of acquisition. The useful lives of intangible
assets are assessed to be either finite or indefinite. Intangible assets with finite lives are subsequently
amortised over the useful economic life and assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication that
the intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation period and the amortisation method for an intangible
asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at least at each financial year end.

Estimated useful life

Purchased software 3 to 10 years
Operating concession 20 years
Backlog 5 years

Research and development costs
All research costs are charged to profit or loss as incurred.

Expenditure incurred on projects to develop new products is capitalised and deferred only when the Group
can demonstrate the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will be available for use
or sale, its intention to complete and its ability to use or sell the asset, how the asset will generate future
economic benefits, the availability of resources to complete the project and the ability to measure reliably the
expenditure during the development. Product development expenditure which does not meet these criteria is
expensed when incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2024

2.4

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Leases
The Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease based on the definition under IFRS 16 at
inception of the contract. Such contract will not be reassessed unless the terms and conditions of the contract

are subsequently changed.

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement approach for all leases, except for short-term leases
and leases of low-value assets. The Group recognises lease liabilities to make lease payments and right-of-use
assets representing the right to use the underlying assets.

(a)

(b)

Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the commencement date of the lease (that is the date the
underlying asset is available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.
The cost of right-of-use assets includes the amount of lease liabilities recognised, initial direct costs
incurred, and lease payments made at or before the commencement date less any lease incentives
received. Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the lease terms
and the estimated useful lives of the assets with the principal annual rates used for this purpose are as

follows:

Buildings 4.8% to 96.0%
Motor vehicles 25.0% to 92.3%
Measurement and experimental equipment 25.0% to 80.0%
Leasehold land 5.0% to 5.0%

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Group by the end of the lease term or the cost reflects
the exercise of a purchase option, depreciation is calculated using the estimated useful life of the asset.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate line item on the consolidated statement of
financial position.

Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement date of the lease at the present value of lease
payments to be made over the lease term. The lease payments include fixed payments (including
in-substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives receivable, variable lease payments that depend
on an index or a rate, and amounts expected to be paid under residual value guarantees. The lease
payments also include the exercise price of a purchase option reasonably certain to be exercised by
the Group and payments of penalties for termination of a lease, if the lease term reflects the Group
exercising the option to terminate the lease. The variable lease payments that do not depend on an
index or a rate are recognised as an expense in the period in which the event or condition that triggers
the payment occurs.



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2024

2.4 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Leases (continued)
Group as a lessee (continued)
(b) Lease liabilities (continued)

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate at
the lease commencement date because the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable.
After the commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion of
interest and reduced for the lease payments made. In addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities
is remeasured if there is a modification, a change in the lease term, a change in lease payments
(e.g., a change to future lease payments resulting from a change in an index or rate) or a change in
assessment of an option to purchase the underlying asset.

The Group's lease liabilities are included in interest-bearing bank and other borrowings.

(c) Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets
The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to its short-term leases of machinery and
equipment (that is those leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the commencement

date and do not contain a purchase option). When the Group enters into a lease in respect of a low-
value asset, the Group decides whether to capitalise the lease on a lease-by-lease basis. Lease payments
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on short-term leases and leases of low-value assets are recognised as an expense on a straight-line
basis over the lease term.

Group as a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it classifies at lease inception (or when there is a lease modification) each of
its leases as either an operating lease or a finance lease.

Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership
of an asset are classified as operating leases. When a contract contains lease and non-lease components, the
Group allocates the consideration in the contract to each component on a relative stand-alone selling price
basis. Rental income is accounted for on a straight-line basis over the lease terms and is included in revenue
in profit or loss due to its operating nature. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an
operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised over the lease term on
the same basis as rental income. Contingent rents are recognised as revenue in the period in which they are
earned.
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Leases that transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an underlying asset to
the lessee are accounted for as finance leases.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2024

2.4

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Service concession arrangements

The Group has entered into certain service concession arrangements with certain governmental authorities
(the “Grantor”). The service concession arrangements are Build-Operate-Transfer (the “BOT") arrangements.
Under the BOT arrangements, the Group carries out construction work of the urban infrastructures for the
Grantor and receives in return a right to operate the urban infrastructures concerned for a specified period of
time (the “Operation Period”) in accordance with the pre-established conditions set by the Grantor, the urban
infrastructures should be transferred to the Grantor with nil consideration at the end of the Operation Period.

Consideration given by the Grantors

A financial asset is recognised to the extent that the Group has an unconditional right to receive cash or
another financial asset from or at the direction of the Grantor for the construction service rendered and
the Grantor has little, if any, discretion to avoid payment, usually because the agreement is enforceable by
law. The Group has an unconditional right to receive cash if the Grantors contractually guarantee to pay the
Group specified or determinable amounts even if the payment is contingent on the Group, ensuring that
the infrastructure meets specified quality or efficiency requirements. The financial asset is accounted for in
accordance with the policy set out for loans and receivables under “Investments and other financial assets”
below.

An intangible asset (operating concession) is recognised to the extent that the Group receives a right to
charge users of public service, which is not an unconditional right to receive cash because the amounts are
contingent on the extent that the public uses and service. The intangible asset (operating concession) is
accounted for in accordance with the policy set out for “intangible assets (other than goodwill)” above, which
is amortised on a straight-line basis over the service concession period.

Construction or upgrade services
Revenue and costs relating to construction or upgrade services are accounted for in accordance with the
policy set out for “Construction contracts” below.

Operating services
Revenue relating to operating services is accounted for in accordance with the policy for “Revenue
recognition” below. Costs for operating services are expensed in the period in which they are incurred.

Investments and other financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value
through other comprehensive income, and fair value through profit or loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow
characteristics and the Group's business model for managing them. With the exception of trade receivables
that do not contain a significant financing component or for which the Group has applied the practical
expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant financing component, the Group initially measures a
financial asset at its fair value, plus in the case of a financial asset not at fair value through profit or loss,
transaction costs. Trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing component or for which the
Group has applied the practical expedient are measured at the transaction price determined under IFRS 15 in
accordance with the policies set out for “Revenue recognition” below.
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SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)

Initial recognition and measurement (continued)

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at amortised cost or fair value through other
comprehensive income, it needs to give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest
(“SPPI") on the principal amount outstanding. Financial assets with cash flows that are not SPPI are classified
and measured at fair value through profit or loss, irrespective of the business model.

The Group’s business model for managing financial assets refers to how it manages its financial assets in
order to generate cash flows. The business model determines whether cash flows will result from collecting
contractual cash flows, selling the financial assets, or both. Financial assets classified and measured at
amortised cost are held within a business model with the objective to hold financial assets in order to
collect contractual cash flows, while financial assets classified and measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income are held within a business model with the objective of both holding to collect
contractual cash flows and selling. Financial assets which are not held within the aforementioned business
models are classified and measured at fair value through profit or loss.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on the trade date, that is, the date
that the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales
of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the period generally established by regulation or
convention in the marketplace.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured using the effective interest method and are
subject to impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised,
modified or impaired.

Financial assets designated at fair value through other comprehensive income (equity investments)
Upon initial recognition, the Group can elect to classify irrevocably its equity investments as equity investments
designated at fair value through other comprehensive income when they meet the definition of equity under
IAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation and are not held for trading. The classification is determined on an
instrument-by-instrument basis.

Gains and losses on these financial assets are never recycled to profit or loss. Dividends are recognised as
other income in the consolidated statement of profit or loss when the right of payment has been established,
it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the dividend will flow to the Group and the amount
of the dividend can be measured reliably, except when the Group benefits from such proceeds as a recovery
of part of the cost of the financial asset, in which case, such gains are recorded in other comprehensive
income. Equity investments designated at fair value through other comprehensive income are not subject to
impairment assessment.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024

2.4

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried in the consolidated statement of financial
position at fair value with net changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss.

This category includes derivative instruments and equity investments which the Group had not irrevocably
elected to classify at fair value through other comprehensive income. Dividends on equity investments
classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are also recognised as other income in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss when the right of payment has been established, it is probable that
the economic benefits associated with the dividend will flow to the Group and the amount of the dividend
can be measured reliably.

Derecognition of financial assets
A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar financial assets)
is primarily derecognised (i.e., removed from the Group’s consolidated statement of financial position) when:

J the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or

o the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation
to pay the received cash flows in full without material delay to a third party under a “pass-through”
arrangement; and either (a) the Group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the
asset, or (b) the Group has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of
the asset, but has transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-
through arrangement, it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has retained the risk and rewards of ownership of
the asset. When it has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset nor
transferred control of the asset, the Group continues to recognise the transferred asset to the extent of the
Group’s continuing involvement. In that case, the Group also recognises an associated liability. The transferred
asset and the associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the
Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at the
lower of the original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that the Group
could be required to repay.
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SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses (“ECLs"”) for all debt instruments not held at
fair value through profit or loss. ECLs are based on the difference between the contractual cash flows due
in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at an
approximation of the original effective interest rate. The expected cash flows will include cash flows from the
sale of collateral held or other credit enhancements that are integral to the contractual terms.

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for which there has not been a significant increase in
credit risk since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses that result from default events that are
possible within the next 12 months (a 12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for which there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, a loss allowance is required for credit losses expected
over the remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of the timing of the default (a lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the credit risk on a financial instrument has increased
significantly since initial recognition. When making the assessment, the Group compares the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the date of initial recognition and considers reasonable and supportable information
that is available without undue cost or effort, including historical and forward-looking information. The Group
considers that there has been a significant increase in credit risk when contractual payments are more than 30
days past due.

The Group considers a financial asset in default when contractual payments are 90 days past due. However,
in certain cases, the Group may also consider a financial asset to be in default when internal or external
information indicates that the Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual amounts in full before
taking into account any credit enhancements held by the Group.

A financial asset is written off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovering the contractual cash
flows.

Debt investments at fair value through other comprehensive income and financial assets at amortised cost
are subject to impairment under the general approach and they are classified within the following stages for
measurement of ECLs except for trade receivables and contract assets which apply the simplified approach as
detailed below.

Stage 1 - Financial instruments for which credit risk has not increased significantly since initial recognition
and for which the loss allowance is measured at an amount equal to 12-month ECLs

Stage 2 - Financial instruments for which credit risk has increased significantly since initial recognition but
that are not credit-impaired financial assets and for which the loss allowance is measured at an
amount equal to lifetime ECLs

Stage 3 - Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the reporting date (but that are not purchased or
originated credit-impaired) and for which the loss allowance is measured at an amount equal to
lifetime ECLs
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2.4

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Simplified approach

For trade receivables and contract assets that do not contain a significant financing component or when the
Group applies the practical expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant financing component, the
Group applies the simplified approach in calculating ECLs. Under the simplified approach, the Group does not
track changes in credit risk, but instead recognises a loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting
date. The Group has established a provision matrix that is based on its historical credit loss experience,
adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the economic environment.

For trade receivables and contract assets that contain a significant financing component and lease receivables,
the Group chooses as its accounting policy to adopt the simplified approach in calculating ECLs with policies
as described above.

Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in the case of loans and borrowings and
payables, net of directly attributable transaction costs.

The Group's financial liabilities include trade and bills payables and other payables, and interest-bearing bank
and other borrowings.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on their classification as follows:

Financial liabilities at amortised cost (trade and bills payables, other payables and bank and other
borrowings)

After initial recognition, interest-bearing bank and other borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised
cost, using the effective interest rate method unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in
which case they are stated at cost. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities are
derecognised as well as through the effective interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs
that are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate amortisation is included in
finance costs in profit or loss.

Financial guarantee contracts

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group are those contracts that require a payment to be made
to reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs because the specified debtor fails to make a payment when due
in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument. A financial guarantee contract is recognised initially
as a liability at its fair value, adjusted for transaction costs that are directly attributable to the issuance of
the guarantee. Subsequent to initial recognition, the Group measures the financial guarantee contracts at
the higher of: (i) the ECL allowance determined in accordance with the policy as set out in “Impairment of
financial assets”; and (ii) the amount initially recognised less, when appropriate, the cumulative amount of
income recognised.
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SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Derecognition of financial liabilities
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled, or
expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different
terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is
treated as a derecognition of the original liability and a recognition of a new liability, and the difference
between the respective carrying amounts is recognised in profit or loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the consolidated statement
of financial position if there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and there
is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined on the first-in, first-out
basis. Net realisable value is based on estimated selling prices less any estimated costs to be incurred to
completion and costs necessary to make the sale.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash bank balances comprise cash
on hand and demand deposits, and short term highly liquid investments that are readily convertible into
known amounts of cash, are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, and have a short maturity of
generally within three months when acquired, less bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form
an integral part of the Group’s cash management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of financial position, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash
on hand and at banks, including term deposits, and assets similar in nature to cash, which are not restricted
as to use.

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or constructive) has arisen as a result of a past
event and it is probable that a future outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation, provided
that a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount recognised for a provision is the present value at the
end of the reporting period of the future expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation. The
increase in the discounted present value amount arising from the passage of time is included in finance costs
in profit or loss.

The Group provides for warranties in relation to the provision of construction services for general repairs
of defects occurring during the warranty period. Provisions for these assurance-type warranties granted by
the Group are recognised based on sales volume and past experience of the level of repairs and returns,
discounted to their present values as appropriate.
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2.4

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Income tax
Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss
is recognised outside profit or loss, either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the
taxation authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period, taking into consideration interpretations and practices prevailing in the country in
which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all temporary differences at the end of the reporting
period between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting
purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences, except:

o when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in
a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither
the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss and does not give rise to equal taxable and deductible
temporary differences; and

o in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates and
joint ventures, when the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled and it is
probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, and the carryforward of unused
tax credits and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that
taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary differences, and the carryforward of
unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

o when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary differences arises from the initial
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time
of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss and does not give rise
to equal taxable and deductible temporary differences; and

o in respect of deductible temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates
and joint ventures, deferred tax assets are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that the
temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available against
which the temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and reduced to
the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the
deferred tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at the end of each reporting
period and are recognised to the extent that it has become probable that sufficient taxable profit will be
available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be recovered.
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Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when
the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if and only if the Group has a legally enforceable
right to set off current tax assets and current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets and deferred tax
liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either the same taxable entity or
different taxable entities which intend either to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis, or to
realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously, in each future period in which significant amounts of
deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected to be settled or recovered.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where there is reasonable assurance that the grant will
be received and all attaching conditions will be complied with. When the grant relates to an expense item,
it is recognised as income on a systematic basis over the periods that the costs, for which it is intended to
compensate, are expensed.

Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is credited to a deferred income account and is released to
profit or loss over the expected useful life of the relevant asset by equal annual instalments or deducted from
the carrying amount of the asset and released to profit or loss by way of a reduced depreciation charge.

Revenue recognition

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when control of goods or services is transferred to the
customers at an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled in exchange
for those goods or services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable amount, the amount of consideration is estimated
to which the Group will be entitled in exchange for transferring the goods or services to the customer.
The variable consideration is estimated at contract inception and constrained until it is highly probable that
a significant revenue reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue recognised will not occur when the
associated uncertainty with the variable consideration is subsequently resolved.

When the contract contains a financing component which provides the customer with a significant benefit of
financing the transfer of goods or services to the customer for more than one year, revenue is measured at
the present value of the amount receivable, discounted using the discount rate that would be reflected in a
separate financing transaction between the Group and the customer at contract inception. When the contract
contains a financing component which provides the Group with a significant financial benefit for more than
one year, revenue recognised under the contract includes the interest expense accreted on the contract
liability under the effective interest method. For a contract where the period between the payment by the
customer and the transfer of the promised goods or services is one year or less, the transaction price is not
adjusted for the effects of a significant financing component, using the practical expedient in IFRS 15.
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2.4

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Construction services, design, survey and consultancy services

Revenue from the provision of construction and design, survey and consultancy services is recognised over
time, using an input method to measure progress towards complete satisfaction of the service, because
the Group's performance creates or enhances an asset that the customer controls as the asset is created
or enhanced and the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits provided by the Group.
The input method recognises revenue based on the proportion of the actual costs incurred relative to the
estimated total costs for satisfaction of the construction services.

Claims to customers are amounts that the Group seeks to collect from the customers as reimbursement of
costs and margins for scope of works not included in the original construction contract. Claims are accounted
for as variable consideration and constrained until it is highly probable that a significant revenue reversal in
the amount of cumulative revenue recognised will not occur when the associated uncertainty with the variable
consideration is subsequently resolved. The Group uses the expected value method to estimate the amounts
of claims because this method best predicts the amount of variable consideration to which the Group will be
entitled.

Sale of products
Revenue from the sale of products is recognised at the point in time when control of the asset is transferred
to the customer, generally on delivery of the products.

Revenue from other sources

Rental income is recognised on a time proportion basis over the lease terms. Variable lease payments that
do not depend on an index or a rate are recognised as income in the accounting period in which they are
incurred.

Other income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the effective interest method by applying the rate that
exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts over the expected life of the financial instrument or a
shorter period, when appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the financial asset.

Dividend income is recognised when the shareholders’ right to receive payment has been established, it is
probable that the economic benefits associated with the dividend will flow to the Group and the amount of
the dividend can be measured reliably.

Contract assets

A contract asset is the right to consideration in exchange for goods or services transferred to the customer. If
the Group performs by transferring goods or services to a customer before the customer pays consideration
or before payment is due, a contract asset is recognised for the earned consideration that is conditional.
Contract assets are subject to impairment assessment, details of which are included in the accounting policies
for impairment of financial assets.
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Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is received or a payment is due (whichever is earlier) from
a customer before the Group transfers the related goods or services. Contract liabilities are recognised as
revenue when the Group performs under the contract (i.e., transfers control of the related goods or services
to the customer).

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to the same contract are accounted for and presented on a
net basis.

Contract costs

Other than the costs which are capitalised as inventories, property, plant and equipment and intangible assets,
costs incurred to fulfil a contract with a customer are capitalised as an asset if all of the following criteria are
met:

(a) The costs relate directly to a contract or to an anticipated contract that the entity can specifically
identify.

(b) The costs generate or enhance resources of the entity that will be used in satisfying (or in continuing
to satisfy) performance obligations in the future.

(0) The costs are expected to be recovered.

The capitalised contract costs are amortised and charged to profit or loss on a systematic basis that is
consistent with the transfer to the customer of the goods or services to which the asset relates. Other
contract costs are expensed as incurred.

Share-based payments

The Company operates a share option scheme for the purpose of providing incentives and rewards to eligible
participants who contribute to the success of The Group’s operations. Employees (including directors) of
the Group receive remuneration in the form of share-based payments whereby employees render services in
exchange for equity instruments (“equity-settled transactions”).

The cost of equity-settled transaction with employees for grants after 7 November 2002 is measured by
reference to the fair value at the date at which they are granted. The fair value is determined by an external
valuer using a binomial model.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised in employee benefit expense, together with a
corresponding increase in equity, over the period in which the performance and/or service conditions are
fulfilled. The cumulative expense recognised for equity-settled transactions at the end of each reporting
period until the vesting date reflects the extent to which the vesting period has expired and the Group’s best
estimate of the number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest. The charge or credit to the statement
of profit or loss for a period represents the movement in the cumulative expense recognised as at the
beginning and end of that period.
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Share-based payments (continued)

Service and non-market performance conditions are not taken into account when determining the grant
date fair value of awards, but the likelihood of the conditions being met is assessed as part of the Group's
best estimate of the number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest. Market performance conditions
are reflected within the grant date fair value. Any other conditions attached to an award, but without an
associated service requirement, are considered to be non-vesting conditions. Non-vesting conditions are
reflected in the fair value of an award and lead to an immediate expensing of an award unless there are also
service and/or performance conditions.

For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-market performance and/or service conditions have
not been met, no expense is recognised. Where awards include a market or non-vesting condition, the
transactions are treated as vesting irrespective of whether the market or non-vesting condition is satisfied,
provided that all other performance and/or service conditions are satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as a minimum an expense is recognised as if the
terms had not been modified, if the original terms of the award are met. In addition, an expense is recognised
for any modification that increases the total fair value of the share-based payments, or is otherwise beneficial
to the employee as measured at the date of modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it had vested on the date of cancellation, and
any expense not yet recognised for the award is recognised immediately. This includes any award where non-
vesting conditions within the control of either the Group or the employee are not met. However, if a new
award is substituted for the cancelled award, and is designated as a replacement award on the date that it
is granted, the cancelled and new awards are treated as if they were a modification of the original award, as
described in the previous paragraph.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets,
i.e., assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are
capitalised as part of the cost of those assets. The capitalisation of such borrowing costs ceases when the
assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale. Investment income earned on the temporary
investment of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the
borrowing costs capitalised. All other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they are incurred.
Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs that an entity incurs in connection with the borrowing of
funds.

Foreign currencies

The financial statements are presented in RMB, which is the Company’s functional currency. Each entity in
the Group determines its own functional currency and items included in the financial statements of each
entity are measured using that functional currency. Foreign currency transactions recorded by the entities in
the Group are initially recorded using their respective functional currency rates prevailing at the dates of the
transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the functional
currency rates of exchange ruling at the end of the reporting period. Differences arising on settlement or
translation of monetary items are recognised in profit or loss.
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Foreign currencies (continued)

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using
the exchange rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a
foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was measured. The
gain or loss arising on translation of a non-monetary item measured at fair value is treated in line with the
recognition of the gain or loss on change in fair value of the item (i.e., translation difference on the item
whose fair value gain or loss is recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or loss is also recognised
in other comprehensive income or profit or loss, respectively).

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition of the related asset, expense or income on the
derecognition of a non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability relating to an advance consideration, the
date of initial transaction is the date on which the Group initially recognises the non-monetary asset or
non-monetary liability arising from the advance consideration. If there are multiple payments or receipts
in advance, the Group determines the transaction date for each payment or receipt of the advance
consideration.

The functional currency of a certain overseas subsidiary is a currency other than RMB. As at the end of the
reporting period, the assets and liabilities of the entity are translated into RMB at the exchange rate prevailing
at the end of the reporting period and the income and expenses items are translated into RMB at the
exchange rates that approximate to those prevailing at the dates of the transactions.

The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in the
exchange fluctuation reserve. On disposal of a foreign operation, the component of other comprehensive
income relating to that particular foreign operation is recognised in profit or loss.

Employee benefits
Retirement benefits
(a) Social pension plans

The Group has the social pension plans for its employees arranged by local government labour and
security authorities. The Group makes contributions on a monthly basis to the social pension plans. The
contributions are charged to profit or loss as they become payable in accordance with the rules of the
social pension plans. Under the plans, the Group has no further obligation beyond the contributions
made.

(b) Annuity plan

The Group provides an annuity plan to the voluntary or eligible employees. Contributions are made
based on a percentage of the voluntary or eligible employees’ basic salaries and are charged to profit
or loss as they become payable in accordance with the rules of the plan. Under the plan, the Group
has no further obligations beyond the contributions made.
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Employee benefits (continued)
Retirement benefits (continued)
(c) Supplementary retirement benefits

The Group also provides the following supplementary retirement benefits: (1) the retirement pension
subsidies, medical benefits and other supplementary benefits to retirees who retired before 31
December 2012; (2) the supplementary allowances to the beneficiaries and dependents of retirees
who retired before 31 December 2012; and (3) the heating allowances to its employees upon their
retirements. These supplementary retirement benefits are considered to be defined benefit plans as the
Group is obligated to the above retirees and employees. The obligations recognised in the consolidated
statement of financial position in respect of these defined benefit plans are the present value of the
defined benefit obligations at the end of each reporting period. The defined benefit obligation is
calculated by independent qualified actuaries using the projected unit credit method annually, or when
any material changes in the plans and key assumptions will occur. The present value of the defined
benefit obligation is determined by discounting the estimated future cash outflows using interest
rates of government securities which have maturity approximating to the terms of the related pension
liability. Re-measurements arising from experience adjustments and changes in actuarial assumptions
are recognised immediately in the consolidated statement of financial position with a corresponding
debit or credit to other comprehensive income in the period in which they occur. Remeasurements are
not reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods.

Past service costs are recognised in profit or loss at the earlier of:

o the date of the plan amendment or curtailment; and

o the date that the Group recognises restructuring-related costs

Net interest is calculated by applying the discount rate to the net defined benefit liability or asset. The Group
recognises the following changes in the net defined benefit obligation under “administrative expenses” in the

consolidated statement of profit or loss by analysis by function:

o service costs comprising current service costs, past-service costs, gains and losses on curtailments and
non-routine settlements

o net interest expense or income

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of when the Group can no longer withdraw the offer of
those benefits and when the Group recognises restructuring costs involving the payment of termination
benefits.
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Employee benefits (continued)

Housing fund and other social insurances

The Group has participated in defined social security contribution schemes for its employees pursuant to the
relevant laws and regulations of the PRC. These include housing fund, basic medical insurance, unemployment
insurance, injury insurance and maternity insurance. The Group makes monthly contributions to the housing
fund and other social insurances. The contributions are charged to profit or loss on an accrual basis. The
Group has no further obligations beyond the contributions made.

Apart from those described above, the Group does not have any legal or constructive obligations over
employee benefits.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates
and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and their
accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these assumptions
and estimates could result in outcomes that could require a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of
the assets or liabilities affected in the future.

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management has made the following judgements,
apart from those involving estimations, which have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in
the financial statements:

Accounting for service concession arrangements

The Group engages in certain service concession arrangements in which the Group carries out construction
work of the urban infrastructures for the grantor and receives in return a right to operate the urban
infrastructures concerned in accordance with the pre-established conditions set by the grantor. In accordance
with IFRIC 12 Service Concession Arrangements, the urban infrastructures under the service concession
arrangement are classified as financial assets or intangible assets. The Group recognises a financial asset if it
has an unconditional contractual right under the service concession arrangement to receive a determinable
amount of payments during the concession period irrespective of the usage of the urban infrastructures.
Whenever only part of the investment by the Group under these service concession arrangements is
covered by a payment commitment from the grantors, it is recognised as a financial asset up to the amount
guaranteed by the grantors, and as an intangible asset for the balance.

Subsequent to initial recognition, the financial asset is measured at amortised cost using the effective interest
method.

Judgement is also exercised in determining the fair value of the financial asset. Discount rates, estimates of
future cash flows and other factors are used in the valuation process.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2024

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

Judgements (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group seeks to collect claims from the customers as reimbursement of costs and margins for scope of
works not included in the original construction contract, which give rise to variable consideration. The Group
determined that the expected value method is the appropriate method to use in estimating the variable
consideration for claims in construction services, given there is a wide range of possible outcomes which are
subject to negotiations with third parties.

Before including any amount of variable consideration in the transaction price, the Group considers whether
the amount of variable consideration is constrained. The Group determined that the estimates of variable
consideration are not constrained based on its historical experience, current negotiations with customers,
profitability of the head contracts of the customers and the current economic conditions.

Joint control over Yunnan Jingjian Rail Transit Investment and Construction Co., Ltd. (“Yunnan
Jingjian Rail Transit”)

As set out in note 16, the Group held 78.28% (2023: 78.28%) of equity interests in Yunnan lJingjian Rail
Transit as at 31 December 2024. Pursuant to the article of associate of Yunnan Jingjian Rail Transit, it required
amomums consensus from all the shareholders of Yunnan Jingjian Rail Transit to pass the shareholders’
resolution. As a result, the Group has joint control over Yunnan Jingjian Rail Transit and Yunnan Jingjian Rail
Transit is classified as a joint venture of the Group.

Significant influence over Shaoxing Jingyue Metro Co., Ltd.

As set out in note 17, the Group held 7.65% (2023: 7.65%) of equity interests in Shaoxing Jingyue as at 31
December 2024. In accordance with the articles of association of Shaoxing Jingyue, the board of directors
of Shaoxing Jingyue shall have 7 directors, with 3 directors recommended by the shareholders of the Private
Consortium, 3 directors by the investment representative of government and 1 employee director. As to the 3
directors recommended by the shareholders of the Private Consortium, each of Beijing Investment Company,
Municipal Road and Bridge and Urban Infrastructure Construction Investment Company shall nominee one.
Urban Infrastructure Construction Investment Company had appointed 1 director upon the establishment
of Shaoxing Jingyue. The cooperation agreement entered into by the Private Consortium stipulates that the
parties thereof shall act in concert in terms of any event that needs to be resolved at the general meeting or
the meeting of the board of the project company. The parties thereof shall make discussion relating to the
Event Acting in Concert in advance and reach an unanimous decision at their best effort. In case of failing
to reach an agreement by such parties, the decision of Beijing Investment Company shall be deemed as the
final and be complied by all such parties. As the director appointed by Urban Infrastructure Construction
Investment Company has the power to participate in the discussion of operating decisions, making it have a
significant influence on the investee, such equity investment is classified as an associate of the Group.



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2024

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of
each reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are described below.

Useful lives and residual values of items of property, plant and equipment

In determining the useful lives and residual values of items of property, plant and equipment, the Group
periodically reviews the changes in market conditions, expected physical wear and tear, and the maintenance
of the asset. The estimation of the useful life of the asset is based on the historical experience of the Group
with similar assets that are used in a similar way. The depreciation amount will be adjusted if the estimated
useful lives and/or the residual values of items of property, plant and equipment are different from previous
estimation. Useful lives and residual values are reviewed at the end of the reporting period based on changes
in circumstances. As at 31 December 2024, the carrying amount of property, plant and equipment is
RMB1,467,815,000 (2023: RMB1,436,905,000).

Depreciation of certain items of machinery for shield tunnelling construction on the unit of
production method

Cost of shield machinery is depreciated using the unit of production (“UOP”) method. The calculation of
the UOP rates of depreciation can fluctuate from initial estimates. This could generally result when there
are significant changes in any of the factors or assumptions used in estimating the useful shield tunnelling
production, notably changes in the assumptions used in determining the economic feasibility of the useful
shield tunnelling production. The estimation of the useful shield tunnelling production of the asset is
based on recent production, technical information and authoritative guidelines regarding the engineering
criteria. Assessment of the UOP rates against the estimated useful shield tunnelling production is performed
regularly. As at 31 December 2024, the carrying amount of machinery for shield tunnelling construction is
RMB88,980,000 (2023: RMB143,923,000).

Percentage of completion and estimation of total budgeted costs and costs to completion for
construction contracting and contracts for services

The Group recognises revenue according to the percentage of completion of individual contracts of
construction contracting and contracts for services, which requires estimation to be made by management.
The stage of completion is estimated by reference to the actual costs incurred over the total budgeted costs.
Due to the nature of the activity undertaken in construction contracting and contracts for services, the date
at which the activity is entered into and the date at which the activity is completed usually fall into different
accounting periods. Hence, the Group reviews and revises the percentage of completion of construction and
service works. Where the actual contract revenue is less than expected or actual contract costs are more than
expected, a foreseeable loss may arise.

Total budgeted costs for construction contracting and contracts for services comprise (i) direct material costs
and direct labour, (i) costs of subcontracting, and (iii) an appropriation of variable and fixed construction
and services overheads. In estimating the total budgeted costs for construction contracting and contracts for
services, management refers to information such as (i) current offers from sub-contractors and suppliers, (ii)
recent offers agreed with sub-contractors and suppliers, and (iii) professional estimation on material costs,
labour costs and other costs.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2024

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

Current income tax and deferred income tax

The Group is subject to income taxes in numerous jurisdictions in the PRC. Estimation is required in
determining the provision for taxation. There are many transactions and calculations for which the ultimate
tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of business. Where the final tax outcome of these
matters is different from the amounts originally recorded, the differences will impact on the current income
tax and deferred income tax in the periods in which the differences arise.

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets relating to certain deductible temporary differences are recognised as management
considers it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which the unused temporary
differences or unused tax losses can be utilised. The realisation of the deferred tax assets mainly depends on
whether sufficient future taxable profits or taxable temporary differences will be available in the future. In
cases where the actual future taxable profits generated are less than expected, a material reversal of deferred
tax assets may arise, which will be recognised in profit or loss in the period in which such a reversal takes
place.

Provision for expected credit losses on trade receivables and contract assets
The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for trade receivables and contract assets. The provision
rates are based on days past due for groupings of various customer segments that have similar loss patterns.

The provision matrix is initially based on the Group's historical observed default rates. The Group will calibrate
the matrix to adjust the historical credit loss experience with forward-looking information. For instance, if
forecast economic conditions are expected to deteriorate over the next year which can lead to an increased
number of defaults in the manufacturing sector, the historical default rates are adjusted. At each reporting
date, the historical observed default rates are updated and changes in the forward-looking estimates are
analysed.

The assessment of the correlation among historical observed default rates, forecast economic conditions
and ECLs is a significant estimate. The amount of ECLs is sensitive to changes in circumstances and forecast
economic conditions. The Group’s historical credit loss experience and forecast of economic conditions may
also not be representative of customers’ actual default in the future. The information about the ECLs on the
Group's contract assets and trade receivables is disclosed in note 22 and note 23 to the consolidated financial
statements, respectively.

Impairment of non-financial assets (other than goodwill)

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of impairment for all non-financial assets at the end of
each reporting period. Other non-financial assets are tested for impairment when there are indicators that
the carrying amounts may not be recoverable. An impairment exists when the carrying value of an asset or a
cash-generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the higher of its fair value less costs of disposal
and its value in use. The calculation of the fair value less costs of disposal is based on available data from
binding sales transactions in an arm’s length transaction of similar assets or observable market prices less
incremental costs for disposing of the asset. When value in use calculations are undertaken, management
must estimate the expected future cash flows from the asset or cash-generating unit and choose a suitable
discount rate in order to calculate the present value of those cash flows.



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2024

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

Impairment of goodwill

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at least on an annual basis. This requires an estimation
of the value in use of the cash-generating units to which the goodwill is allocated. Estimating the value in
use requires the Group to make an estimate of the expected future cash flows from the cash-generating units
and also to choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value of those cash flows. The
carrying amount of goodwill at 31 December 2024 was RMB5,741,000 (2023: RMB5,741,000). Further details
are given in note 13.

Determination of fair value of financial instruments

The fair value of financial instruments in which there is no active market is recognised by valuation methods.
The Group chooses various methods based on its judgements, and makes assumptions on unobservable inputs
mainly based on the current market conditions at each reporting date.

Pension benefits

The present value of the defined benefit pension obligations depends on a number of factors that are
determined on an actuarial basis using a number of assumptions. The assumptions used in determining
the net cost (income) for pensions include the discount rate. Any changes in these assumptions will impact
the carrying amount of pension obligations. The Group determines the appropriate discount rate at the
end of each year. In determining the appropriate discount rate, the Group considers the interest rates of
government bonds that are denominated in the currency in which the benefits will be paid, and that have
terms to maturity approximating the terms of the related pension obligation. The key assumptions for pension
obligations and sensitivity analysis of the discount rate are disclosed in note 29.

Leases — Estimating the incremental borrowing rate

The Group cannot readily determine the interest rate implicit in a lease, and therefore, it uses an incremental
borrowing rate (“IBR") to measure lease liabilities. The IBR is the rate of interest that the Group would have
to pay to borrow over a similar term, and with a similar security, the funds necessary to obtain an asset of a
similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic environment. The IBR therefore reflects what the
Group “would have to pay”, which requires estimation when no observable rates are available (such as for
subsidiaries that do not enter into financing transactions) or when it needs to be adjusted to reflect the terms
and conditions of the lease (for example, when leases are not in the subsidiary’s functional currency). The
Group estimates the IBR using observable inputs (such as market interest rates) when available and is required
to make certain entity-specific estimates (such as the subsidiary’s stand-alone credit rating).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2024

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group is organised into business units based on their services and has two
reportable operating segments as follows:

(a) Design, survey and consultancy — this segment engages in the provision of services on designing,
surveying and mapping, monitoring and consulting services in the engineering of urban rail transit,
municipal management and construction; and

(b) Construction contracting — this segment engages in the provision of services relating to urban rail
transit and the service concession arrangements under the BOT arrangements.

Management monitors the results of the Group’s operating segments separately for the purpose of making
decisions about resources allocation and performance assessment. Segment performance is evaluated based
on reportable segment profit or loss, which is a measure of adjusted profit or loss before tax. The adjusted
profit or loss before tax is measured consistently with the Group’s profit or loss before tax except that
unallocated interest income and finance costs are excluded from such measurement.

Segment assets exclude deferred tax assets, unallocated cash and bank balances, unallocated pledged deposits
as these assets are managed on a group basis.

Segment liabilities exclude tax payable, deferred tax liabilities and dividends payable as they are managed on
a group basis.

Intersegment sales and transfers are transacted with reference to the selling prices used for sales made to
third parties at the then prevailing market prices.



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2024

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Year ended 31 December 2024

Design, survey

and Construction
consultancy contracting Eliminations Total
RMB’'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’'000

Segment revenue (note 5)
Sales to external customers 4,382,894 4,274,938 - 8,657,832
Intersegment sales - 328,134 (328,134) -
Total revenue 4,382,894 4,603,072 (328,134) 8,657,832
Segment results 479,868 55,706 (10,531) 525,043
Interest income 89,673 300,975 - 390,648
Finance costs (61,952) (220,064) - (282,016)
Profit of segments for the year 507,589 136,617 (10,531) 633,675
Income tax expense (100,208)
Profit for the year 533,467
Segment assets 13,126,025 12,264,353 (1,241,430) 24,148,948
Corporate and other unallocated assets 392,979
Total assets 24,541,927
Segment liabilities 9,170,469 8,705,318 (1,274,668) 16,601,119
Corporate and other unallocated liabilities 7,401
Total liabilities 16,608,520
Other segment information
Share of profits and losses of:

Joint ventures 5,589 - - 5,589

Associates 37,992 - - 37,992
Depreciation 185,542 65,814 - 251,356
Amortisation 11,461 29,312 - 40,773
Provision for

— foreseeable losses on contracts 6,461 - - 6,461

— impairment of trade and bills

receivables, contract assets and
other receivables, net 88,759 86,264 - 175,023

Investments in joint ventures 2,121,178 - - 2,121,178
Investments in associates 1,328,226 - - 1,328,226
Capital expenditure* 375,483 13,557 - 389,040
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OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Year ended 31 December 2023

Design, survey

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2024

and Construction
consultancy contracting Eliminations Total
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
Segment revenue (note 5)
Sales to external customers 4,866,559 5,495,140 - 10,361,699
Intersegment sales 3,548 - (3,548) -
Total revenue 4,870,107 5,495,140 (3,548) 10,361,699
Segment results 830,773 74,167 (2,388) 902,552
Interest income 40,182 365,867 - 406,049
Finance costs (48,312) (242,487) - (290,799)
Profit of segments for the year 822,643 197,547 (2,388) 1,017,802
Income tax expense (107,454)
Profit for the year 910,348
Segment assets 10,900,338 15,024,074 (1,418,717) 24,505,695
Corporate and other unallocated assets 343,844
Total assets 24,849,539
Segment liabilities 8,891,738 9,726,924 (1,404,692) 17,213,970
Corporate and other unallocated liabilities 6,954
Total liabilities 17,220,924
Other segment information
Share of profits and losses of:
Joint ventures 13,494 - - 13,494
Associates 51,810 - - 51,810
Depreciation 176,333 25,466 - 201,799
Amortisation 11,061 29,565 - 40,626
Provision for
— foreseeable losses on contracts 5,013 50 - 5,063
— impairment of trade and bills
receivables, contract assets and
other receivables, net 186,328 99,885 - 286,213
Investments in joint ventures 2,201,981 = = 2,201,981
Investments in associates 1,077,672 - - 1,077,672
Capital expenditure* 643,381 58,162 - 701,543
* Capital expenditure consists of additions to property, plant and equipment, intangible assets and right-of-use assets.



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2024

4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Geographical information
(a) Revenue from external customers

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB'000
China 8,586,787 10,342,325
Other countries 71,045 19,374
8,657,832 10,361,699

The revenue information above is based on the locations of the customers.

(b) Non-current assets

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB'000
China 10,676,354 10,947,829

The non-current exclude financial assets and deferred tax assets.

Information about major customers

During the year ended 31 December 2024, there were one (2023: one) customers of the Group from which

the revenue accounted for over 10% of the Group's total revenue.

Year ended 31 December 2024

Design,
survey and Construction
consultancy contracting Total
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
Customer A 813 965,050 965,863
Year ended 31 December 2023
Design,
survey and Construction
consultancy contracting Total
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’'000
Customer A 42,513 1,307,898 1,350,411
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2024

5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME, GAINS AND LOSSES

An analysis of the Group's revenue from continuing operations is as follows:

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB'000
Revenue from contracts with customers 8,621,594 10,350,313
Revenue from other sources
Gross rental income from property and equipment under
operating leases:
Variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or a rate 1,085 8,139
Other lease payments, including fixed payments 35,153 3,247
36,238 11,386
8,657,832 10,361,699
Revenue from contracts with customers
(i) Disaggregated revenue information
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB'000
Types of goods or services
Design, survey and consultancy 4,381,809 4,855,173
Construction contracting and others 4,239,785 5,495,140
8,621,594 10,350,313
Timing of revenue recognition
Services transferred over time 8,491,996 10,110,019
Services transferred at a point in time 129,598 240,294
8,621,594 10,350,313
Geographical markets
China 8,550,549 10,330,939
Other countries 71,045 19,374
8,621,594 10,350,313




5.

REVENUE, OTHER INCOME, GAINS AND LOSSES (CONTINUED)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)
Disaggregated revenue information (continued)
Set out below is the reconciliation of the revenue from contracts with customers to the amounts

(i)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2024

disclosed in the segment information:

For the year ended 31 December 2024
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Design,
survey and  Construction
Segments consultancy contracting Total
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
Revenue from contracts with customers
External customers 4,381,809 4,239,785 8,621,594
Intersegment sales - 328,134 328,134
4,381,809 4,567,919 8,949,728
Intersegment adjustments and eliminations - (328,134) (328,134)
Total revenue from contracts with customers 4,381,809 4,239,785 8,621,594
For the year ended 31 December 2023
Design,
survey and Construction
Segments consultancy contracting Total
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
Revenue from contracts with customers
External customers 4,855,173 5,495,140 10,350,313 j§>
Intersegment sales 3,548 = 3,548 S
-
5
4,858,721 5,495,140 10,353,861 %
Intersegment adjustments and eliminations (3,548) - (3,548) ~
N
N
Total revenue from contracts with customers 4,855,173 5,495,140 10,350,313
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2024

REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS (CONTINUED)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

Performance obligations
Information about the Group's performance obligations is summarised below:

Design, survey and consultancy services

The performance obligation is satisfied over time as services are rendered and payment is generally due
upon the progress of services and customer acceptance, except for new customers, where payment in
advance is normally required.

Construction services

The performance obligations are satisfied over time in accordance with the progress of construction.
A certain percentage of payment is retained by customers until the end of the retention period as the
Group's entitlement to the final payment is conditional on the satisfaction of the service quality by the
customers over a certain period as stipulated in the contracts.

Others — Sales of components of rail
The performance obligations are satisfied at a point in time when the goods are delivered and accepted
by the customers.

2024 2023
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
Other income
Interest income 390,648 406,049
Dividend income from equity investments designated at
fair value through other comprehensive income 5,521 -
Government grants (note) 5,064 4,524
Additional tax deduction for input VAT - 3,791
Others 4,056 2,505
405,289 416,869
Other gains and losses, net
Gain on disposal of an associate 19(ii) - 277,851
Fair value losses of financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss (3,210) (406)
Foreign exchange gains 3,250 1,268
Gain on disposal of items of property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets, net 2,239 3,167
Others 9,610 5,674
11,889 287,554

Note: There are no unfulfilled conditions relating to such government grants recognised.



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2024

5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS (CONTINUED)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

(i) Performance obligations (continued)
The following table sets out the amount of the transaction price allocated to the performance
obligations that are unsatisfied (or partially satisfied) as at 31 December 2024 and when the Group
expected to recognise the amount as revenue.
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2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB'000

The expected time of the amount recognised as revenue
Within a year 6,862,560 7,334,584
Over a year 18,083,991 19,327,854
24,946,551 26,662,438

6. FINANCE COSTS

An analysis of finance costs from continuing operations is as follows:
2024 2023
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
Interest on bank and other borrowings 267,473 279,527
Interest on lease liabilities 14(b), 14(c) 14,543 11,272
282,016 290,799
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PROFIT BEFORE TAX

The Group's profit before tax from continuing operations is arrived at after charging/(crediting):

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2024

2024 2023
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
Cost of design, survey and consultancy services 3,131,763 3,450,377
Cost of construction contracting services and others 3,966,723 5,024,861
Total cost of sales 7,098,486 8,475,238
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (a) 145,501 89,547
Depreciation of right-of-use assets (a) 105,855 112,252
Amortisation of intangible assets (a) 40,773 40,626
Total depreciation and amortisation 292,129 242,425
Research and development costs
(included in administrative expense) 325,156 400,661
Impairment of trade and bills receivables, net 51,567 225,868
Impairment of contract assets, net 116,967 63,772
Impairment/(reversal of impairment) of other
receivables, net 6,489 (3,427)
175,023 286,213
Provision for foreseeable losses on contracts, net 30 6,461 5,063
Provision for warranty
Additional provision 30 21,216 23,216
Lease payments not included in the measurement of
lease liabilities (b) 346,050 423,644
Auditor’s remuneration
— Audit services 1,900 1,900
— Non-audit services 1,789 5,480
3,689 7,380
Employee benefit expenses (excluding directors’ and
supervisors’ remuneration (note 8)): (c)
Wages, salaries and allowances 1,248,373 1,552,311
Retirement benefit costs
— Defined contribution retirement schemes 241,301 216,588
— Defined benefit retirement schemes 29(c) (2,350) 4,210
Total retirement benefit costs 238,951 220,798
Welfare and other expenses 387,072 349,329
Total employee benefit expenses 1,874,396 2,122,438




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2024

PROFIT BEFORE TAX (CONTINUED)

Notes:

(@) Depreciation of property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets and amortisation of intangible assets
of approximately RMB180,068,000 (2023: RMB129,683,000) was included in cost of sales in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss for the year ended 31 December 2024.

(b) Short terms and variable lease payments not included in the measurement of lease liabilities of approximately
RMB331,733,000 (2023: RMB404,970,000) were included in cost of sales in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss for the year ended 31 December 2024.

(c) Employee benefit expenses of approximately RMB1,340,952,000 (2023: RMB1,566,826,000) were included in cost
of sales in the consolidated statement of profit or loss for the year ended 31 December 2024.

DIRECTORS’ AND SUPERVISORS’ REMUNERATION AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID
EMPLOYEES

(a) Directors’ and supervisors’ remuneration
Directors’ remuneration for the year, disclosed pursuant to the Listing Rules, 383(1) (a), (b), (c) and (f)
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of Information about
Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is as follows:

Q3LINMT "0D dNOY¥YD ININGOTIAIA B NDISIA NOILDNYLSNOD NVEdN DONIf3d

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB'000

Fees 552 536
Other emoluments:

— Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind 1,446 1,196

— Performance-related bonuses 2,916 2,815

— Pension schemes 616 481

5,530 5,028
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2024

8.

DIRECTORS’ AND SUPERVISORS’ REMUNERATION AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID
EMPLOYEES (CONTINUED)

(a)

Directors’ and supervisors’ remuneration (continued)

Year ended 31 December 2024

Salaries,
allowances
and Performance-
benefits related Pension Total
Fees in kind bonuses schemes remuneration
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
Executive directors

Mr. Xia Xiujiang (E%/T)
(Chief executive) (1) - 297 565 110 972
Mr. Wang Hanjun (E£ ) (i) - 267 829 91 1,187
- 564 1,394 201 2,159

Non-executive directors
Mr. Pei Hongwei (£%18) - - - - -
Mr. Wang Tao (£/E) - - - - -
Ms. Shi Huaxin (£ #£2) - - - - -
Mr. Peng Dongdong (& &) - - - - -
Ms. Tang Qimeng (EE%) - - - - -
Mr. Li Guoging (ZEIE) (iif) - 321 853 110 1,284
Mr. Li Fei (B7) - . _ N i
- 321 853 110 1,284




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2024

8. DIRECTORS’ AND SUPERVISORS’ REMUNERATION AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID
EMPLOYEES (CONTINUED)

(a) Directors’ and supervisors’ remuneration (continued)
Year ended 31 December 2024 (continued)

Salaries,
allowances
and Performance-

d3LINIM "0 dNOYD ININAOTIAIA B NOISIA NOILDNYLSNOD NvadN ONIf3g

benefits related Pension Total
Fees in kind bonuses schemes remuneration
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000

Independent non-executive

directors
Mr. Wang Guofeng (£ E8%) 138 = = = 138
Mr. Ma Xufei (SB7) 138 - - - 138
Mr. Qin Guisheng (BH4) 138 = = - 138
Mr. Xia Peng (Ef5) 138 - - - 138
552 - - - 552
Supervisors

Ms. Nie Kun (ZE) - - - - -
Ms. Yang Huiju (5 77%) - 86 392 110 588
Mr. Liu Hao (ZIf%) - 196 99 85 380
Mr. Ban Jianbo (JE(R) - 279 178 110 567
Mr. Hu Shengjie (A1) - - - - -
Mr. Fang Binjia (/7X&{£) - - - - -
Mr. Li Yan () - - - - -
- 561 669 305 1,535
552 1,446 2,916 616 5,530
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2024

% 8. DIRECTORS’ AND SUPERVISORS" REMUNERATION AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID
S EMPLOYEES (CONTINUED)

@

z (a) Directors’ and supervisors’ remuneration (continued)

(@A)

o) Year ended 31 December 2023

=

5 Salaries,

8]

g allowances

0 and  Performance-

z benefits related Pension Total
- Fees in kind bonuses schemes  remuneration
E RMB’'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’'000 RMB’'000
S

= Executive directors

= Mr. Wang Hanjun (T2 )

% (Chief executive) - 320 914 105 1,339
S Mr. Li Guoging (ZEIE) (i) - 320 914 105 1,339
S

% - 640 1,828 210 2,678
=

)

Non-executive directors

Mr. Pei Hongwei (2(%) = = - - a
Mr. Wang Tao (F&) - - - = =
Ms. Shi Huaxin (5 #2) - = = = =
Mr. Peng Dongdong (& &) - = = = =
Ms. Tang Qimeng (B E %) = = = = a
Mr. Li Fei (Z7R) = = = = .
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2024

lve)

8. DIRECTORS’ AND SUPERVISORS" REMUNERATION AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID %

EMPLOYEES (CONTINUED) S

o

(a) Directors’ and supervisors’ remuneration (continued) z

()

Year ended 31 December 2023 (continued) o

%

el

Salaries, 5

=

allowances )

and  Performance- =]

benefits related Pension Total %

Fees in kind bonuses schemes  remuneration i

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 E

5

Independent non-executive <

directors 5

Mr. Wang Guofeng (£ 35%) 134 = = = 134 9

. o

Mr. Ma Xufei (5/E7) 134 - - - 134 =

Mr. Qin Guisheng (Ef4) 134 = = - 134 i

Mr. Xia Peng (E1) 134 - - - 134 .

<

=

536 - - - 536 o

Supervisors

Ms. Nie Kun (EE) - - - - -
Ms. Yang Huiju (#577%) - 201 254 93 548
Mr. Liu Hao (2[#%) - 182 564 105 851
Mr. Ban Jianbo (JE(EER) - 173 169 73 415
Mr. Hu Shengjie (FZ24) - - - - -
Mr. Fang Binjia (J73&1E) = = = = -
Mr. Li Yan (&) - - - - -
- 556 987 271 1,814

>

536 1,196 2,815 431 5,028 =

c

>

Notes: =

3

(i) Mr. Xia Xiujiang was appointed as a deputy general manager of the Company with effect from 25 October =

2024. >

N
(ii) Mr. Wang Hanjun ceased to act as the deputy general manager of the Company due to work adjustment

with effect from 22 October 2024.

(iii) Mr. Li Guoging ceased to act as the deputy general manager of the Company due to work adjustment with

effect from 19 December 2023. He resigned as executive director and was appointed as a non-executive
director due to work adjustment with effect from 8 March 2024.

The executive directors’ and the non-executive directors’ emoluments shown above were for their
services in connection with the management of the affairs of the Company and the Group. The
independent non-executive directors’ emoluments shown above were for their services as directors of

the Company. l_h_
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2024

8. DIRECTORS’ AND SUPERVISORS’ REMUNERATION AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID
EMPLOYEES (CONTINUED)

(b)

Five highest paid employees
An analysis of the headcount of the five highest paid employees within the Group for the years ended
31 December 2024 and 2023 is as follows:

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB'000
Non-director and non-supervisor employees 5 5

Details of the remuneration of the above non-director and non-supervisor highest paid employees are
as follows:

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind 1,361 1,303
Performance-related bonuses 7,839 8,994
Pension schemes 534 524
9,734 10,821

The number of non-director and non-supervisor highest paid employees whose remuneration fell within
the following bands is as follows:

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB'000
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000
(Equivalent to RMB1,786,541 to RMB2,233,175) 5 4
HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000
(Equivalent to RMB2,233,176 to RMB2,679,810) = 1

During the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, no directors, supervisors, and none of the
non-director and non-supervisor highest paid individuals waived or agreed to waive any emoluments,
and no emoluments were paid by the Group to the directors and supervisors or any of the non-director
and non-supervisor, highest paid individuals as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as
compensation for loss of office.



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2024

INCOME TAX EXPENSE

The Company and certain subsidiaries of the Company have been identified as “high and new technology
enterprises” and were entitled to a preferential income tax at a rate of 15% for the years ended 31 December
2024 and 2023 in accordance with the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law. Other entities within the Group in
Mainland China were subject to corporate income tax at a statutory rate of 25%.

No Hong Kong profits tax has been provided because the Group did not generate any assessable profits in
Hong Kong during the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.

2024 2023
Note RMB’000 RMB'000

Current income tax — Mainland China
Provision for the year 131,910 175,010
Under provision in respect of prior years 6,452 8,213
138,362 183,223
Deferred income tax 20 (38,154) (75,769)
Total income tax expense for the year 100,208 107,454

A reconciliation of the income tax expense applicable to profit before tax at the statutory income tax rate to
the income tax expense at the Group's effective income tax rate for the years ended 31 December 2024 and
2023 is as follows:

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB'000
Profit before tax 633,675 1,017,802
Income tax at the statutory income tax rate 158,419 254,451
Effect of different income tax rate for some entities (26,564) (94,295)
Tax effect of share of profits and losses of joint ventures and
associates (10,895) (16,326)
Additional tax deduction for research and development expenditure (36,552) (33,385)
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 6,510 4,706
Under provision in respect of prior years 6,452 8,213
Tax losses utilised from previous periods (3,266) (31,219)
Effect of tax losses not recognised 6,104 15,309
Income tax expense for the year at the effective rate 100,208 107,454
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2024

o

Z 10. DIVIDENDS

c

= The dividends during the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023 are set out below:

2

§ 2024 2023
= Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
g

A

—

e Declared:

= Final dividend — RMB0.1724 (2023: RMB0.1898) per ordinary share () 232,512 255,978
o)

z

g Proposed:

=z Final dividend — RMB0.1077 (2023: RMBO0.1724) per ordinary share (i) 145,252 232,512
o

o

§ Notes:

=

o (i) At the annual general meeting held on 23 May 2024, the Company’s shareholders approved the payment of the
3 final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2023 of RMB0.1724 per share which amounted to RMB232,512,000
= in total.

o

: At the annual general meeting held on 25 May 2023, the Company’s shareholders approved the payment of the
% final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2022 of RMB0.1898 per share which amounted to RMB255,978,000
=] in total.

o

(i) On 28 March 2024, the board of directors proposed the payment of a final dividend of RMB0.1724 per ordinary
share in respect of the year ended 31 December 2023, based on the issued share capital of the Company of
1,348,670,000 shares.

On 26 March 2025, the board of directors proposed the payment of a final dividend of RMB0.1077 per ordinary
share in respect of the year ended 31 December 2024, based on the issued share capital of the Company of
1,348,670,000 shares. The proposed final dividend is subject to the approval of the Company’s shareholders at the
forthcoming general meeting.

11. EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic earnings per share amount is based on the profit for the year attributable to
owners of the Company and the weighted average numbers of ordinary shares in issue during the year.

2024 2023
> RMB’000 RMB'000
Z
c
>
- Earnings:

g Profit attributable to owners of the Company 516,907 872,852
=
S
N 2024 2023
‘000 ‘000
Number of shares:
Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purpose of
the basic earnings per share calculation 1,348,670 1,348,670

The Group had no potential dilutive ordinary shares in issue during the years ended 31 December 2024 and
2023 and, therefore, the diluted earnings per share are the same as basic earnings per share.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2024

@
12. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT %
31 December 2024 %
A
Measurement Office e
and equipment ﬁ
Production ~ Motor experimental and Leasehold  Construction 5
Buildings Machinery equipment  vehicles equipment others  Decoration improvements in progress Total g
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB000 g
2
At 1 January 2024 .
Cost 796,428 630,233 43394 43,844 180,507 235,421 14,675 321,131 19,069 2,295,708 E
Accumulated S
depreciation (67,805  (359,268)  (21,154) (34,415) (95,871)  (113,467) (5.879) (160,944) - (858,803) E
5
S
Net carrying amount 728,623 210,965 22,260 14,429 84,636 121,954 8,796 166,193 19,069 1,436,905 %
o
At 1 January 2024, %
net of accumulated @
depreciation 728623 270,965 2240 14,429 84,636 121,954 8,796 166,193 19,069 1,436,905
Additions (note /) 132,994 - 1,687 666 13,609 7,959 - 15,930 4,557 177,402
Transfer from
construction in
progress - - - - 1,836 - - 19,153 (20,989) -
Transfer to

construction in

progress - (26,751) - - - - - - 26,751 -

Disposals - (30) (297) (307) - (357) - - - (991)

Depreciation provided
during the year (20997)  (40,170) (2633)  (2,948) (16,565)  (32,181) (2,935) (27,0m2) - (145,501)

At 31 December 2024, z
net of accumulated 3%
depreciation 840,620 204,014 20997 11,840 83,516 97,375 5,861 174,204 29,388 1,467,815 =

At 31 December 2024; S

Cost 929,422 588,942 43207 45511 195952 238,417 14,675 362,220 29,388 2,447,734 N

Accumulated
depreciation (88,802)  (384,928) (22,2100  (33,671) (112,436) (141,042 (8,814) (188,016) - (979,919)

Net carrying amount 840,620 204,014 20997 11,840 83,516 97,375 5,861 174,204 29,388 1,467,815
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2024

12. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED)
31 December 2023

Measurement Office
and  equipment
Production ~ Motor experimental and Leasehold  Construction
Buildings ~ Machinery  equipment  vehicles equipment others  Decoration  improvements in progress Total
RVB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

At 1 January 2023
Cost 489,838 629,750 40844 513%2 164,772 172,315 14,675 204,853 - 1768399
Accumulated

depreciation (55152)  (353,787)  (18417)  (36,399) (81,105)  (95,502) (2,935) (143,436) - (786,733)
Net carrying amount 434,686 275,963 20,427 14953 83,667 76,813 11,740 61,417 = 981,666
At 1 January 2023,

net of accumulated

depreciation 434,686 275,963 2427 14953 83667 76813 11,740 61,417 - 981,666
Additions (note /) 306,975 482 250 3259 17743 75438 - 122,284 19,069 547,800
Disposals (385) - - (231) (1,706) (692) - - - (3,014)
Depreciation provided

during the year (12,653) (5,480) 2731 (355 (15,068) (29,605 (2,944) (17,508) - (89,547)
At 31 December 2023,

net of accumulated

depreciation 728623 270,965 240 14,429 84,636 121,954 8,79 166,193 19,069 1,436,905
At 31 December 2023:
Cost 796,428 630,233 43394 43,844 180,507 235,421 14,675 327,137 19,069 2,295,708
Accumulated

depreciation (67,805 (359,268) (21,154)  (34,415) (95,871)  (113,467) (5,879) (160,944) - (858,803)
Net carrying amount 728,623 270,965 2240 14,429 84,636 121,954 8,79 166,193 19,069 1,436,905

Note j: During the year ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, the amount of addition in buildings included the land
portion as the lease payments cannot be allocated reliably between the land and building elements, and the entire
properties are classified as property, plant and equipment.

The Group was in the process of applying for the title certificates of certain of its buildings with an aggregate
net carrying amount of approximately RMB1,629,000 as at 31 December 2024 (2023: RMB305,286,000).
The Directors are of the view that the Group is entitled to lawfully and validly occupy and use the
above-mentioned buildings. The Directors are also of the opinion that the aforesaid matter will not have any
significant impact on the Group’s financial position as at 31 December 2024.



13.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2024

GOODWILL
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB'000
Cost and net carrying amount at beginning and at end of year 5,741 5,741

Impairment testing of goodwill

The goodwill arose from the business combination of Beijing Rail Transit Design and Research Institute Co.,
Ltd. (“Rail Transit Institute”). The recoverable amount of Rail Transit Institute has been determined based on
a value in use calculation using cash flow projections based on a financial budget covering a five-year period
approved by senior management. The discount rate applied to the cash flow projections is 11% (2023: 12%).
The growth rate used to extrapolate the cash flow of Rail Transit Institute beyond the five-year period is 2%
(2023: 2%).

A reasonably possible change in a key assumption would not cause the recoverable amount to fall below the
carrying amount of the goodwill.

Assumptions were used in the value in use calculation of relevant units for 31 December 2024 and 2023.
The following describes each key assumption on which management has based its cash flow projection to
undertake impairment testing of goodwill:

Budgeted gross margins -  The basis used to determine the value assigned to the budgeted gross
margins is the average gross margins achieved in the year immediately
before the budget year, increased for expected efficiency improvements, and
expected market development.

Discount rates —  The discount rates used are before tax and reflect specific risks relating to the
relevant units.

The values assigned to the key assumptions on market development and the discount rates are consistent
with external information sources.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2024

14.

LEASES

The Group as a lessee

The Group has lease contracts for various items of buildings, motor vehicles and other equipment in its
operations. Lump sum payments were made upfront to acquire the leased land from the owners with lease
periods from 2 years to 50 years, and no ongoing payments will be made under the terms of these land
leases. Leases of buildings generally have lease terms between 13 months and 13 years, while motor vehicles
generally have lease terms between 13 months and 3 years. Other equipment generally has lease terms of 12
months or less and/or is individually of low value. There are several lease contracts that include extension and
termination options and variable lease payments, which are further discussed below.

(a) Right-of-use assets
The carrying amounts of the Group's right-of-use assets and the movements during the year are as

follows:

Measurement

and

Leasehold Motor experimental
land  Buildings vehicles equipment Total
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
As at 1 January 2024 208,660 299,668 2,980 - 511,308
Additions 136,799 61,464 1,008 427 199,698
Early termination of leases - (12,855) - (38) (12,893)
Depreciation charge (12,658) (91,595) (1,213) (389) (105,855)
As at 31 December 2024 332,801 256,682 2,775 - 592,258

Measurement

and

Leasehold Motor experimental
land Buildings vehicles equipment Total
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
As at 1 January 2023 215,851 314,595 2,645 157 533,248
Additions 3,230 128,950 1,557 - 133,737
Early termination of leases - (43,403) - (22) (43,425)
Depreciation charge (10,421) (100,474) (1,222) (135) (112,252)
As at 31 December 2023 208,660 299,668 2,980 - 511,308




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2024

©
14. LEASES (CONTINUED) %
The Group as a lessee (continued) %

(b) Lease liabilities i

The carrying amount of lease liabilities (included under interest-bearing bank and other borrowings) e

and the movements during the year are as follows: 3

5

2024 2023 e

Note RMB’000 RMB'000 E

2

Carrying amount at 1 January 303,444 317,545 ;

New leases 63,501 133,254 E

Early termination of leases (15,587) (38,138) 9

Accretion of interest recognised 6 14,543 11,272 E

Payments (98,273) (120,489) 5

e

Carrying amount at 31 December 267,628 303,444 3

Portion classified as current liabilities (81,838) (89,392) -

=

Non-current portion 185,790 214,052 -

The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed in note 28 to the consolidated financial statements.

(c) The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation to leases are as follows:

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB'000
Interest on lease liabilities (note 6) 14,543 11,272
Depreciation of right-of-use assets 105,855 112,252
Expense relating to short-term leases and other leases 45,442 43,702
Variable lease payments not included in the measurement of j§>
lease liabilities (included in cost of sales) 300,608 379,942 S
-
fn
Total amount recognised in profit or loss 466,448 547,168 %
S
N
N
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2024

14.

15.

LEASES (CONTINUED)

The Group as a lessor

The Group leases its equipment under operating lease arrangements. The terms of the leases generally require
the tenants to pay security deposits and provide for periodic rent adjustments according to the then prevailing
market conditions. Rental income recognised by the Group during the year was RMB36,238,000 (2023:

RMB11,386,000), details of which are included in note 5 to the financial statements.

At 31 December 2024 and 2023, the undiscounted lease payments receivable by the Group in future periods

under non-cancellable operating leases with its tenants are as follows:

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB'000
Within one year 4,716 4,716
INTANGIBLE ASSETS
31 December 2024
Purchased Operating
software concession Backlog Total
Note RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’'000
At 1 January 2024
Cost 64,420 583,122 21,000 668,542
Accumulated amortisation for the year (48,077) (61,456) (16,800) (126,333)
Net carrying amount 16,343 521,666 4,200 542,209
Cost at beginning of the year, net of
accumulated amortisation 16,343 521,666 4,200 542,209
Additions 2,633 7,823 1,484 11,940
Amortisation provided during the year 7 (7,527) (29,046) (4,200) (40,773)
At 31 December 2024 11,449 500,443 1,484 513,376
At 31 December 2024
Cost 67,053 590,945 22,484 680,482
Accumulated amortisation for the year (55,604) (90,502) (21,000) (167,106)
Net carrying amount 11,449 500,443 1,484 513,376
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2024

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED)

31 December 2023

Purchased  Operating
software  concession Backlog Total
Note RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
At 1 January 2023
Cost 54,902 573,571 21,000 649,473
Accumulated amortisation for the year (40,914) (33,130) (12,600) (86,644)
Net carrying amount 13,988 540,441 8,400 562,829
Cost at beginning of the year, net of
accumulated amortisation 13,988 540,441 8,400 562,829
Additions 10,454 9,552 - 20,006
Amortisation provided during the year 7 (8,099) (28,327) (4,200) (40,626)
At 31 December 2023 16,343 521,666 4,200 542,209
At 31 December 2023
Cost 64,420 583,122 21,000 668,542
Accumulated amortisation for the year (48,077) (61,456) (16,800) (126,333)
Net carrying amount 16,343 521,666 4,200 542,209

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s intangible assets of RMB500,443,000 (2023: RMB521,666,000)
were pledged to secure certain of the Group’ s bank loans amounting to RMB4,757,366,000 (2023:

RMB4,930,517,000) (note 28).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2024

16.

INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB'000
Share of net assets under equity method 2,121,178 2,201,981

The Group's receivable and payable balances with the joint ventures are disclosed in notes 22, 23, 26 and 27
to the financial statements, respectively.

The investments in joint ventures are all directly held by the Company.

Particulars of the material joint venture are as follows:

Place of
business/country Percentage of ownership
Name of entity of incorporation interest as at 31 December
2024 2023
Yunnan Jingjian Rail Transit
("EFREREBREZRBRAA") PRC 78.28% 78.28%




16.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2024

The following table illustrates the summarised financial information in respect of Yunnan Jingjian Rail Transit

reconciled to the carrying amount in the consolidated financial statements:

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB'000
Cash and cash equivalents 1,669 3,721
Other current assets 4,279,944 4,072,685
Current assets 4,281,613 4,076,406
Non-current assets 5,694,874 4,966,067
Total assets 9,976,487 9,042,473
Current financial liabilities, excluding trade and other payables 391,186 270,085
Other current liabilities 2,377,105 1,801,819
Current liabilities 2,768,291 2,071,904
Non-current liabilities 4,675,932 4,347,889
Total liabilities 7,444,223 6,419,793
Net assets 2,532,264 2,622,680
Revenue 720,696 920,012
Interest income 323,170 313,695
Depreciation and amortization 1,099 1,460
Tax 55,817 44,024
Profit for the year 3,732 14,170
Total comprehensive income 3,732 14,170
Dividend 94,148 -
Proportion of the Group’s ownership 78.28% 78.28%
Carrying amount of the proportion 1,982,256 2,053,034
Adjustment for capital reserves of the entity
only attributable to the Group 79,457 91,175
Carrying amount of the investment 2,061,713 2,144,209
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2024

16.

17.

INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES (CONTINUED)

The aggregate financial information of the Group's joint ventures that are not individually material is set out
below:

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

Share of the joint ventures’ profit/(loss) for the year 2,184 (2,402)

Share of the joint ventures’ other comprehensive income - -

Share of the joint ventures’ total comprehensive income/(expense) 2,184 (2,402)
Aggregate carrying amount of the Group’s investments in

the joint ventures 59,465 57,772

The joint ventures had no contingent liabilities or capital commitments as at 31 December 2024 and 2023.

INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB'000
Share of net assets under equity method 1,328,226 1,077,672

The Group's receivable and payable balances with the associates are disclosed in notes 22, 23, 24, 26 and 27
to the financial statements.

The Group’s shareholdings in all of its associates comprise equity shares held by the Company, except for
Zhongkan Sanjia Engineering Consulting (Beijing) Co., Ltd., the shareholding in which is held through a
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company.



17.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED)

Particulars of the material associates are as follows:

Place of business/

For the year ended 31 December 2024

country of Percentage of ownership
Name of entity incorporation interest as at 31 December
2024 2023
Chongging West Express Line PRC 30.60% 30.60%
Construction Operation Co., LTD
("EETABARGERRELFRAF")
Shaoxing Jingyue (" 48 B s i R AR ") PRC 7.65% 7.65%

The following table illustrates the summarised financial information in respect of Chongging West Express Line
Construction Operation Co., LTD reconciled to the carrying amount in the consolidated financial statements:

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB'000
Non-current assets 8,336,169 6,383,400
Current assets 389,903 36,361
Total assets 8,726,072 6,419,761
Current liabilities 464,179 449,238
Non-current liabilities 5,712,441 4,228,998
Total liabilities 6,176,620 4,678,236
Net assets 2,549,452 1,741,525
Revenue 1,539,350 2,470,659
Profit for the year 56,970 44 204
Total comprehensive income 56,970 44 204
Proportion of the Group's ownership 30.60% 30.60%
Carrying amount of the proportion of the investment 780,132 532,907
Adjustment for additional share of retained profits
of the entity by the Group 29,620 54,197
Carrying amount of the investment 809,752 587,104
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2024

17.

INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED)

The following table illustrates the summarised financial information in respect of Shaoxing Jingyue reconciled

to the carrying amount in the consolidated financial statements:

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
Non-current assets 16,862,348 16,537,535
Current assets 1,714,583 1,606,628
Total assets 18,576,931 18,144,163
Current liabilities 3,963,953 4,049,893
Non-current liabilities 8,479,570 8,044,154
Total liabilities 12,443,523 12,094,047
Net assets 6,133,408 6,050,116
Revenue 301,603 219,773
Profit for the year 17,973 39,847
Total comprehensive income 17,973 39,847
Proportion of the Group's ownership 7.65% 7.65%
Carrying amount of the proportion of the investment 469,206 462,834
Adjustment for additional share of retained profits
of the entity by the Group 1,910 2,626
Carrying amount of the investment 471,116 465,460

The aggregate financial information of the Group’s associates that are not individually material is set out

below:
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB'000
Share of the associates’ loss for the year (1,847) (35,235)
Share of the associates’ other comprehensive income - -
Share of the associates’ total comprehensive expense (1,847) (35,235)




17.

18.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2024

INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED)

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB'000

Aggregate carrying amount of the Group’s investments in
the associates 47,358 25,108

The Group provided design, survey and consultancy services to Shaoxing Jingyue amounting to
RMB10,538,000 (2023: nil) for the year ended 31 December 2024.

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB'000
Listed equity investment, at fair value — non current
Beijing Jiuzhou First Rail Environmental Technology Co., Ltd.
(“Beijing Jiuzhou") (“dt EAIM—BIRBEIE RSB BR AT ") 5,178 8,388

The above equity investment was classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL") as
the Group has not elected to recognise the fair value profit or loss through other comprehensive income.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2024

19.

EQUITY INVESTMENTS DESIGNATED AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH OTHER
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB'000
Equity investments designated at fair value through other
comprehensive income
Unlisted equity investments, at fair value
Zhongdixin Geographic Information Equity Investment Fund Limited
(" EHIBERREREES") 1,900 3,613
Zhongshan Deep Water Environmental Water Co., Ltd.
("R ILTRKRIFKBEER AR ") 1 1
China Communications Fourth Airlines (Zhongshan)
Environmental Protection Engineering Co., Ltd.
("HFROMF L RRIEBERAR") 20 20
Beijing Jingxi Ecological Cultural Tourism Investment Co., Ltd.
("IERRAEERERIRERRAA") 3,300 7,000
Beijing Urban Construction Intelligent Control Co., Ltd. (“BUCZT")
("L B ERRROBRAE") (note (i) 222,575 191,723
227,796 202,357
Notes:

(if)

The above equity investments were irrevocably designated at fair value through other comprehensive income

("FVTOCI") as the Group considers these investments to be strategic in nature.

The Company entered into an agreement with BUCG on 21 November 2023 in relation to the transfer of 20%
equity interest in BUCZT by the Company to BUCG at a consideration of RMB348,037,000. Upon completion of
the disposal, the Company’s shareholding in BUCZT decreases from 30.83% to 10.83% and investment in BUCZT
was transferred from investments in associates to equity investments designated at fair value through other
comprehensive income since the Company ceases to have significant influence over BUCZT. A gain on disposal of
investments in associates amounting to RMB277,851,000 was recognised in profit or loss during the year ended 31

December 2023.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2024

DEFERRED TAX

The movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities during the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023 are
as follows:

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB'000
Deferred tax assets:
At beginning of the year 358,353 276,163
Deferred tax credited to profit or loss 33,898 82,190
Deferred tax credited to other comprehensive income 726 -
At end of the year 392,977 358,353
Deferred tax liabilities:
At beginning of the year 7,584 1,808
Deferred tax (credited)/charged to profit or loss (4,256) 6,421
Deferred tax charged/(credited) to other comprehensive income 4,073 (645)
At end of the year 7,401 7,584
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20.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2024

DEFERRED TAX (CONTINUED)

For presentation purposes, certain deferred tax assets and liabilities have been offset in the consolidated
statement of financial position. The following is an analysis of the deferred tax balances of the Group for
financial reporting purposes:

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB'000
Net deferred tax assets recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position 392,977 358,353
Net deferred tax liabilities recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position 7,401 7,584

As at 31 December 2024, the Group has unused tax losses of RMB220,389,000 (2023: RMB234,350,000),
available for offset against future profits.

A deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of such tax losses of RMB198,144,000 (2023:
RMB218,539,000) as at 31 December 2024.

The Group has tax losses not recognised for deferred tax arising in Hong Kong of HK$8,323,000 (2023:
HK$8,598,000) equivalent to RMB7,707,000 (2023: RMB7,792,000) that are available indefinitely for
offsetting against future taxable profits of the Company in which the losses arose.

The Group has tax losses not recognised for deferred tax arising in Mainland China of RMB 14,538,000 (2023:
RMB8,019,000) that will expire in one to five years for offsetting against future taxable profits.

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of these losses as it is not probable that taxable profit
will be available against which the deductible temporary differences can be utilised.

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a 10% withholding tax is levied on dividends declared to
foreign investors from the enterprises established in Mainland China. The requirement is effective from 1
January 2008 and applies to earnings after 31 December 2007. A lower withholding tax rate may be applied
if there is a tax treaty between Mainland China and the jurisdiction of the foreign investors. For the Group,
the applicable rate is 10%. The Group is therefore liable for withholding taxes on dividends distributed by
those subsidiaries established in Mainland China in respect of earnings generated from 1 January 2008.

There are no income tax consequences attaching to the payment of dividends by the Company to its
shareholders.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2024

21.

22.

INVENTORIES
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB'000
Raw materials 63,880 58,580
Spare parts and consumables 31,044 12,084
94,924 70,664
CONTRACT ASSETS
2024 2023
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
Contract assets arising from:
Design, survey and consultancy services 3,490,285 3,783,360
Construction contracting services 6,946,171 6,411,856
10,436,456 10,195,216
Impairment (396,395) (279,428)
10,040,061 9,915,788
Portion classified as non-current contract assets () (4,523,909) (4,936,462)
Current portion 5,516,152 4,979,326
Notes:
(i) The non-current portion of contract assets mainly represented the contract assets arising from service concession

arrangements and retention money as at 31 December 2024 and 2023.

(i) As at 1 January 2023, the contract assets of the Group amounted to RMB9,659,568,000.

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the amounts of retentions held by customers for contract works included
in contract assets were approximately as follows:

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB'000
Amounts of retentions in contract assets 112,830 208,145




22.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2024

CONTRACT ASSETS (CONTINUED)

Contract assets are initially recognised for revenue earned from the provision of design, survey and
consultancy services and construction services as the receipt of consideration is conditional on successful
progress of completion of design, survey and consultancy and construction, respectively. Upon the progress of
completion of design, survey and consultancy or construction and acceptance by the customer, the amounts
recognised as contract assets are reclassified to trade receivables.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, RMB396,395,000 (2023: RMB279,428,000) was recognised as
an allowance for expected credit losses on contract assets. The Group’s trading terms and credit policy with
customers are disclosed in note 23.

The expected timing of recovery or settlement for contract assets as at 31 December 2024 and 2023 are as
follows:

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB'000

Within one year 5,516,152 4,979,326
After one year 4,523,909 4,936,462
Total contract assets 10,040,061 9,915,788

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of contract assets are as follows:

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’'000

At beginning of the year 279,428 215,656
Impairment losses recognised 119,275 69,122
Impairment losses reversed (2,308) (5,350)
At end of the year 396,395 279,428

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date using a provision matrix to measure expected
credit losses. The provision rates for the measurement of the expected credit losses of the contract assets are
based on those of the trade receivables as the contract assets and the trade receivables are from the same
customer bases. The provision rates of contract assets are based on the probabilities of default rates of trade
receivables for groupings of various customer segments with similar loss patterns (i.e., by geographical region,
product type, customer type and rating, and coverage by letters of credit or other forms of credit insurance).
The calculation reflects the probability-weighted outcome, the time value of money and reasonable and
supportable information that is available at the reporting date about past events, current conditions and
forecasts of future economic conditions.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2024

22.

CONTRACT ASSETS (CONTINUED)

Details of the written off in impairment losses of contract assets are disclosed in note 5 to the financial

statements.

Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure on the Group’s contract assets using a

provision matrix:

2024 2023
Expected credit loss rate 3.80% 2.74%
Gross carrying amount (RMB’000) 10,436,456 10,195,216
Expected credit losses (RMB'000) 396,395 279,428

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s contract assets of RMB5,365,548,000 (2023: RMB5,704,644,000) were
pledged to secure certain of the Group’s bank loans amounting to RMB4,757,366,000 (31 December 2023:

RMB4,930,517,000) (note 28).

The amounts due from associates, the beneficial shareholders of the Company (the “Beneficial Shareholders” *)

and their affiliates, BUCG and other related parties included in the contract assets are as follows:

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB'000

Associates 163,129 255,586
Beneficial Shareholders and their affiliates 326,147 564,906
BUCG 52,958 30,252
Fellow subsidiaries 45,031 28,617
Associates of BUCG 6,343 6,519
A joint venture of BUCG 627 120
Joint ventures 1,494 145
A non-controlling shareholder 6,871 130
602,600 886,275

* Pursuant to the capital injection agreement in May 2013, seven strategic investors contributed cash of RMB703

million to the Company. Thereafter, these strategic investors became the Beneficial Shareholders of the Company.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2024

TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB'000

Trade receivables 5,192,265 5,573,085
Bills receivable 37,151 55,469
5,229,416 5,628,554

Impairment (1,179,605) (1,128,038)
4,049,811 4,500,516

The Group's trading terms with its customers are mainly on credit, except for new customers, where payment
in advance is normally required. The credit period is generally six months. Each customer has a maximum
credit limit. The Group seeks to maintain strict control over its outstanding receivables and has a credit control
department to recognise credit risk. Overdue balances are reviewed regularly by senior management. In view
of the aforementioned and the fact that the Group’s trade receivables relate to a large number of diversified
customers, there is no significant concentration of credit risk. The Group does not hold any collateral or other
credit enhancements over its trade receivable balances. Trade receivables are non-interest-bearing.

As at 1 January 2023, the trade and bills receivables (net of impairment) of the Group amounted to
RMB3,688,543,000.

An ageing analysis of the trade and bills receivables as at the end of the reporting period, based on the
invoice date and net of loss allowance, is as follows:

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB'000

Within 6 months 1,732,757 2,287,973
6 months to 1 year 714,694 560,051
1 to 2 years 774,757 649,804
2 to 3 years 379,458 350,389
3 to 4 years 236,414 229,283
4 to 5 years 188,788 163,410
Over 5 years 22,943 259,606
4,049,811 4,500,516
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2024

23.

TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED)

The movements in loss allowance for impairment of trade and bills receivables are as follows:

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB'000

At beginning of the year 1,128,038 902,170
Impairment losses recognised 88,969 227,631
Impairment losses reversed (37,402) (1,763)
At end of the year 1,179,605 1,128,038

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date using a provision matrix of trade and bills
receivables (past due dates) to measure expected credit losses. The provision rates are based on days past
due for groupings of various customer segments with similar loss patterns (i.e., by geographical region,
product type, customer type and rating, and coverage by letters of credit or other forms of credit insurance).
The calculation reflects the probability-weighted outcome, the time value of money and reasonable and
supportable information that is available at the reporting date about past events, current conditions and
forecasts of future economic conditions.

As at 31 December 2024, the net carrying amount of trade receivables of approximately RMB2,317,054,000
(2023: RMB2,212,543,000) were past due. Out of the past due balances, those has been past due 90 days or
more is not considered as in default based on the Group’s assessment of historical credit loss experience of
the existing debtors and all available forward-looking information, including but not limited to the expected
economic conditions in the PRC and expected subsequent settlements. The Group does not hold any collateral
over these balances.

As at 31 December 2024, total bills receivables, net of impairment, amounting to RMB37,077,000 (2023:
RMB55,323,000) are held by the Group for future settlement of trade receivables. The Group continues to
recognise their full carrying amounts at the end of the reporting period. All bills received by the Group are
with a maturity period of less than one year.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2024

TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED)

Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure on the Group’s trade and bills receivables

using a provision matrix of trade and bills receivables (past due dates):

As at 31 December 2024

Expected Gross Expected

credit carrying credit

loss rate amount losses

RMB’000 RMB’000

Individually impaired 57.78% 195,333 112,865
Collectively impaired

Within 6 months 0.34% 1,741,454 5,901

6 months to 1 year 4.00% 744,453 29,759

1 to 2 years 9.30% 853,960 79,451

2 to 3 years 16.50% 452,640 74,676

3 to 4 years 30.00% 307,563 92,269

4 to 5 years 50.00% 255,206 127,603

5 to 6 years 90.00% 217,203 195,477

Over 6 years 100.00% 461,604 461,604

21.19% 5,034,083 1,066,740

Total 22.56% 5,229,416 1,179,605
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2024

23.

TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED)
As at 31 December 2023

Expected Gross Expected

credit carrying credit

loss rate amount losses

RMB'000 RMB'000

Individually impaired 41.73% 396,215 165,357
Collectively impaired

Within 6 months 0.41% 2,353,058 9,763

6 months to 1 year 4.00% 525,758 21,030

1 to 2 years 9.30% 716,432 66,628

2 to 3 years 16.50% 419,627 69,239

3 to 4 years 30.00% 327,548 98,264

4 to 5 years 50.00% 326,821 163,410

5 to 6 years 90.00% 287,477 258,729

Over 6 years 100.00% 275,618 275,618

18.40% 5,232,339 962,681

Total 20.04% 5,628,554 1,128,038

The amounts due from the Beneficial Shareholders and their affiliates, associates, BUCG and other related

parties included in the trade receivables are as follows:

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB'000

Beneficial Shareholders and their affiliates 592,336 698,693
Associates 239,802 45,356
BUCG 208,892 60,903
Fellow subsidiaries 68,604 13,590
Joint ventures 14,611 15,419
Associates of BUCG 815 2,569
Joint venture of BUCG 410 -
Non-controlling shareholder of beneficial shareholders 9,032 =
Non-controlling shareholder of a subsidiary 1,048 -
1,135,550 836,530

The above amounts are unsecured, non-interest-bearing and repayable on similar credit terms to those
offered to other major customers of the Group, except for trade receivables of RMB357,736,000 (2023:
RMB289,895,000) which were pledged to secure certain of the Group's bank loans amounting to

RMB4,757,366,000 (2023: RMB4,930,517,000) of 31 December 2024 (note 28).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2024

PREPAYMENTS, OTHER RECEIVABLES AND OTHER ASSETS

2024 2023

Notes RMB’000 RMB'000

Deductible value-added tax 223,078 273,537

Prepayments 81,011 81,036

Deposits and other receivables (i) 281,683 286,653

585,772 641,226

Impairment (39,695) (33,206)

546,077 608,020

Portion classified as non-current assets (i) (132,475) (163,369)

Current portion 413,602 444,651

Notes:

(i) As at 31 December 2024, included in deposits and other receivables is RMB89 million dividend income of an

associate and equity instrument designated as fair value through other comprehensive income. As at 31 December

2023, included in deposits and other receivables is RMB139 million consideration receivable of disposal of an
associate.

(ii) The non-current portion of deposits and other receivables mainly represents deductible value-added tax and

prepayment for property, plant and equipment at 31 December 2024 and 2023.

The movements in provision for impairment of deposits and other receivables are as follows:

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB'000

At beginning of the year 33,206 36,633
Impairment losses recognised 7,093 2,913
Impairment losses reversed (604) (6,340)
At end of the year 39,695 33,206
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2024

24,

PREPAYMENTS, OTHER RECEIVABLES AND OTHER ASSETS (CONTINUED)

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the expected credit losses are estimated by applying a loss rate approach
with reference to the historical loss record of the Group. The loss rate is adjusted to reflect the current
conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions, as appropriate. The loss rates applied as at 31

December 2024 and 2023 were as follows:

As at 31 December 2024

Expected Gross Expected

credit carrying credit

loss rate amount losses

RMB’000 RMB’'000

Stage 1 7.25% 255,094 18,489
Stage 2 63.20% 14,629 9,246
Stage 3 100.00% 11,960 11,960
Total 14.09% 281,683 39,695
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2024

PREPAYMENTS, OTHER RECEIVABLES AND OTHER ASSETS (CONTINUED)

As at 31 December 2023

Expected Gross Expected

credit carrying credit

loss rate amount losses

RMB'000 RMB'000

Stage 1 7.14% 243,673 17,409
Stage 2 11.87% 27,626 3,280
Stage 3 81.52% 15,354 12,517
Total 11.58% 286,653 33,206

The amounts due from associates of BUCG, Beneficial Shareholders and their affiliates, fellow subsidiaries and
other related parties included in the prepayments, other receivables and other assets are as follows:

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB'000

BUCG 13,812 139,214
Associates of BUCG 14 84
An associate 84 -
Beneficial Shareholders and their affiliates 1,323 382
Fellow subsidiaries 9,065 4,698
Joint venture 858 -
A non-controlling shareholder - 20
25,156 144,398

Prepayments, other receivables and other assets are trade in
no fixed terms of settlement.

nature, unsecured, non interest-bearing and have
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2024

lve)

% 25. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND PLEDGED DEPOSITS

S

los]

>

E 2024 2023

e) RMB’000 RMB’000

a

el

5

5! Cash and bank balances 3,126,281 3,385,019

S Time deposits 30,228 24,618

Q

o

- 3,156,509 3,409,637

=

<

g Less: Pledged bank balances for bidding guarantees and

2 performance guarantees (112,663) (99,941)

z

=

% Cash and bank balances in the consolidated statement of

S financial position and in the consolidated statement of cash flows 3,043,846 3,309,696

o

% Cash and bank balances and time deposits denominated in:

@ - RMB 2,871,198 3,141,322
- USsD 278,722 262,403
— HKD 6,589 5,910
- KZT - 2

3,156,509 3,409,637

The RMB is not freely convertible into other currencies, however, under Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange
Control Regulations and Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations,
the Group is permitted to exchange RMB for other currencies through banks recognised to conduct foreign
exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates. Short term time deposits are
made for varying periods depending on the immediate cash requirements of the Group, and earn interest
at the respective short term time deposit rates. The bank balances and pledged deposits are deposited with
creditworthy banks with no recent history of default.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2024

TRADE AND BILLS PAYABLES

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB'000

Trade payables 5,539,927 5,816,233
Bills payable 47,099 97,705
5,587,026 5,913,938

An ageing analysis of the trade and bills payables, as at the reporting date, based on the invoice date, is as
follows:

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

Within 6 months 1,972,881 2,464,957
6 months to 1 year 641,927 602,454
1 to 2 years 1,334,999 1,137,897
2 to 3 years 602,581 639,562
Over 3 years 1,034,638 1,069,068
5,587,026 5,913,938

Trade payables are non-interest-bearing and are normally settled within six months to nine months.

The amounts due to associates of BUCG, fellow subsidiaries, the Beneficial Shareholders and their affiliates
and other related parties included in the trade and bills payables are as follows:

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB'000

Associates of BUCG 54,844 121,211
Fellow subsidiaries 334,872 59,826
Beneficial Shareholders and their affiliates 3,539 24,095
An associate 11,260 3,581
Joint ventures 15,291 15,114
BUCG 864 15,205
A non-controlling shareholder 11,632 7,090
432,302 246,122
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2024

27.

OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

2024 2023
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
Contract liabilities () 2,731,408 2,546,434
Accrued salaries, wages and benefits 387,751 444,005
Other taxes payable 736,918 787,805
Retention payables 104,195 97,835
Dividend payables 13,908 17,675
Deferred income 7,352 8,906
Other payables (ir) 200,199 214,185
4,181,731 4,116,845
Portion classified as non-current liabilities (i) (353,665) (367,775)
Current portion 3,828,066 3,749,070
Notes:
(i) Contract liabilities include short-term advances received from customers and amounts due to contract customers.

The increase in contract liabilities in 2024 was mainly due to the increase in short-term advances received from
customers and amounts due to contract customers in relation to the provision of design, survey and consultancy

services and construction services at the end of the years.

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000

Short-term advances received from customers:
Design, survey and consultancy services 324,785 300,996
Construction services 181,824 172,809
506,609 473,805

Amounts due to contract customers:

Design, survey and consultancy services 1,429,236 1,317,254
Construction services 795,563 755,375
2,224,799 2,072,629
Total contract liabilities 2,731,408 2,546,434
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2024

OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS (CONTINUED)

Notes: (continued)

As at 1 January 2023, the contract liabilities of the Group amounted to RMB2,896,665,000. The amount of revenue
recognised for the year ended 31 December 2024 and 2023 that were included in the contract liability balance as at

1 January 2024 and 2023 were RMB1,147,000,000 and RMB1,495,900,000, respectively.

(ii) Included in other payables of RMB64 million (2023: RMB63 million) for acquisition of property, plant and equipment

at 31 December 2024.

(iii) The non-current portion mainly represented output value-added tax and government grants at 31 December 2024

and 2023.

The amounts due to the Beneficial Shareholders and their affiliates, fellow subsidiaries, associates of BUCG

and other related parties included in other payables and accruals are as follows:

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB'000

Beneficial Shareholders and their affiliates 114,872 529,180
Fellow subsidiaries 53,749 34,312
Associates of BUCG 4,556 41,177
BUCG 22,943 15,851
Associates 988 938
A joint venture 307 2,919
A non-controlling shareholder 11,890 2,449
209,305 626,826

The other payables and accruals are trade in nature, unsecured, non-interest-bearing and have no fixed terms

of settlement.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2024

28.

INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

2024 2023
RMB'000 RMB'000
Non-current
Long term bank loans:
- Secured (i) 2.90%-4.45% 2028-2044 4,186,024  3.00%-5.11% 2025-2044 4,340,160
- Unsecured and Unguaranteed 1.99% 2027 10,000 1.81% 2025 15,608
Long term other borrowings:
- Unsecured and Unguaranteed 2.52%-4.90% 2026-2027 638,000  3.53%-4.90% 2025-2026 138,000
Lease liabilities (note 14(b)) 4.75%-4.90% 2026-2041 185,790  4.75%-4.90% 2025-2032 214,052
5,019,814 4,707,820
Current
Current portion of long term bank loans
- Secured (i) 3.36%-4.45% 2025 190,814  3.00%-5.11% 2024 199,822
Short term bank loans:
- Secured (i) 4.45% 2025 380,528 4.90% 2024 390,535
- Guaranteed (ii) - - - 3.80% 2024 15,069
- Unsecured and Unguaranteed 2.28%-2.80% 2025 419,529  3.50%-4.235% 2024 405,642
Current portion of lease liabilities (note 14(b)) ~ 4.75%-4.90% 2025 81,838  4.75%-4.90% 2024 89,392
Current portion of long term other borrowings:
- Unsecured and Unguaranteed 1.81%-4.90% 2025 526,314  2.95%-4.90% 2024 1,105,669
1,599,023 2,206,129
6,618,837 6,913,949
Denominated in:
- RMB 6,618,837 6,913,949
Notes:

(i) As at 31 December 2024, the bank loans of RMB4,757,366,000 (2023: RMB4,639,981,000) were secured by the
right of future contract assets, trade receivables and intangible assets for certain service concession arrangements.

(ii) As at 31 December 2023, the bank loans of RMB15,069,000 were guaranteed by the Company.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2024

INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)

The exposure of the Group's borrowings are as follows:

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB'000

Fixed-rate borrowings 2,241,698 2,375,238
Variable-rate borrowings 4,377,139 4,538,711
6,618,837 6,913,949

The maturity profile of the interest-bearing bank and other borrowings as at 31 December 2024 and 2023 is

as follows:

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB'000
Analysed into:
Bank loans repayable:
Within one year 990,871 1,011,068
In the second year 238,500 238,500
In the third to fifth years, inclusive 1,872,100 1,872,100
Over five years 2,085,424 2,245,168
5,186,895 5,366,836
Other borrowings repayable:
Within one year 526,314 1,105,669
In the second year 138,000 -
In the third to fifth years, inclusive 500,000 138,000
1,164,314 1,243,669
Lease liabilities repayable:
Within one year 81,838 89,392
In the second year 74,093 74,093
In the third to fifth years, inclusive 92,399 92,399
Over five years 19,298 47,560
267,628 303,444
6,618,837 6,913,949
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2024

28.

29.

INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)

The interest-bearing borrowings from shareholders included in the above are as follows:

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB'000

A non-controlling shareholder 154,976 262,471
BUCG 30,926 15,610
185,902 278,081

PROVISIONS FOR SUPPLEMENTARY RETIREMENT BENEFITS

The Group has the following supplementary retirement benefits: (1) the retirement pension subsidies,
medical benefits and other supplementary benefits to retirees who retired before 31 December 2012; (2) the
supplementary allowances to the beneficiaries and dependents of retirees who retired before 31 December
2012; and (3) the heating allowances to its employees upon their retirement. These supplementary retirement
benefits are considered to be defined benefit plans as the Group is obligated to provide retirement benefits to
those retirees and employees mentioned above.

The Group's obligations in respect of the above supplementary retirement benefits at 31 December 2024 and
2023 were computed by an independent qualified actuarial firm, Towers Watson Consulting Company Limited
(B5EH= IR 8302 A]), using the projected unit credit actuarial valuation method.

The components of net benefit expenses recognised in profit or loss and the amounts recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position are recognised below:

(a)  The provisions for supplementary retirement benefits recognised in the consolidated statement of
financial position are shown as follows:

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’'000

At end of the year 82,514 78,380
Portion classified as current liabilities (3,910) (3,910)
Non-current portion 78,604 74,470




29. PROVISIONS FOR SUPPLEMENTARY RETIREMENT BENEFITS (CONTINUED)
(b)

(c)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2024

The movements of the provisions for supplementary retirement benefits are as follows:

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB'000

At beginning of the year 78,380 71,933

Interest costs on benefit obligations 2,100 2,050

Current service costs 2,240 2,160

Past service costs (6,690) -

Benefits paid during the year (6,496) (4,283)
Remeasurement losses recognised in other

comprehensive income 12,980 6,520

At end of the year 82,514 78,380

The details of remeasurement losses recognised in other comprehensive income of the Group during

the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023 are as follows:

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB'000
Actuarial changes arising from changes in
financial assumptions 9,600 2,620
Liability experience adjustments 3,380 3,900
Re-measurement losses recognised in other
comprehensive income 12,980 6,520

The net expenses recognised in profit or loss in respect of the provisions for supplementary retirement

benefits of the Group are as follows:

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

Interest costs on benefit obligations 2,100 2,050
Current service costs 2,240 2,160
Past service costs (6,690) -
(2,350) 4,210
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2024

29.

PROVISIONS FOR SUPPLEMENTARY RETIREMENT BENEFITS (CONTINUED)

(d)

The principal actuarial assumptions used in valuing the provisions for supplementary retirement benefits

as at 31 December 2024 and 2023 are as follows:

2024 2023

Discount rates

2.00% 2.75%

Mortality rate

Average life expectancy of
residents in Mainland China

Average annual benefit increase:

— Cost of living adjustment for internal retirees

— Medical expenses
— Withdrawal rate for actives

4.00% 4.00%
6.00% 6.00%
3.00% 3.00%

The average duration of the provision for supplementary retirement benefits and early retirement

benefits at 31 December 2024 and 2023 is as follows:

2024 2023

Average life expectancy

42.9 years 43.7 years




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2024

©
29. PROVISIONS FOR SUPPLEMENTARY RETIREMENT BENEFITS (CONTINUED) %
(e)  The quantitative sensitivity analysis of the provisions for supplementary retirement benefits as at 31 i%
December 2024 and 2023 is as follows: i

e

Increase/ Increase/ ﬁ

(decrease) in (decrease) in 5

provisions for provisions for g

supplementary supplementary a

Increase retirement  Decrease retirement Q

in rate benefits in rate benefits §

% RMB’000 % RMB’'000 %

5

As at 31 December 2024 E
Discount rate 0.25 (3,050) 0.25 3,250 o
Future medical expense 0.25 680 0.25 (650) é

S

S

As at 31 December 2023 =
Discount rate 0.25 (2,770) 0.25 2,940 %
Future medical expense 0.25 610 0.25 (580) “

The sensitivity analysis above has been made based on a method that extrapolates the impact on the
provisions for supplementary retirement benefits as a result of reasonable changes in key assumptions
occurring at 31 December 2024 and 2023.

30. PROVISION

Provision of the Group for the current year contains provision for warranty and provision for foreseeable
losses on contracts.

The Group provides regular maintenance ranging to its customers for construction products for general
repairs of defects occurring during the warranty period under which faulty parts are repaired or replaced. The
amount of the provision for the maintenance is estimated based on urban road technical maintenance norms
and experience. The estimation basis is reviewed on an ongoing basis and revised where appropriate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2024

30.

PROVISION (CONTINUED)

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the provision for foreseeable losses on contracts was estimated using
the percentage to be completed multiplied by foreseeable losses of the contract. The foreseeable losses
are the differences between expenditure estimated fulfilling the contract and cash inflows when finishing
the contract. The estimated expenditure and foreseeable cash inflows are adjusted to reflect the current

conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions, as appropriate.

2024
Provision for
foreseeable

Provision losses
for warranty on contracts Total
RMB’'000 RMB’000 RMB’'000
At beginning of the year 62,399 9,250 71,649
Additional provision 21,216 6,461 27,677
Amounts utilised during the year (1,565) (3,050) (4,615)
At end of the year 82,050 12,661 94,711
Portion classified as current liabilities - (6,682) (6,682)
Non-current portion 82,050 5,979 88,029

2023

Provision for

foreseeable

Provision losses
for warranty on contracts Total
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
At beginning of the year 50,443 7,859 58,302
Additional provision 23,216 5,063 28,279
Amounts utilised during the year (11,260) (3,672) (14,932)
At end of the year 62,399 9,250 71,649
Portion classified as current liabilities - (6,313) (6,313)
Non-current portion 62,399 2,937 65,336




31.

32.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2024

SHARE CAPITAL

Shares

2024 2023
‘000 ‘000

Registered, issued and fully paid:
1,348,670,000 (2023: 1,348,670,000) ordinary shares 1,348,670 1,348,670

RESERVES

The amounts of the Group's reserves and the movements therein for the years ended 31 December 2024 and
2023 are presented in the consolidated statement of changes in equity.

(i) Capital reserve
The difference between the nominal value of the share capital of the Company and the actual raised
fund of the share capital and the difference between the considerations of acquisition or disposal of
equity interests from/to non-controlling equity owners and the carrying amount of the proportionate
net assets.

(i) Fair value reserve (non-recycling)
The fair value reserve (non-recycling) comprises the cumulative net change in the fair value of equity
investments designated at FVTOCI held at the end of the reporting period.

(iii) Special reserve
In the preparation of these consolidated financial statements, the Group has appropriated certain
amounts of retained profits to a special reserve fund for each of the years ended 31 December 2023
and 2024 respectively, for safety production expense purposes as required by directives issued by the
relevant PRC government authorities. The Group charged the safety production expenses to profit or
loss when such expenses were incurred, and at the same time, the corresponding amounts of special
reserve fund were utilised and transferred back to retained profits.

(iv) Statutory reserve
In accordance with relevant rules and regulations in the PRC, except for sino-foreign equity joint
venture enterprises, all PRC companies are required to transfer 10% of their profit after taxation
calculated under PRC accounting rules and regulations to the statutory reserve fund, until the
accumulated total of the fund reaches 50% of their registered capital. The statutory reserve fund can
only be used, upon approval by the relevant authority, to offset losses carried forward from previous
years or to increase capital of the respective companies.

(v) Exchange reserve
The translation reserve of the Group comprises all foreign exchange differences arising from the
translation of the financial statements of foreign operations.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2024

33. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

(a)

(b)

Major non-cash transactions

During the year, the Group had non-cash additions to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities of
RMB199,698,000 (2023: RMB133,737,000) (included additions of leasehold land amounted to
RMB132,230,000 which was settled by the trade receivables of the counter party) and RMB63,501,000
(2023: RMB133,254,000), respectively, in respect of lease arrangements for plant and equipment,
and settlement of other borrowings of RMB104,010,000 by trade receivables amounting to

RMB104,010,000.

Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities

Bank loans
and other Lease Dividends Interest
borrowings liabilities payables payable
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
At 1 January 2024 6,610,505 303,444 17,675 -
Changes from financing cash flows (179,984) (98,273) (239,336) (242,775)
New leases - 63,501 - -
Early termination of leases - (15,587) - -
Interest expense - 14,543 - 267,473
Final 2023 dividend declared - - 232,512 -
Dividend declared to non-controlling shareholders - - 3,057 -
Others (104,010) - - -
Reclassification 24,698 - - (24,698)
At 31 December 2024 6,351,209 267,628 13,908 -

Bank loans
and other Lease Dividends Interest
borrowings liabilities payables payable
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
At 1 January 2023 6,586,213 317,545 20,034 -
Changes from financing cash flows 2,742 (120,489) (268,315) (257,977)
New leases - 133,254 - -
Cancellation of leases - (38,138) - -
Interest expense - 11,272 - 279,527
Final 2022 dividend declared - - 255,978 -
Dividend declared to non-controlling shareholders - - 9,978 -
Reclassification 21,550 - - (21,550)
At 31 December 2023 6,610,505 303,444 17,675 -




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2024

33. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)

(c) Total cash outflow for leases

The total cash outflow for leases included in the consolidated statement of cash flows is as follows:

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

Within operating activities (346,050) (423,644)
Within financing activities (98,273) (120,489)
(444,323) (544,133)

34. PLEDGE OF ASSETS

Details of the Group’s assets pledged for bidding guarantees and performance guarantees and interest-

bearing bank loans are disclosed in notes 15, 22, 23, 25 and 28 to the financial statements.

35. COMMITMENTS

The Group had the following capital commitments at the end of the reporting period:

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB'000

Contracted, but not provided for:
Equity investments 1,083,871 1,093,213
Property, plant and equipment 150,149 305,119
1,234,020 1,398,332
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2024

36. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(a)

In addition to the transactions and balances which are disclosed elsewhere in these consolidated
financial statements, the Group had the following material transactions with related parties during the

years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023:

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000

Design, survey and consultancy services provided to:
Beneficial Shareholders and their affiliates 441,933 429,921
Fellow subsidiaries 68,964 81,896
BUCG 60,022 56,183
Associates of BUCG 13,917 29,048
Associates 3,583 24,277
Joint ventures of BUCG 698 -
Joint ventures 159 1,665
A non-controlling shareholder 10,242 1,016
599,518 624,006

Construction contracting services provided to:

An associate 965,050 2,191,454
Beneficial Shareholders and their affiliates 1,438,188 1,792,768
BUCG 26,548 125,020
A joint venture 2,497 37,391
Fellow subsidiaries 36,734 1,622
An associate of BUCG 513 -
2,469,530 4,148,255




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2024

36. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

(a)

In addition to the transactions and balances which are disclosed elsewhere in these consolidated
financial statements, the Group had the following material transactions with related parties during the

years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023: (continued)

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB'000
Construction contracting services provided by:

Associates of BUCG 38,631 37,293
Fellow subsidiaries 374,891 74,698
A non-controlling shareholder 3,683 2,002
An associate 18 123,990
417,223 237,983

Design, survey and consultancy services provided by:
Associates 17,211 11,586
A Joint venture 3,854 2,851
Fellow subsidiaries 5,297 1,902
Beneficial Shareholders and their affiliates 393 46
Joint ventures of BUCG 193 -
26,948 16,385
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2024

36.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

(a)

In addition to the transactions and balances which are disclosed elsewhere in these consolidated
financial statements, the Group had the following material transactions with related parties during the

years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023: (continued)

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB'000
Rental expenses and property management fees paid or
payable to:
Fellow subsidiaries 10,946 14,704
BUCG 2,440 5,408
A beneficial shareholder 6,926 1,800
20,312 21,912
Rental income from:
An associate 1,085 -
Fellow subsidiaries - 4,716
1,085 4,716
Finance costs paid or payable to:
A non-controlling shareholder 6,762 9,800
BUCG 384 278
7,146 10,078

The above related party transactions were conducted in accordance with the terms mutually agreed

between the parties.



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2024

36. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

(a)

In addition to the transactions and balances which are disclosed elsewhere in these consolidated
financial statements, the Group had the following material transactions with related parties during the
years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023: (continued)

The Group is indirectly controlled by the PRC government and operates in an economic environment
predominated by entities directly or indirectly owned or controlled by the government through its
agencies, affiliates or other organisations (collectively “State-owned Enterprises” (“SOEs"”)). During the
year ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Group entered into extensive transactions with SOEs
other than those transactions disclosed elsewhere in these consolidated financial statements, such as
bank deposits, rendering and receiving of design, survey and consultancy services and construction
contracting services, and purchase of inventories and machinery. In the opinion of the directors of
the Company, such transactions are activities conducted in the ordinary course of business, and the
dealings of the Group have not been significantly or unduly affected by the fact that the Group and
those SOEs are ultimately controlled or owned by the PRC government. The Group has also established
pricing policies for rendered services and such pricing policies do not depend on whether or not the
customers are SOEs.

The Company issued domestic shares of the scheme to several executive directors, non-executive
directors, supervisors and key management personnel on 29 December 2017. The details are as
follows:

Employee stock ownership scheme
Number of Shares

Notes 2024 2023
Executive directors
Mr. Xia Xiujiang (E75)T) (Chief executive) 8(a)i), (i) 620 620
Mr. Li Guoging (ZBE) 8(a)iii) = 1,000
Mr. Wang Hanjun (E£%) 8(a)(ii) 1,000 1,000

1,620 2,620

Non-executive directors
Mr. Li Guoging (Z=BEE) 8(a)(iii) 1,000 -
Key management personnel
Mr. Jin Huai () (i) 750 750
Mr. Wang Liang (£ R) 750 750
Mr. Yu Songwei (THAfE) 750 750
Mr. Xiao Mujun (B 7/KE) (iii) 750 750
Mr. Liu Li (2I37) 750 750
Mr. Xuan Wenchang (ZX &) 750 750
Mr. Ma Haizhi (55/83%) 660 660
Mr. Xu Chengyong (R 7K) 660 660
Mr. Yin Zhiguo (FEE) (iv) 620 620
Mr. Lu Weidong (B#&5) 550 550
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2024

36. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

(a)

In addition to the transactions and balances which are disclosed elsewhere in these consolidated
financial statements, the Group had the following material transactions with related parties during the

years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023: (continued)

Employee stock ownership scheme

Number of Shares

Notes 2024 2023
Mr. Qian Jiawei (83 7%) v) 450 450
Mr. Yang Zhenyu ($5i&k5) (vi) 550 550
Ms. Yang Yongjie (157K2) (vii) 750 -
Mr. Wang Chen (£F) (viri) 550 -
Ms. Shen Jia (JL1E) (ix) 400 -

9,690 7,990

Notes:
(i) Mr. Xia Xiujiang was appointed as a chief executive director of the Company in October 2024.
(ii) Mr. Jin Huai was ceased as a key management of the Company in January 2024.
(iii) Mr. Xiao Mujun was ceased as a key management of the Company in December 2024.
(iv) Mr. Yin Zhiguo was ceased as a key management of the Company in July 2024.
(v) Mr. Qian Jiawei was appointed as a key management of the Company in March 2023.

(vi) Mr. Yang Zhenyu was appointed as a key management of the Company in March 2023.
(vii) Ms. Yang Yongjie was appointed as a key management of the Company in December 2024.
(viii) ~ Mr. Wang Chen was appointed as a key management of the Company in January 2024.

(ix) Ms. Shen Jia was appointed as a key management of the Company in January 2024.



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2024

36. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

(b)

In the opinion of the Directors, the related party transactions below shall also constitute continuing
connected transactions under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules:

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB'000
Design, survey and consultancy services provided to:
Beneficial Shareholders and their affiliates 452,112 379,877
Fellow subsidiaries 68,964 76,449
BUCG 60,022 56,183
Associates of BUCG 13,917 28,996
Joint ventures of BUCG 698 455
595,713 541,960
Construction contracting services provided to:
Beneficial Shareholders and their affiliates 1,434,369 1,793,326
BUCG 26,548 125,020
Joint ventures of BUCG 513 -
Fellow subsidiaries 36,734 1,064
1,498,164 1,919,410
Construction contracting services provided by:
Fellow subsidiaries 374,891 75,284
Beneficial Shareholders and their affiliates - 29,277
374,891 104,561
Design, survey and consultancy services provided by:
Fellow subsidiaries 5,297 783
Beneficial Shareholders and their affiliates 393 1,808
5,690 2,591
Rental expenses and property management fees paid or
payable to:
Fellow subsidiaries 10,946 14,704
BUCG 2,440 5,408
Beneficial shareholders 6,926 1,800
20,312 21,912
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2024

36.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

(c)

(d)

(e)

Outstanding balances with related parties
Details of the outstanding balances with related parties are set out in notes 22, 23, 24, 26, 27 and 28
to the financial statements.

Compensation of key management personnel of the Group

Details of the directors’ and the supervisors’ emoluments are included in note 8 to the financial
statements. Compensation of key management personnel of the Group excluded directors and the
supervisors are set out as follows:

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

Short term employee benefits 12,136 12,208
Pension scheme 1,475 1,303
13,611 13,511

Commitments with related parties
As at 31 December 2024, the Group entered into several construction contracts and service contracts
with related parties. The material commitments are as follows:

Pursuant to certain construction contracts signed by the Company and Beneficial Shareholders and
their affiliates, fellow subsidiaries, BUCG and a joint venture, the Company was engaged in the
building of certain subways and the backlog as at 31 December 2024 amounting to RMB5,550 million
(2023: RMB5,295 million).

Pursuant to certain design service contracts signed by the Company and certain Beneficial Shareholders
and their affiliates, fellow subsidiaries, associates of BUCG, BUCG and a joint venture, the Company
was engaged in the design of certain subways and industrial and civil construction and municipal
engineering, and the backlog as at 31 December 2024 amounting to RMB2,520 million (2023:
RMB2,796 million).

Pursuant to certain construction contracts signed by the Company and fellow subsidiaries and
associates of BUCG, the Company was engaged in the purchase of construction contracting services,
and the backlog as at 31 December 2024 amounting to RMB151 million (2023: RMB 150 million).



37.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2024

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial instruments as at the end of the reporting period

are as follows:

2024
RMB'000
Financial assets
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss:
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 5,178
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income:
Equity investments designated at fair value through other comprehensive income 227,796
Financial assets at amortised cost:
Trade and bills receivables 4,049,811
Financial assets included in prepayments, other receivables and other assets 241,988
Pledged deposits 112,663
Cash and bank balances 3,043,846
7,681,282
Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities at amortised cost:
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings 6,618,837
Trade and bills payables 5,587,026
Financial liabilities included in other payables and accruals 318,302
12,524,165
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2024

37.

38.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY (CONTINUED)

2023
RMB'000
Financial assets
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss:
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 8,388
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income:
Equity investments designated at fair value through other comprehensive income 202,357
Financial assets at amortised cost:
Trade and bills receivables 4,500,516
Financial assets included in prepayments, other receivables and other assets 253,447
Pledged deposits 99,941
Cash and bank balances 3,309,696
8,374,345
Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities at amortised cost:
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings 6,913,949
Trade and bills payables 5,913,938
Financial liabilities included in other payables and accruals 329,695
13,157,582

FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(i) Financial assets and financial liabilities that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis
Fair value hierarchy
The following table presents the fair value of the Group’s financial instruments measured at the end
of the reporting period on a recurring basis, categorised into the three-level fair value hierarchy as
defined in IFRS 13 Fair value measurement. The level into which a fair value measurement is classified
is determined with reference to the observability and significance of the inputs used in the valuation
technique as follows:

o Level 1 valuations: Fair value measured using only Level 1 inputs i.e. unadjusted quoted prices in
active markets for identical assets or liabilities at the measurement date.

o Level 2 valuations: Fair value measured using Level 2 inputs i.e. observable inputs which fail to
meet Level 1, and not using significant unobservable inputs. Unobservable inputs are inputs for

which market data are not available.

o Level 3 valuations: Fair value measured using significant unobservable inputs.



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2024

38. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(CONTINUED)

()

Financial assets and financial liabilities that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis
(continued)

Fair value hierarchy (continued)

The Group has a team headed by the finance manager performing valuations for the financial
instruments, including financial assets at FVTPL and equity investments designated at FVTOCI which
are categorized into Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy. The team reports directly to the chief financial
officer and the audit committee. A valuation report with analysis of changes in fair value measurement
is prepared by the team at each interim and annual reporting date and is reviewed and approved by
the chief financial officer. Discussion of the valuation process and results with the chief financial officer
and the audit committee is held to coincide with the reporting dates twice a year.

Fair value at Fair value measurements as at
31 December 31 December 2024 categorized into
2024 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB‘000
Recurring fair value measurements
Financial assets at FVTPL
— listed equity investment 5,178 5,178 - -
Equity investments designated at FVTOCI
— unlisted equity investment 227,796 - - 227,796
Total 232,974 5,178 - 227,796
Fair value at Fair value measurements as at
31 December 31 December 2023 categorized into
2023 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’'000 RMB'000
Recurring fair value measurements
Financial assets at FVTPL
— listed equity investment 8,388 8,388 - -
Equity investments designated at FVTOCI
— unlisted equity investment 202,357 - - 202,357
Total 210,745 8,388 - 202,357

During the year ended 31 December 2023, except for RMB8,794,000 of the equity security were
transfer from Level 3 to Level 1, there were no other transfers between Level 1 and Level 2, or
transfers into or out of Level 3. During the year ended 31 December 2024, there were no other
transfers between Level 1 and Level 2, or transfers into or out of Level 3. The Group’s policy is to
recognise transfers between levels of fair value hierarchy as at the end of the reporting period in which
they occur.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2024

38. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(CONTINUED)

()

Financial assets and financial liabilities that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis

(continued)
Information about Level 3 fair value measurements

Relationship of

Fair value Significant unobservable input ~ unobservable inputs to
As at 31 December Valuation As at 31 December fair value
Description 2024 2023 techniques 2024 2023
RMB'000 RMB'000
Unlisted equity
securities
BUCZT 222,575 191,723 Market Price-to-hook Price-to-book 5% increase/decrease
comparison value (“P/B") value (“P/B") in P/B would result in
3.05 3.42 decrease/increase in
fair value of
RMB11,948,000
(2023: RMBY,584,000)
Others 5,221 10,634 Adjusted net Fair value of Fair value of  An increase in the fair
assets assets and assets and value of assets of the
liabilities of liabilities of investee would result
the investee the investee in an increase in the
fair value measurement
of the unlisted equity
security, and vice versa.
An increase in the fair
value of liability of the
investee would result
in a decrease in the
fair value measurement
of the unlisted equity
security, and vice versa.
227,796 202,357

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the fair value of equity investment in BUCZT has been arrived with
reference to a valuation carried out on 31 December 2024 and 2023 by dt R KFELEFEHERES
f£/2 7], an independent professional valuer not connected with the Group, using market comparison

method with adjustments. The fair value of the remaining equity investments designated at FVTOCI

were determined by management with reference to the net assets of the investee.



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2024

38. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(CONTINUED)

()

(i)

Financial assets and financial liabilities that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis
(continued)

Information about Level 3 fair value measurements (continued)

The movements during the year in the balance of these Level 3 fair value measurements are as follows:

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB'000
Equity investments designated at FVTPL
— unlisted equity investment
At 1 January = 8,794
Transferred from level 3 to level 1 - (8,794)
At 31 December - -
Equity investments designated at FVTOCI
- unlisted equity investment
At 1 January 202,357 15,121
Additions - 188,461
Disposals = (5,094)
Change in fair value recognised in other comprehensive
income for the year 25,439 3,869
At 31 December 227,796 202,357
227,796 202,357

Financial assets and financial liabilities that are not measured at fair value on a recurring
basis
The directors of the Company consider that the carrying amounts of financial assets and financial
liabilities recorded at amortised cost in the consolidated financial statements approximate their fair
values.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2024

39.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBIJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group's principal financial instruments comprise cash and bank balances, pledged deposits and interest —
bearing bank and other borrowings. The main purpose of these financial instruments is to support the Group's
operations. The Group has various other financial assets and liabilities such as trade and bills receivables and
trade and bills payables which arise directly from its operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are interest rate risk, foreign currency risk, credit
risk and liquidity risk. Generally, the senior management of the Company meets regularly to analyse and
formulate measures to manage the Group's exposure to these risks. In addition, the board of directors of the
Company holds meetings regularly to analyses and approve the proposals made by the senior management of
the Company. Generally, the Group introduces conservative strategies on its risk management. As the Group’s
exposure to these risks is kept to @ minimum, the Group has not used any derivatives and other instruments
for hedging purposes. The Group does not hold or issue derivative financial instruments for trading purposes.
The board of directors reviews and agrees policies for managing each of these risks and they are summarised
below.

(a) Interest rate risk

The Group's exposure to the risk of changes in market interest rates relates primarily to the Group's
long term debt obligations with a floating interest rate.

The Group regularly reviews and monitors the floating interest rate borrowings in order to manage its
interest rate risk. The Group's interest-bearing bank and other borrowings, pledged deposits and cash
and cash equivalents are stated at amortised cost and not revalued on a periodic basis. Floating rate
interest expenses are charged to profit or loss as incurred.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in interest rates, with
all other variables held constant, of the Group's profit before tax (through the impact on variable-rate
borrowings).

Increase/
(decrease) in Increase/(decrease)
basis points in profit before tax
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB'000
Market interest rates 1% (45,539) (47,328)
Market interest rates (1%) 45,539 47,328




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2024

39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(b)

Foreign currency risk

Foreign currency risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of
changes in foreign exchange rates. With the majority of the Group's business transacted in RMB, which
is defined as the Group’s functional currency. RMB is not freely convertible into foreign currencies and
the conversion of RMB into foreign currencies is subject to rules and regulations of foreign exchange
control promulgated by the PRC government.

As a result of its significant business operations in Mainland China, the Group’s revenue and expenses
are mainly denominated in RMB and over 99% of the financial assets and liabilities in 2024 and 2023
are denominated in RMB. The effect of the fluctuations in the exchange rates of RMB against foreign
currencies on the Group’s results of operations is therefore minimal and the Group has not entered
into any hedging transactions in order to reduce the Group’s exposure to foreign currency risk in this
regard.

Details of the Group’s cash and bank balances and pledged deposits at the end of the reporting period
are disclosed in note 25 to the financial statements.

Exposure to foreign currencies (expressed in Renminbi)

2024 2023
Us$ HK$ us$ HK$
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
Trade and bills receivables - 526 - 1,193
Cash and cash equivalents 278,722 6,589 262,403 5,910
278,722 7,115 262,403 7,103

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity at the end of the reporting period to a reasonably
possible change in the United States dollars, Hong Kong dollars and RMB exchange rate, with all other
variables held constant, of the Group's profit before tax.

Increase/
(decrease)
in foreign Increase/(decrease)
exchange rate in profit before tax
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB'000
If RMB weakens against the United States dollar 5% 13,936 13,120
If RMB strengthens against the United States dollar (5%) (13,936) (13,120)
If RMB weakens against the Hong Kong dollar 5% 356 361
If RMB strengthens against the Hong Kong
dollar (5%) (356) (361)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2024

39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(b)

(c)

Foreign currency risk (continued)

The sensitivity analysis above has been determined assuming that the change in foreign exchange rates
had occurred at the end of the reporting period and has applied the exposure to foreign currency risk
to bank deposits denominated in United States dollars and Hong Kong dollars in existence at that date.

Credit risk

The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy customers with no requirement for collateral.
It is the Group’s policy that all customers who wish to trade on credit terms are subject to credit
verification procedures. In addition, receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis and the
Group's exposure to bad debts is not significant.

Maximum exposure and year-end staging

The tables below show the credit quality and the maximum exposure to credit risk based on the
Group's credit policy, which is mainly based on past due information unless other information is
available without undue cost or effort, and year-end staging classification as at 31 December. The
amounts presented are gross carrying amounts for financial assets and the exposure to credit risk for
the financial guarantee contracts.

As at 31 December 2024

12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3  approach Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

10,436,456 10,436,456
5,229,416 5,229,416

Contract assets = =
Trade and bills receivables* - -
Financial assets included in prepayments,

other receivables and other assets

- Normal** 255,094 14,629 11,960 - 281,683
Pledged deposits
- Not yet past due 112,663 - - - 112,663
Cash and bank balances
- Not yet past due 3,043,846 - - - 3,043,846
3,411,603 14,629 11,960 15,665,872 19,104,064




39.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2024

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(c)

Credit risk (continued)
Maximum exposure and year-end staging (continued)
As at 31 December 2023

12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000

Contract assets - -
Trade and bills receivables* - -
Financial assets included in prepayments,

other receivables and other assets

10,195,216 10,195,216
5,628,554 5,628,554

— Normal** 243,673 27,626 15,354 B 286,653
Pledged deposits
— Not yet past due 99,941 - - - 99,941
Cash and bank balances
— Not yet past due 3,309,696 - - - 3,309,696
3,653,310 27,626 15,354 15,823,770 19,520,060
* For contract assets and trade and bills receivables to which the Group applies the simplified approach for

impairment, information based on the provision matrix is disclosed in notes 22 and 23 to the financial
statements, respectively.

b The credit quality of the financial assets included in prepayments, other receivables and other assets is
considered to be “normal” when they are not past due and there is no information indicating that the
financial assets had a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition. Otherwise, the credit quality
of the financial assets is considered to be “doubtful”.

***  The credit risks on pledged deposits and bank balances are limited because the counterparties are banks/
financial institutions with high credit ratings assigned by international credit-rating agencies.

As at 31 December 2024, the financial assets classified to stage 3 of lifetime ECLs are other receivables
with a gross carrying amount of approximately RMB11,960,000 (2023: RMB15,354,000). As the
financial assets were fully impaired, the net carrying amount is nil.

As the Group’s major customers are either PRC government agencies at the national, provincial
and local levels or other State-owned enterprises, the Group believes that they are reliable and of
high credit quality and hence, there is no significant credit risk with these customers. The senior
management of the Company keeps reviewing and assessing the creditworthiness of the Group’s
existing customers on an ongoing basis.

Concentrations of credit risk are managed by customer and by geographical region. There are no
significant concentrations of credit risk within the Group as the customer bases of Group’s trade
receivables are widely dispersed in different regions.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2024

39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(d) Liquidity risk
The liquidity of the Group is primarily dependent on its ability to maintain adequate cash inflows from
operations to meet its debt obligations as they fall due, and its ability to obtain external financing to
meet its committed future capital expenditure.

The maturity profile of the Group's financial liabilities as at the end of the reporting period, based on
the contractual undiscounted payments, is as follows:

d3LINMN 0D dNOYD ININKOTIAIA B NDISIA NOILDNYLSNOD NvEdN ONIf3d

Total
Between Between contractual Total
Within 1 and 2 and Over 5 undiscounted carrying
1 year 2 years 5 years years cash flow amount
RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
31 December 2024
Interest-bearing bank and
other borrowings 1,599,023 450,593 2,464,499 2,104,722 6,618,837 6,618,837
Interest payments on bank and
other borrowings 198,396 186,176 463,597 920,498 1,768,667 -
Trade and bills payables 5,587,026 - - - 5,587,026 5,587,026
Financial liabilities included in
other payables and accruals 314,148 4,154 - - 318,302 318,302

7,698,593 640,923 2,928,096 3,025,220 14,292,832 12,524,165

31 December 2023

Interest-bearing bank and

> other borrowings 2,206,129 312,593 2,102,499 2,292,728 6,913,949 6,913,949
% Interest payments on bank and

& other borrowings 217,104 231,650 552,415 1,325,184 2,326,353 -
E Trade and bills payables 5,913,938 - - - 5,913,938 5,913,938
% Financial liabilities included in

§ other payables and accruals 321,413 8,282 - - 329,695 329,695
N

8,658,584 552,525 2,654,914 3,617,912 15,483,935 13,157,582
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39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(e)

Capital management

The Group’s primary objective for managing capital is to safeguard the Group's ability to continue
as a going concern, so that it can continue to provide returns to shareholders and benefits to other
stakeholders, by pricing services commensurately with the level of risk.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it in the light of changes in
economic conditions and the risk characteristics of the underlying assets. In order to maintain or adjust
the capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, return
capital to shareholders or sell assets to reduce debts. No change was made in the objectives, policies or
processes for managing capital during the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is net debt divided by capital plus net debt.
Net debt includes interest-bearing bank and other borrowings, trade and bills payables, financial
liabilities included in other payables and accruals, less cash and bank balances and pledged deposits.
Capital includes the equity attributable to owners of the parent and non-controlling interests stated in
the consolidated statement of financial position.

The Group's strategy is to maintain the gearing ratio at a healthy capital level in order to support its
businesses. The principal strategies adopted by the Group include, but are not limited to, reviewing
future cash flow requirements and the ability to meet debt repayment schedules when they fall due,
maintaining a reasonable level of available banking facilities and adjusting investment plans and
financing plans, if necessary, to ensure that the Group has a reasonable level of capital to support its
businesses. The gearing ratios as at the end of reporting periods are as follows:

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB'000

Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings 6,618,837 6,913,949
Trade and bills payables 5,587,026 5,913,938
Financial liabilities included in other payables and accruals 318,302 329,695
Cash and bank balances (3,043,846) (3,309,696)
Pledged deposits (112,663) (99,941)
Net debt 9,367,656 9,747,945
Total equity 7,933,407 7,628,615
Capital and net debt 17,301,063 17,376,560
Gearing ratio 54% 56%
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40.

41.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

As disclosed in note 10 to the consolidated financial statements, the directors proposed on 26 March 2025 a
final dividend of RMBO0.1077 per share in respect of the year ended 31 December 2024. The proposed final
dividend is subject to the approval of the Company’s shareholders at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY

Information about the statement of financial position of the Company at the end of the reporting period is as
follows:

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB'000
NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Property, plant and equipment 1,298,036 1,114,546
Right-of-use assets 365,632 409,726
Intangible assets 4,474 6,647
Investments in subsidiaries 2,168,120 2,160,838
Investments in joint ventures 2,121,178 2,201,981
Investments in associates 847,951 606,281
Equity investments designated at fair value through other
comprehensive income 225,886 198,733
Deferred tax assets 210,277 182,709
Prepayments, other receivables and other assets 3,557 42,513
Total non-current assets 7,245,111 6,923,974
CURRENT ASSETS
Inventories 48,576 38,783
Trade and bills receivables 2,111,122 2,514,160
Prepayments, other receivables and other assets 676,849 843,780
Contract assets 3,077,552 2,933,568
Pledged deposits 34,170 23,801
Cash and bank balances 1,543,309 2,071,210
Total current assets 7,491,578 8,425,302
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2024

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY (CONTINUED)

Information about the statement of financial position of the Company at the end of the reporting period is as
follows: (continued)

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’'000
CURRENT LIABILITIES
Trade and bills payables 3,281,694 3,853,084
Other payables and accruals 2,988,804 3,017,569
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings 865,150 1,348,275
Provisions for supplementary retirement benefits 3,040 3,100
Tax payable 17,616 70,306
Provision 6,541 5,115
Total current liabilities 7,162,845 8,297,449
NET CURRENT ASSETS 328,733 127,853
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES 7,573,844 7,051,827
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings 634,155 180,190
Provisions for supplementary retirement benefits 57,075 54,631
Other payables and accruals 3,664 4,726
Total non-current liabilities 694,894 239,547
Net assets 6,878,950 6,812,280
EQUITY
Share capital 1,348,670 1,348,670
Reserves (note) 5,530,280 5,463,610
Total equity 6,878,950 6,812,280
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41.

42.

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY (CONTINUED)

Note:

A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows:

Statutory
Capital surplus Special Retained

reserve reserve reserve profits Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

As at 1 January 2023 703,496 555,449 - 3,629,461 4,888,406
Profit for the year - - - 832,863 832,863
Other comprehensive income (1,681) - - - (1,681)
Total comprehensive income for the year (1,681) - - 832,863 831,182
Final 2022 dividend declared - - - (255,978) (255,978)
Appropriation to statutory surplus reserve = 83,286 = (83,286) =
Transfer to special reserve - - 76,105 (76,105) -
Utilisation of special reserve - - (76,105) 76,105 -
At 31 December 2023 701,815 638,735 - 4,123,060 5,463,610
Profit for the year - - - 284,067 284,067
Other comprehensive income 15,115 - - - 15,115
Total comprehensive income for the year 15,115 - - 284,067 299,182
Final 2023 dividend declared - - - (232,512) (232,512)
Appropriation to statutory surplus reserve - 28,406 (28,406) -
Transfer to special reserve - - 61,189 (61,189) -
Utilisation of special reserve - - (61,189) 61,189 -
At 31 December 2024 716,930 667,141 - 4,146,209 5,530,280

APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 26 March 2025.
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